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INTRODUCTION.

• •

In prosenting the present edilion to t.ho public, tho an·
thor feels it incumbent npon him to give tbo renSon!
which influenced him in this undcrt~king. The sad ca·
tnstropho narrated in these pages took place upwards of
twenty years ago, and, notwithstanding the \"crdict of
unbiased public opinion-anor a thorough examination
into tbe causos of the catastrophe-fully acquitted the
Catl.lOlic missionaries from every shadow of culp3bility
Bought to be cast upon them tbrongh bigotrJ and prcju.
dice, yet men I professing tbe purest principles of Christ·
ian charity, are still found, whose only :lim seems to be·
the achie'\ement of an uncll'\""iable notoriety, through the
fabrication of falsehood and the circulation of If facts,"
founded upon fiction.

To counteract, in a mensure, tho malicious machina­
tions of stIcb misguided men~ n series of articles were
published during the yenr 1853, in the New York Free­
man's Journal, and were afterwards issued in pamphlet
form. The circulntion of tbe!e documents served to al·
lay for several years the excitement whid.lcrror inevita·

•
bly creates wbere truth is unknown.

The first edition of this pamphlet, written in 1848 Rnd
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issued in 18"53, has bec.orne exhausted; Borne of "tbe prio.
cipal witnesses of tbe I ndian massacre at Dr. Whitm::m'a
station have left the country .i many of them are dead
-a Dew community has sprung up in the bnd. Still
thero are found those amongst us whose prejudices,
even at this remote day, are 80 strong as not to yield bc~

fore the penetrating rays of truth j whosc minds will
not be satisfied with tbe unchangeable and irrefutable
evidence of disinterested witncASCS, and whoso spleen
against the Catholic churcb, and all that pertains to bel'
creed, her pastors and her people. finds vent in the shape
of U resolutions" without reason,* paragraph..C! without
point, and anonymous newspaper articles without re­
spODsibility.

It being not only impracticable, bnt distasteful: to tho
author to unuertake the task of replying t<> tbe open or
cO'Vort attacks thus made upon questions of veracity long
since settled, bo bas included in tho present work all the
evidence rclnti,c to tbe massacre of Dr. Whitman and
others, by tlio Cayuse Indians, puLlislH.'u. in hie former
pamphlet, together witlJ an uppcudix, wherein will bo
found additiona,l irrefutable c\'ic1cllce which bas since

emanated from SOHrcc~ beyond the ~\lspicion of partial*
ity, some of wLieh we deem worthy of special reference.

The Hev. Gustavus Hines, D. D., (extracts from whose
History of Ort'goll are gi\cl1 in the appondix) is an in­
fluential minister of tbe Methodist EIJiscopal Church,
n.D~ his C\idCD(,C alone, aside fl'oD) the tcstimony adduced
from numerous other equally reliable sources, should
bring co~viction to the minds of all impartial men, wbo
desire to learn tbe truth of history. Dr. Hines' work
was first issued in 1850, three years after the lament~.

•

• S£'e resolutions tuluptcd b.y Congregational Association of Oregon,
July. 1869.
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bIe tragedy at Dr. Whitman's mission; the work has
passed through seveml editions, finding its way into ev­
ery State io the Union, and the author, encouraged Ly
the Sl1ccess which. was justly accorded his first effort,
has issued a recent work upon the Institutions of Ore·
gOD, yet the truths he published in 1850 havE»'stood un­
challenged for nearly twenty years, showing the remote
causes which led to the massacrc of so many inDocent
people, and c:lc:uoI.r exonerAting the Catholic missiona­
ries from the foul charge sought to be fastened on them.

The letter of Sir James Douglas, Chief Foetor of the
Hudsou's Bar Co., (who was residing at Vancouver at
the time of the massacre at Dr. Whitman's station, and
who npon learning the sad news i~":lcdintely disp:~tehed

a large force of their employes, under cbarge of Peter
Skeen Ogden, to the scone, for the purpose of prevent­
ing further atrocities) will also be found in tbe appendix.
The opinions so strongly expressed in tlJis letter wero
based upon information reccived from Mr. Ogden, Mr.
)lcBean, clerk at .Fort Walla Walla, (the nearest post
to tbe scene of the murder) and otber reliable gentlemen
attached to the Hudson's nay Company. It is therefore
strictly impartial, detailing tbe circumstanees ,yhi(~h led
to tho sad catastrophe in plain, unvarnished language,
and expressing, tho united opinions of men well qualified
by education and years of experience, to judgo tbe Indi­
an character.

The evidence ndduced by these nQd other disinterested
witnesses, together with the fncts reitcl'ated from the
former publicath)Il, cannot fail of bringing conviction to
every candid mind, that the murder of Dr. Whitman
and his associates was premeditated, matured and deter­
mined upon by the evil.disposed Indians among the Cay.
use nntion, long before the arrival of the Bishop of
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Walla. Walla and his missionaries. In proof of this 8S·

sertioD, we need only recur to the files of the "Oregon,
American and Evangelical U nioni8t," a periodical issued
during 1848, at Tualatin Plains, ill Washington county,
and edited by Rev. J. S. Griffin. In the fourth number
of t.is periodical we find over the signaturo of Rev H. H.
Spalding nn article from which we learn the fnet that a
Nez Perces Indian inquired of him prior to tho massacre
if Dr. Whitman was not killed; but littlo attention was
paid to the question i Mr. Spalding, however, mentioned
the matter to Dr. Whitman, Mr. Kimble, and otbers at
the station. "We considered it a reiteration of what had
been said for a long time-a ball .can penetrate your
body. * * * * The Doctor in one of bis
visits had diecovercd Tamahl1s (cnllid the murderer from
having killed so\'eral Indians) wbo bad just before lost
his wife, nnd who was tho person that afterwards, with
two blows upon the hend laid our lamented brother
bleeding senseless, but not lifeless, upon the floor) in
rather a sUBpiciou~ ,.ttitude. From that time the Doctor
had been cautious. But tbere were no inflammatory
meetings among the cbiefs, as there had often been. For
instance, when they returned from California, two years
ago, after the death of the Walla Walla Chiof, several
meetings were hold to consider whether Dr. Whitman,
myself or some other Americn.n teacher should be killed
as a sot off for Elijah."

It must also bo borno in mind that on several occa­
sions previous to the massacre, the Cayuse Indians had
made assaults upon and threats against the missionary
Rtation at 'Vailatpu, nod the ferocity of the character
of the Cayuses is clearly c~tnbliibed by Sir James Doug­
las, who knew them well: dud who declares tbem to be
"the mOBt treacherous and intractible of all the Indian
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tribes in this country, and who had on many former 00­

CAsions alarmed the inmates of the mission by their tu­
multuous proceedings nnd ferocious threats."

In order to show more fully tbe precarious position
occupied by tbe white settlers in Oregon, previous to tho
year of the Whitman massacre, we insert an extract
from the message of GovernOl' George Abernethy to the
Legislative Assembly of Oregon Territory, convened at
Oregon Cit.y, December, 1847 :

" Our relations with the Indians becomcs every year
more embarrassing. They sec the white man occupying
their land, ra.pidly filling up the country, nnd they put.
in a claim for pay. They have been told that a chief
would come out from tbe United States, and trcat with
them for their lands; they have been told this so often
that they begin to doubt the truth of it; at all events,
they say, 'he will not como until we nre all dead, llnd
then what good will blankets do us? \Vo want some­
thing now.' This leads to trouble between tho sottler
and the Indians about him. Some plan should be de­
vised by which a fund Can be raised, and presents made
to the Indians of Aufficient valuc to keep them quiet un­
til an agent arrives from the Fnited States."

..::.ven as early as 1835, some of the missionaries settled
in Orogon and engaged in civilizing the Indians, were in
dangor of being murdered in conscqueoce of tho death
of one of the Indian children attending school. The
circumstanccs wero as follo\\'8: II A boy whose name
was Ken.o.teesh, belonging to tho Si.Ie-lah tribo} was ro­
ceived into the mission in April, and died on tne 19th of
the following August. A few days after, his hrother de­
termined to seek revengo for the death of Ken.o.teesh,
by taking tbe lifo of Daniel Lee and Cyrus Shepard."*

-Hines' Hietory of Orcgun, p. 14.
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This fact illustrates the Iudian creed of U life for life,"
and proves that it required no II prie~tly" influences to
urge them 00 to murder, inQ.smnch as no Catholic mis­
sionaries had then arrived in the Willamette valley.

Again, in 1836, Wc-Iap-tn-Iekt, an Indian of tbe Cay­
use tribet went to the Willamette mission, where he
placed bis two 80ns, desiring to have them educated.
He bad tra~elcd with tbe missionaries, and desired them
to Bettie in his country, but they not acceding to bis rc­
qUOit, be determined npon bringing his fnmily from east
of tbo Cascades to tbe 'Villnmcttc mission. This be ao·
complisbcd early in Scptembor, 1836. Some of bis cbil­
dren attended school, Bud appeared to be making rapid
progress; but in February, 1837, his family began to
Buffer with disease. Two of his children died in quick
succession, and a third wali fast sinking with tl. burning
fever. Wc-Iap-tu-Iekt was frightened) and supposed that
all his children would die, if bo did not leave the place_
He accordingly fled in a canoe; but just :loS he landed :lot
Fort V:mcou\"er, on his way to his mountain home, an­
other of bis children died. U Thefie repeated dcat.bs in
one family," remarks Rev. Mr. Hines) from whoae histo­
ry of Oregon we glean these facts," and the f~ct that
most of the mission children were sick, and some bad
died but recently, begnn to creAte a prejudice in the
minds of the Indians ngninst hnl'"ing their children ro­
main with the mission, nnd after this it was not so easy
to procure and retnin them."·

So that as enrly as 1886, elo\oo years before the mas­
snore, a prejudice was created in the minds of tbe Indi­
ans llgninAt t1\0 American missonnries, and that, too,
among the v·ery tribe that afterwards committed the
brutal murdor8. Of cour8e, tho fact of children dying

tTbe same tribe tbllt murJered Dr. Wbitman.
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natural deaths could hRYO DO ,veight in forming opinious
in the minds of intelligent, civilized men, but, with poor
untutored savages, who could see no tangible cause for
such unprecedented mortality, among their children,
particularly when placed under the care of white roeD,
the CRse was entirely altered, and in the terrible revenge
which tbey afterwards perpetrated upon the 'Vhitman
station, they doubtless sought to a'\cnge the deaths of
all their kindred and children wbo had perished, as tbO)T
imaginod, through the instrumentality of the whitos,durT
ing long years of association.

Again, in 1838, we are told by the J{~v. DI". Uincs that
•. A fearful mortality" raged among the chiluren that at­
tended the Methodist mission school. About one-third
of flU the children tha.t hn.d been received had died-a,

ratio of mortality that wa..s almost unprecedented in tbe
annals of any country undergoing the change from bal"
bal'ism to cidlization.

Still again in 1842,1\ fatal disease carried away many
of the children, others ran away, and some were stolon
by their parents, until but few were left, and theBe with·
ering under tbe influence of the fatal scrofula.

Finally, we find that jn ] 8-l~, the lodin-ns, not only of
the Willamette valley, but those of Eastern Oregon,
were seriously disaffoctcd towards the whites. Mr.
Hines, treating on this subject, sayr:;:

(l About tbis time the Indians became quite t~ouble.

some in V:lriOU8 parts of the country. At Wailatpu" on
the Walla 'Valla river, where a missionary etation had
beon establisbed by Dr, Mal'cns WhiLman, tbey took ad­
vantage of the Doctor's absence and broke into the house
in the dead of night, and e'\en into the bcd-chamber of
Mrs. Whitman) who, with much difficulty, eecaped from
their bands."
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The reader will hear in mind that this outrage UpOD

Mrs. Whitman was perpetrated by the Cayuse Indians,
nearly fOUT yeaTs previous to the arrival of Bishop Blao·
chet, the author, and the otber Catholic missionaries at
Fort Walla Walla.

Sucb experience as illustrated in tho foregoing ca·
lamities was Dot calculated to awaken a very warm 10.0
for American miBsiooarics in the breasts of savages who
came for the first time in contact with wbite men, and
found in such union almost cerlrliLin death to their
children.

True, all the Indian children who died thl'ougb tho,
"fearful mortaliry" which raged in the Willametto mie·
sion Bchool were )oot of the Cayuse nation j but these
deatbs, taken in coDncction with Lbe" fearful mortality ,­
which subseqnontly caYried ofT whole trihcs of Indians
east of the Cascade mount.ains, had doubtlcss created
prejadices in the minds of thc Cayuse and other Indiau
tribes which were immcasurabk uofavorable to the
American missionaries. It will be bornc in mind that
the Cayuscs, allied with other tribes, threatened t.he de­
struction of the whites prior to 18-:1:2. Again in that
year they threatened to massa('re the whiles settled in
Oregon in consequence of suspicions which were im·
planted in the minds of the Indians that the whites de­
signed Il to destroy them and takc possession of their
country." The arrival of a large party Qf emigrants
about tbis time, and the sudden (jepor'lurD of Dr. 'Vhit·
man for tho United States, with thl"' avowed intention of
bringing back with bim as many as he could enlist for
Oregon, served to bastoD thom to the abovo conclusion.
Thus the Indians saw in Dr. Whitman the cbiof cause of
briDging so many whitos into their ('ountry, for the pur­
pose, 8S they imagined, of destroying their liberties and
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,heir Ii....; and of occupying their laud., and this con·
viction in their minds, It strong as holy writ," led them.
in conjunction with other causes, real and imaginary.
W perpetrate a foul murder, that feU with double force
upon the hearts of the Catholic missionaries, from the
fact not only of tbe horror it created in their minds, the
IOs8 of their property, which tbe Indians burned when
theyabandonod their mission, but it also endangered
their own lives, and was the cause fllr many yeurs of
preventing the Catholic missionaries from planting the
standard of the cross among other Indians adjacent to
the Cayuso natioo, who passcd away in the same pagan­
ism in which they lived, io CQllscqucllce of no Catholic
missionaries being amongst them.

A charge has also been brought against the Catholic
missionaries that they carried arms and amullition to
hostile Indian bands. This is not only untruc, but the
charge is prompted through the basest feelings of
malice, and made with the hopc of prejudicing the Cath­
olic cause. The facts in the case are simply theBe: The
Catholic missionaries who bad established themselves
among the Flat-head!:;, pour-de.alenc~ and other Indians
of the mountains, were annually in the habit of visiting
the settlements for the purpose of laying in their sup­
plies for the ensuing year. Among the mOre necessary
p.rtieles indispensible to thosc who live in tho region of
the Rocky :h-Iountains, is !lowder and l:)hot, to be used in
procw'ing game during tbe long and dreary winter re­
gions where they have to live sometimes six months in
succession upon venison or other game. The Indians
have, since 1840, been well supplied with arms; but
their supplies of amunition would become exhausted,
and it became a question of life and death-not only to
tbe missionar.r himself! but also to th08e with whom he



12 THE WHITMAN MASSACRE.

•
resided, and aU t~e Indians in bis vicinity-whether he
returned from bis annual trip with or without amu­
nition. go great WaR the necessity for amunitioD .among
the Indians, and 80 well were their necessities in this re­
spect understood by the ~al'ly settlers in Oregon, that
Governor Abernethy-in.his message to the Legislative
Assembly which convened early in 1849-asked the.
I.Jcgislature to repeal an act which had been passed
at a previous session, forbiding persons selling Or can·
veying arms and amunition to lndians, and gave as
his motive for this request the following cogent reasons:
U As many of the Indians live by hunting, and a small
quantity of powder and lead is actually necessary to
provide for their w:lnts, I think the law should be mod­
ified so as to permit the sale of powder and lead to
friendly Indians," It was for this purpose-and this
alone-that the Catholic missionaries included powder
and lead in their annual supplies-but these supplies
were intended for their own peacenble Indians-as DO

Catholic missionlu',Y-undcl' nny {'il'cumstance ever COD­

veyed munitions of wur to hostile bands of Indians at
war with American settlers UPOI~ Amel'ican soiL This,
I hope, finally disposes of this slander which the enemie8
of Catholicity Lave for years roiled under their tongue!
::LS a c; sweet morseL"

Finally, tbis unfortunate massacre stands in tbe rec·
ords of history as another evidence of the unstability
of the Indian character, C'specinlly when opera.ted upon
by superstitious fears arising from the conviction among
the Indians tbat their country, their property, and their
very existence even, was endangered by the influx of
Americans, It is characteristic of Indian justice to con­
sider as forfeited the life of the Doctor or l( Medicine
Man" who fails to effect a. cure, or whose patient dies
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whilst under his treatment. In this connection it will
be borne in mind that the wife of Tamahas (the mur·
derer) who killed Dr. Whitman, died whilst under the
Doctor's treatment a short time previous to the massaCTe,
nnd further, it if' an cRlablished fact that Dr. Whitman
had discoverod Tamahas in a. suspicious attitude, a few
weeks anterior to his death. Tbestl 'facts estaIJli8b a
predetermination On the part of Tumahas and his accom·
plices in his murdcrou~work, and were doubtless among
the principal causes which led to the horrible but.chery
whieh followed.

Tho candid reader will also bear in mind that of all
the Indians who imbrllCd their hand~ in the innocent
blOod of the Presbyterian missionaries, not one among
them professed the Catholic faith, and in order to exhibit
tbe character of the Cayuse IndianA, we need only refer
to the opinion cX!Jrcs:.;cd by n correspondent of the
Oregon Amcrican, who says:

(, The Cayuses had become a praying people. In
almost every lodge the family ultar was crected. No
doubt on the morning of tho lJloody 2!ltL the murderers
were scrupulous to OU.SCI'VC their morning dcvotiollS­
tLgain at evening, while the dead bodies of the slain la}
ullburied, the food of the fowls of heaven :lnd the beasts
of the earth. One of the netors of this horrible scone
was a member of our church, and while be held chie of
the captives as hii wife, tile sport of his brutal passions.
he ,ms careful to have mOI'oing and evoning prayer,
and to read So portion of the scripture from his book
which we printed while he was in our school at Clear
water."*

Taking these facts, in connection with other equally

.A mislionary ltation among the Nc); Percel near the prelent site of
Fert Lapwai, Idaho, and under charge of Mr. Spalding.

2
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important and convincing evidence, no impartial mind
can be warped into tho conclusion that the Ca.tholic rois·
sionarics were in the remotest degree: rOilpoDsible for the
.atrocities at Dr. Whitman's mission. Aside from tbo
horror which pervades tho mind of c\Tcry ohristian
when contemplating the horrible sacrifice of human lifo,
the natural current of events even, preclude the possi.
bility of any collusion betweon missionaries of one faith,
and Indians of another. The Catholic missiona.ries had
novel' interfered with the Cayuse Indians under charge
of Dr. Whitman and his associates. They could have no
pOBSible influence over them, either through spiritual
advice or temporal friendship. Bishop Blanchet and tho
other Catholic missionaries arrived at Fort Walla Walla,
in September, 18·17, where they remained until the 28th,
of November, at which time they opcned their first mis-
sion among the Umatilla Iudians (not one of wbom was
concerned in the murder) at a distanco of twenty-five,

miles from Dr. Whitman's stntion. At a coultcil of the
Chiefs of Indian tribes located along thc banks of the
Columbia between the Dalles and Walla IValia, called
for the purpose of ascertaining the wishes of the several
chiefs relative to having Catholic missionaries among
them, Bishop Blauchet had peremptorily refused the
offer of Bomo of the Cayuse Chiefs to dispossess Dr.
WhitVlsn. At 8 subsequent period, the writer reiterated
to Tilokatkt (one of the chiefs of the Cayuse nation, who
had tendered the mission lands) the refusal of the
Bishop, and again rejected the oWer. In order to Bet
this matter visibly at rest, the writer proceeded at
once to the camp of the yonng Chief (a Caynse In·'
dian who had been converted and who for several
years had been expecting Catholic missionariee) end
tbere entered upon bis missionary labors, occupying a
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house that had h••n er••tell for lh. Young Chief, who
gave the missionaries the use of it. Thus it will be .per~

ceiv.ed that the Catholic mission was located many miles
from Dr. Whitman's mission-among Indians, BOrne of
whom were already Catholics, but not one of whom
was concerned in the massacre. The murder of Dr.
Whitman and his associates occureu on t.he 29th of No_
vember, oue day after the Catholic mission was com­
menced. It may here be reasonably asked: what evil
influence could the Catholic missional'ics-cven if 80

inclined-have exercised over :L tribe of Indians nmong
whom they never resided, and wLose lodges were twen­
ty.five miles distant, to induce them to perpetrate the
foul murder of thirteen innocent people? The answer
is plain-neither time nor circumstances could possibly
permit them to have any influeuce or communicat.ion
with the Indians who committed the massacre. To
think otherwise is not only repugnant to every feeling of
christian charit.y, but of common sense.

With these remarks the author presents tho present
volnme to the reading public, believing that the perusal
of its pages will not only prove interesting to thc gen­
eral reade~o:J.t3.i!)ing us thcr do a t:a-agic chapter in
the early history of this coast, and embracing incidents
of frontier life sufficient to interest the student of his­
tory-but thiB little work may alBo prove its utility hy
dispelling the atmosphere of prejudice into which some
minds may have unthinkingly wandered, and bring
home to their better nature tho pure light of historic
truth.

J. B. A. BROUILLET, V. G.

WALLA WALL.<., AUguBt, 1869.
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A deplorable event signaliscd the autumn of the year
1847 in Oregon, nnd brought consternation to all hearts.
The 29th of Novcmber., Dr. Marcus Whitman, Prosby­
terian missionary among the Cayuses, his wife and eight
other Americans, fell victims to the barbarity of the
Indians, and three otbers shared the snme fatc a few
days afterwards. For a time all the people apprehended
that the fury of the savages would not stop there, but,
that after having made new victims of the women and
children "\"bo remained alive at the station, passing from
tribe to tribe, it would excite suddenly all the neighbor­
ing Indians and bring them at once upon the Willamettc
settlements.

The Catholic Bisbop of Walla Walla and his clergy,
stationed in the neighborhood of the place of the disas­
ter, together with the clerk in charge of Fort Walla
Walla. and somo other persons, wero however so fortun­
ate as to quiet by degrees, througb their influence, their
advice and their repeated solicitations, the fury of the
Indians, and saT'C the lives of the widows and orphans,
nntil Mr. P. S. Ogden, one of the ebief Factors of tbe
Hudson's Bay Company at Fort Vancouver, Came up to
Fort "Talla Walla, and having bought them from the
hands of the Indians, had the consolation and glory of
bringing them down in safety to the Willamette. The
efforts both of the grntIemen of the Hudson's Bay Com­
pany and of tbe clergy, bad also tbe good effect of pre­
venting for a time the Indians from currying their hos­
tilities any farther.
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The causes, both remote and immediate, of the dis­
aster, were clear, and left no doubts in the minds of UD­

prejudiced persons, who knew the history of these COun­
tries, and the dispositions, prejudices, and superstitious
of the Indians. It was evident that the ravages caused
amongst them by the measles and dysentery) together
with false reports and ad~ices of a vagabond who was
in the employ of Dr. 'Vhitman, were the only motives
that urged the Indians to that act of atrocity, inclined
as they werc to believe these reports from the suspicions
:loud dissatisfaction that they hnd been for a long time
cntertainins against DI". Whitman in particular and tbe
A.mericans In general.

.But a certain gentleman, moved on by religious fanat­
icism, and ashamed of owing his Own life and t.hat of his
family and friends to some priests, began to insinuate
false suspicions about tbe truc causes of the disaster­
proceeded by degrcf's to makc more opcn accusations,
and finally declared publicly that the Bishop of Walla
Walla and his clcrgy wcre the first cause and grent
movers of all the evil The geullcmall is the Rev. H. H.
Spalding, whose life had beon saved from the Indians by
a priest at the p<'ril of his own.

His first insinuations werc so malicious and their
meaning so well understood) that Colonel Gilliam and
his troops, about starting for the purpose of chastising
the murderers at Wailatpu: said publicly thnt the priests.
missionaries of the Cayuses, were deserving death, and
that they would shoot or hang tbe first one of them they
should meet. A letter, howeYer, written to Colonel Gil­
liam by t.he Bisbop of 'Valin \\"Talla , nnd some c1t.-plana.­
tions gi,'cn by a pricst to him and to the Commissar:rJ
GeD(>rul J. Pn.hnel', before thoy started for tbe upper
country, l:mtisfied them, ftnd tL", Colonel declared then
that" MI'. Spalding could not have spoken so without
being crazy," llnd Gen. Palmel' said that H he ought not
to be allowed un)' mOre to go among the Indians/' A
relation of the principal circumstances of the awful
deed, which Colonel Gilliam himself had asked of one
of the missionaries of t b(' Cayuses, dissipated completely
his prcjudices u~ainst the priests. and from that momcnt
to his deaLh he (lid not cease to be one of their best and
most sincere friends.
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Hon. P. H. Burnett bcinr:r aware of the different accu­
sations made by Mr. Spalding. in his conversation and
preaching, nnd of the urlln\·orable impressions that they
were pr-oducing upon persons ignorant and already prc·
juuiced, usJ:ed him ill 1848, to give him in writing the
cbarges be had made and the testimony whieh supported
them, in order t.hat he might see what meanS of defence
the acrused could employ.

That demand was followed sometime afterwards by the
publication of a letter from Mr. Spalding and of his
I. Hi~tolT of the· Maosncre at ·""ailatpu" in the Oregon
American. These writings, intermixed with editorial
notes in the same sense, contain lllany grwvious accusa·
tions against the clergy and the Catholies in general.
Mr. Burnett then uegaQ in the Oregon American an
unswer that be int~ndcd to pursuo, whcll the ccssation
of the journal obliged him to sm;;pend it.

JUdging then that it wpuld La to the interest of rclig.
ion that tbe public should be informed of the truth in
that matter, in order to destroy the bad impressions
which such atrocious accusations might have made on
the m.inds of some persolls, I hnye eoosidereu it my duty,
as ll. l)riest, to resume the task of Mr. Burnett and to re·
store the facts which have been misconstrued by Mr.
Spalding and others. Such io the origin and the design
ot tbis writing. It was prepared in tbe rail of 1848, bot
circumstauces did oot allow me to have it published for
the nrat time until the year] 53.

I show fh'st the causes of the massacre of Wailatpu.
I give next a minule jourlJal of the principal events
that occurred in the Walla Walla country from the arri·
,·al of the Bishop and his <;1('1'0')" there until tbo moment
they left that country for the \Villnmctte scttlements, and
r conclude b)" a summa,')" of nil the principal cbarges
made :lgnin~l. the CatlJoliu <:1(,l'g.r by Mr. Spalding, tho
Oregon American, aTld otllCrB, up to tbe mouth of October,
1848, with fin answer to eath of them.

An appendix bas also been added wherein will be
found JDany documents confirmatory of the evidence in-
serted in the body of the work. •
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CHAPTEU I.

The remote and immediate causes which led to the Whit-

man massacre

That events had occurred prior to the arrival of
Bishop Blanchet and the other Catholic missionaries at
Walla Walla in 1848, wbieb ultimately led to tbe unfor.
tunate tragedy at Dr. Whitman's station will appear
evident to every unprejudiced Teader who calmly 000­

fl,ide~ the following farts:-
J. Mr. McKinlay, the iutimate friend of Dr. Whit.

man, had been for foul' or five years in charge of Fort
Walla Walla. During bis stay there, being aware of the
c'\,il dispositions of the Indians towards tho Doctol'~ he
warned him ycry often that he was in danger, that the
Indians hated him, and that be had better go awny.
because he W8!'l afraid they would kill him. After he
left the Fort he did not rense to advise him every year
to leave Wailatpu, telling him that if he pcrsisted in
remaining therc, tbc Indian!:l ","ould ccrtainly kill him
600ner or latcr. .

IT. Some years ago, prior to 1848, Dr. McLaughlin.
then Governor of Fort Vaneou,cr and of all the estab·
lishments of the Hudson's .Bay Company west of the
Rocky Mountains, judging by Bomo difficulties which Dr.
Whitman had with thc Indians, that it was dnngerotts
for him to stay any lon~er amODO' them, \vrote to him to
urge him to leave his mlBRion, at Yeast for some time, and
to come down to the 'Villamette, telling him that he
fcared thc Indians would kill Lim if he should persist in
remninin r, among tbt:'m ullder s,uch circumstnnccs. A
copy of that letter was iusel'tcd in the journal of Fon
Vancouver.

III. Mr. R. Newell-agent .moug tbe Nez Perees
Indians-who lived mnny yenrs with the Nez Perces.
and who had no opportunit)f of knowing the Ca.yuse~

well. often said to Dr. "Tbitman that he ought to leave
Wailatpu, beCjtusc the Indinns bated him and would kill
him. He told mc himself, speaking of Dr. Whitman
aud Mr. Spalding, tbat he was .stonished tbey b.d stood
80 Jong. II Mr. Spalding would ba,c been killed long
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ago, said he, if it had not been for hi6 wife, who was
very much liked by the Indians."

IV. Dr. Bayley, a member of the Legislature of the
Territory, warned in like manner Dr. Whitman, 88 a
friend, to clear away from the Cayuses, because if he
did not they would kill him.

V. Messrs. J. Douglas and P. S. Ogden, both chief
Factors of the Hudson's Bay Company at Fort Van­
couver, together with the most part of Dr. Whitman's
friends, had been for a long time trying every year to
induce him to come down to the Willamctte for his
safety.

·VI. In tbe spring of 1848, Gen. Joel Palmer, the In­
dian Agent and Commissary General for .the troops, and
one of three Commissioners appointed to treat for peace
with the Indians, said in my presencc at Fort Walla
WaUa, that he and the other Commissioners had found
about the Doctor's house many letters which proved that
c'\'en in 1845 he WitS considered as being in danger.

VII. III tl't'atmcnt bad been received at different
times previously by Dr. Whitman, Mr. Spalding, Mr.
Gray and Mr. Smitb, as is evident from the statements
of 1t1essrs. Toupin, Gervais and McKay, that nrc found
in the following paITes.

VIII. Mr. Spalding says ion his writings: "The
months of deep solicitude we had, occasioned by the in­
creasing menacing demands of the Indians for pay. for
their wnter, their wood , their ~ir, their lands We
ha~e beld ourselves ready to lea,c tbe country whenever
the Indians as a body wished it Dr. 'Vbltman twice
dUl"lDg tbe last year called tbc Cayuses together, and
told them if a majority wished he would leave the coun.
try at once Dr. Wbitman beld himself ready to sell
tbe WnilatllU St.ation to the Catholic mission, whenever
a majority of tho Cayuses might wish it When
tbey (tbe Indians) returned from California two yeara
age, after the deatb of tbe son of the Walla Walla cbief,
several meetings were held to consider whether' Dr. Whit­
man, myselt, or some other American teacher should be
killed as a set-eff fer Elijab."

IX. Tbe same Mr. Spalding said on the 31st of Au­
gust, 1946, te Dr. Peujade, (see bis statement): "The
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Indians are getting worse every day for two or three
years back; tbey arc tbreatening to turn us out of these
missions. A few days ago they tore down my fences;
and I do not know wbat the Missionary Board of New
York means to do. It is a fact we are doing no good;
wben tbe emigration passes, the Indians all run off to
tradc, and return worsc tban ",ben wc came nmongst
tbem."

X. Dl', 'Vhitman had declared many times during
tho lasl, twO years of bis life tbat he wished to leavc;
that he knew the Indians werc ill disposed towards him
and that iL was dangerous for bim to remain among them;
that for a couple of years he bad done nothing for the
teaching of the Indians, becauFie they would not listen to
him. He said in the fall of 1847 that he would leuye
certainly in the E:pring for the Dalles, ",here he bad al­
ready bought the Methotli-st mission He went so far
then as to ask Mr. McKay to pass the winter with him,
for fear of the Indians, and seemed disposed t.o excbange
his place at Wailatpu for another one in the Willamette
(See Mr. McKny'••tntemeD!). Mr. Spnlding declnred
also, in the winter of 1847, tbat fOl,three or four years
he had ceased to teach the Indians, as they refused to
hear bim (See Gervais' statement).

Xl. From a. letter of Dr. White Indian Agent, writ­
ten in 1845 to tho Indian Department at Washington, it
is evidont that at that time thc' whole colony was in 3. ter4
riblc fright, c:.<:pe':'ting th~f, all Hu" Tnrli:ln trihpQ (If 1.1lC
Walla 'Valla country would massacre the Americans
who were upon their Innde., nnu next. woulrl come down
upon the \ViIlnmctte Bettlemrnt and destroy tho wbole
colony.

XII. In spite of the onthusiasm that had "i~nnlized

the first y.ear of the establishment of his mis'5\on, Mr.
Spalding was complaining even as enrly as 1840, that ho
had very little bope iD tbe di.positioDs of tbe Nez Per­
ces. (See Mr. Spalding's Letters, printed in the Ameri·
cnn Board of Missionaries for Foreign 'Missions, publish.
ed iD 1842.)

XIII. A missionary of the Spokans, writing to Dr.
Whitman as early as 1839, said: II The failure of tbis
mission (the Spokan) is 60 strongly impressed upon my
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mind tbat I fecI it necessary to have cane in hand and
as much 8S one shoe 00, ready for a move. I see Dotb~

jog but the power of God that caD save us."
These facts and statement-s prove clearly that thero

dxisted among the Indiana, long before the arrival of the
bishop of Walla Walla and his clergy, strong causes ot
dissatisfaction against the Protestant missionaries nnd
the Americans in general Iand that they formed n. Icn.~cD

that had been fermcnting for several years.

•

CHAPTER II.

Documentary Evidence Proving the foregoing assertions

MR. JOHN TOUl)IN's STATEMENT, IN 1848.
H I have been seventeen years employed as interpreter

at Fort Walla Walla. and I lett tbat Fort about .eveo
years ago. I was there wben Mr. Parkor,in 1835, came
to select places for Presbyterian missions among the
Cayuses and tbe Ncz·Perccs, and to ask lands,for these
missions. He employed me as interpreter in bis nego·
tiat.ioDs with the Indians on tbnt occasion. Mr. Porn·
brun, the gentleman then in charge of tbe Fort, accom­
panied Lim to the Cayuses and the Nez Porccs.

U Mr. Parker, in company witb Mr. Pombrun, an
American and myself, went first to the Cayuses
"pOD tbe laod. caned Wailatpu, tbat beloo/(ed to
llie three chiefs-Splittcd LiPI or Yomtipi, Hed
.~~loak, or Waptacbtakamal, and Tilaukaikt. Having
met them at that place he told them tbat he was coming
to select a place to build a preaching houso to teach them
how to live, and to teacb school to their children; that
he would not come himself to establish the mission, but
a Doctor or a medicino man would come in his place;
that the Doctor would be the chief of the mission, and
would come in the following spring. I I come to select
a ]llace for n mi8Bion/ said he, I but I do not intend to
take your lands for nothing. After tbe Doctor is come,
tbere will COme every year a big .hip,loaded witb good.
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to be divided among the Indians. Those goods will Dot
be Bold, but given to you. The missionaries will bring
you plows and bOCB, to teach you bow to cultivate the
land, and they will not sell, but give them to you/

uFrom the CayusC8 Mr. Parker went to the Nez Per­
'C68, about 125 miles distant, on the lands of the Old But­
taD, on a. small creek which empties into tbe Clearwater
seven or eight milos from the actual missioD. And there
he made the same promises to the Indians 8S at \Vailat­
po. ' Next spring there will come :l missionary to estab­
lish himself here and take a .picco of laud; but be will
not take it for nothing; you shall be paid every year;
this is the American fashion.'

"In the following vear, 1836, Dr. Whitman arrived
among the Cayuses, and began to build. The Indians
did Dot stop him, as tllOy expeoted to be paid, 8S they
said.

In the summor of the next year, 1837, Splitted Lip
Rsked him wh,ere the goods which he bad promised him
were j whether he would pay him or whoLber he wllntrd
to steal bis lands, He told hi 111 if be did not want to pay
him, he had better go oft' immediately, ber:luse he did not
want to give his lands for nothing, This has boon told
me very often by the Indians at that time.

"In the winter of the ensuing year, 1838, as Splitted
Lip's wife was sick, he went to tho Doctor one evening
and told him: t Doctor, you have COllle here to give us
bad medicines; you como to kill us, and you steal ou I'

lands. You had promised to pay me every year, and
you have been hero already two ycar:3 and have as yet
given me nothing. You had bottor go away; if my wife
diesj you shall dio a180.' I happened to be present in
the house when ho spoke so, and 1 hoard him.

U I very ofton heard the Indians speaking of new dif­
ficulties relative to the payment for their !'ands, arising
from year to year. They constantly told the Doctor to
pay them or else gg away; and the Doctor always per­
sisted in remaining there without paying them, saying
that the Indian. were talking lightly, and that they
would do him no harm. He let them bn're ploughS, but
th?se only who bad good horses to give him: as t.be)­
saId.
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II The Indians often complained that the Doctor anll
bis wife were very severe and hard to them, and often
ill·b.ented them, which ocoasionod froquent quarrels be­
tween them nod the Doctor.

II One day the Doctor had arrcnt quarrel with the
Indians, on account of somo 0 their horses that had
11nmageu his grain, ami was \'cry ill tl'eated by thcm,
They insulted Lim, covered him with mud, plucked out
his beard, pulled his ears, tried to throw bis nouse down,
5uapped a gun at him twice, and attempted to strike him
with an axe, which he avoidod by turning bis bead aside.

(l A sbort time afterwards be started for the United
Statls, telling the Indians that bo was goihg to see tho
great cbief of the Americans, nnd tbat when he would
return, be would bring witb himself many pOOl)!e to
chastise them; and the Indians bad beon looking to Lis
I'oturn with great anxiety and fenI'.

11MI'. Spalding establi'Sbed his mission among tho Nm:.
Poreeo iD the same year (1830) as Dr. Whitman did
omong the Cayuses.

It The following yenr, ]837, he decided to sond Mr.
Gray to the United States witb a band of horses to ex­
change them for cattle. rrhl'ce Indinn chief8 started
with Mr. Gray, viz: Ellis, tho Blue Cloak and tho Hat.
When at the rendezvous their hurs.ce: feet began to filiI,
Ellili theu observed to bis companions tl.at tLey could
not continue their journey, their horses Leing unable to
stand tbe trip, and that they would die on tho road,
'flien be and the Blue Cloak retnrned back, wbile the
Hat weDt on with Mr. Grny. Ellis aDd Blue Cloak or·
rired in the fall at the missioD of Mr. Spalding,
who got very angry when bo saw them back, and
said tbat they deserved Bovero punishment. Be could
not take Ellis, who had too strong a part>'; but tbe Bluo
Cloak, baving como ono evening with the others to·
prayer, Mr. Spaldiolt saw bim, and commnnded tbe In·
dians to take him; and as no one would move, tbe young
chief Nez Perce, or TonwitnkiB, aroso with anger, took
hold of the Indian and tied bim up, and tben Baid to Mr.
Spalding: 'Now whip him.' Mr. Spalding answered bim:
; No, I do not whip; I stand in the place of God, I com·
mand; God does Dot whip, be commands.' I You arc {\

3
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liar,' said tho Indian chief, I look at yout image, (point­
ing to an image hanging on tbe wall, which Mr. Spalding
had made for the instruction of tbe Indians) you have
painted two men in it and God behind them with 11. bun.
die of rods to whip them. Whip him, or if not wo will
put you iu biB place and whip J'on! Mr. Spalding obey­
ed, whipped tho Indian, and reoeived from bim tbe borso
that be had exacted.

Tbe tbird chief, who bod followed Mr. Gray on lois
journey,to the States, wni killed on the way by the Sionx
or Pawnees. When Mr. Gray rctu..l'ned, in the ensuing
year, 1838, .Elli~, Beeing that he was alone, and learning
that his companion bad been killed, went to Mr. Spald­
ing, and said to him; (Hcar me; the Hat, who accom­
panied Mr. Gray, has been killed j if we had gone with
him we should have been killed too; and because we
returned back, refUioing to follow bim, you \\'isbod u! to
be flogged; you then intonded that we should be killed,
also.' Tho Indians then met together and kept all the
whites who lived at tbe slation blockaded in thcir house
for more than a monlh. I wail then sent throe limos by
.?th. Pombrun to the Nez Percefi], to induce them to set
the missionaries and their people at liberty, ob!'lcrving to
them that it was not the fault of Mr. Gray if the Indian
chief had boeD killed; and it '"as at my third trip only
that I <fuld induce them to acoept tobacoo in sign of
peace, Bnd to retiro.

II About the yeur 1839, in tho full, MI'. Smitb, belong­
ing to tho same society as Dr. Whitman and Mr. Spal_
ding, asked Ellis permission to build upon his Janus for
tho purpose of teaching the Indians as the other ,mis­
sionaries -wero doill~, und of keeping a 8ebool. Ellis
allowed him to build. but forbade him to cultivate tho
lnnd, and warned bim' that if be did tho picco of ground
which he would till should'scne to bury him in. In the
foll<?wiDg spring, however. Mr. Smith prepared his plow
to tIll the ground; and Ellis, aeing him ready to begin,
went to him nnd said to him: r Do you not recollect
what I told you? I do .not wish yoq to cultivate the
land.' Mr. ~mith, bowever, persisted in his dctermir...a­
tiOD j but ns be wns brginning to plow, tho Indians took
bold of him ~Ild .aid to him; 'Do .r0u ~ot know wbat
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hae been told you, that you would be digging n. bole in
which you ahould be buried?' Mr. Smith then did not
n
l

ersist any longer, but said to them: 'Let me go, I will
eave the place jJ nnd he Fltarted off immedi'ately.

That circumstance bas been related to me by the Indians,
and soon after I saw Mr. Smith myself, at Fort "Talla
Walla; he was on his way down- to Fort Vuncouvcr,
where he embarked fa I' the Sandwich Islands, from
whence be did not come back nn:r mor<'.

II I have WitDCB8Cd I'cpel\tc~ efforts on tbe. part of
Mr. Pombrun to !leJp Dr. Whitmnn nnu Mr. Spnlding.
He often told me that rtlO Doctor treated hlm very
friendly: but that it wns but reasonable on his part, 8S

without him those mie.sionnrics could not stand, and
would have been killed long f1ince.

" Two Catholic missionaries pl-sBed boY Walla 'Valla in
1838,00 their way from Canada to Fort Vancouver. In
the years 1839 and 18-10, ono of them, Father Demerf',
came to \-Valla Walla for 1\ short time each year, and
gave instructions to tbo Indians, which a great paft of
theJJayuscB came to hear. Some time uftcl', Dr. Whit·
man and MI'. Spalding, being ni:J.rmed at seeing so many
Indians abandoning them to go and heul' tbe priest, came
to Fort Walla Walla, and reproved Mr. Pombruu for
having allowed Lho priest to tench tbe Indians ill hie
Fort. I was near the gate of the Fort, when the Doctor
had banny dismounted from hi:i horse before he ~aid, a
little excited, to .M.r. Pombrun: : I thought, sir, that
you had promised me that you wuulll not allow that
pl'iest the Iiberly of epeakil'g to the IndiunJ:J in your
Fort. If that man has the lilJerty of {'oming among the
Ir.diune, we shall have to abandon I hem j we shull Le un­
able to do anything more alllong them.'

"Two yenrs ago, j846, n Cayuse cume to my Louse, ill
the Willamette settlemellt, and stopped with me oyer
two weeks. During that time hc often spoke of Ur.
Whitman, complain.ing that he possl:ssed the lauds of tho
Indians, on which he was raising a great deal of wheat,
which be was selling to the Americans without gi\'iug
them anytblDg; that he bad a mill upon tbeir larJ(l~ aod
they had to .pay him for grinding their wbeat-a big
bor::ie, for twenty aacks. He said they told him to leave,
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but be would not listen to tbem; tbat tbey had been
much enlightened by the American!; before they bad np
wit, but tbe Americans had given them some; they had
told them thAt tbe American missionaries were stealing
their lands; that they were receiving great benefit from
them, and that they were living among them for tbe
purpose of enriching themseh'c8."

(Signed) JOHN TOUPIN.
ST. LOUIS OF 'VlLLAMETTE, Sept. 24, 1848.

,
••

MR. THOMAS :\I'KJ.Y'S STATEMENT IN 1848.

"I was at: Fort Walla Wall_last r_ll, wben the Cayu••
chiefs, at tbe request of the Bishop of Walla tVulla, met
there to decide whether they would give him a piece of
land for a miBsion.

During tbe meeting, TUffisakay said that Dr. \Vhitman
WllS n. bad lUnn; that be robbed nnd poisoned them.
The Bisbop replied to him that I bis thoughts Were ba.d,
the Doctor did not poi:;on them, nor rob· them; b\bad
to banish tbose thougbts fl'om his mind. You do not
know tbe Doctol',' be added, . he is not a bad ronn.'

It One of the chiefs told the Bishop that they woulq
f5end the doctor off very soon j thoy would give him his
house if be wished. The Bishop answered that he
did not wish th('m to send the Doctol' away, and that
there was room enough for t,,-o mi~sioJ]s.

It The Doctor often told me that for a couple of years
he bad ceased to teach the Indians b"cause they would
not listen to him. He told me repeatedly, during the
two last years (\specially~ that he wished to les\.Vc; tbat
he kllCW tbe Indians were ilI.di~posed towards him. a.nd
Jt was dangerous for him to stay there; but that he
wished all the chief:; to tell him to go away~ in order to
excuso himself to tbe Board of Foreign Missions. Last
fall~ during my ~tay fit Fort Walla "'Valla: long before the
meeting of tbe'chiefs, called Ly the Bishop, tho Doctor
asked me to go and pass the winter with him~ sllying
that· he was afraid of tbe Indiaus. I told him I could
not, ou account of my business: which called me borne;
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but that I would exchange my place for his if he
wished. Then bo replied be would Bee my place. He
told me also severnl times last faU that he would loa,'o
certainly in the spring for the Dalles. I am aware,
moreover, that the Cayuses have n gr~at ronny times
iIl·treated Dr. Whitman."

(Signed,) . TUO>lAS McKAY.
St. LOUIS of Wi!famette, Sept. 11, 1848.

.
:Mit. JOHN BAPTIST GERVAIS' ST.-\TE:\IE:oiT I:'\' 1848.

U I spent last fall and last winter among the Nez Per·
ces. I arrived there at the beginning of October. But
I have known the Nez Perces for over twenty years,
having been in the habit of trading and traveling with
them almost every year j and it was at their request
that I had gone to soU Ie in their country. J'''or nmnr
years I had heard the Nez POl'eeB very often speaking
badly of Mr. Spalding. It appeared to mo tbat the
gteatcst part of th08C Indians disliked and bated him.
Accordiqg to their reports, they wero vory often quarrel.
ing with him j they complained that Mr. Spalding was
too quick tempered. He fought with them twice, and
tried to fire at them Oncc. The Indians ilI·treatcd and
insulted him in a great many ways. They threw down
his mill} prctending it was theirs.

"Mr. Spaldiog told me bimself last fall that for three
or four years baek he had ceased cntirc]y to teach the
Indians} beeause thcy refused to hea.r him."

(Signed}) JOliN BAPTIST GERVAIS.
ST. PAUL of Willamette, Oct. 15, 1848.

MESSRS. JOHN YOUNG'S AND AUOUSTJX RAYMOND'S
STATEMENT IN 1848.

Il I spent the winter of 1846 in Dr. Whitman's cm­
ployment. I generally worked at the saw-mill. During
the time I was there) I observed that Dr. 'Vhitman was
in the habit of poisoning the ',,"olves. I did not sec bim
put the poison in the baits for the wolves j but two



30 THE WBIT:\IAN MASSACRE.

young men of the bouse, by bis order, were poisoning
pieces of meat, and distributing them in the places where
the wolves were in the habit of coming, at a abort
distance around the establishment of the Doctor.

II The Doctor gave me onco some arsonic to pqison the
wolves that were arvund the saw-mill. By hlB order I
poisoned some pieces of meat whit:h I fixed at the end of
sbort sticks at about a quarter of a mile from the 8aw­
mill. Some Indians who happened to pass there, took
the meat and cat it; three of them were very sick and
were nenr djring.. After they got better, the old chief,
Tilaukaikt, with a certain number of otbers, came to me
at the saw-mill, and told mc, (pointing to those who bad
eaten the poisoned meat,) that they had been very sick;
that if they bad died, their hearts would have been very
bad, and'they would hllve killed me; but as they did not
die, their hearts were consoled, and the)' would not hurt
me. Some days afterwards, the Doctor told mc, laugh·
iog, that they would have certainly died, if they had Dot
drunk a great quantity of warm water, to excite vom·
iting, jIhad told them very often,' said he, (Dot to ~at

of that meat which we distributed for tbe wolves, that it
would kill them: they will take care now, I suppose.'

l( An American, who was also in the service of Dr.
Whitman, worked with me at the saw-milL He got
from me a part of the poison which the Doctor had
given me, and with it poisoned some other meat for the
purpose of killing tigers, as he said.

(( About eight ·years ago, the first year I came into the
country, I stopped for about ten days witb Mr. A. Ray­
mond, the companion of my journey, at Dr. 'Vhitmao's,
who happened to have then a quanity of melons in his
garden. Mr. Gray, who was theu living with the
Doctor, offered us as many melons to cut as we liked;
but he warned us at the same time not to cat them indis­
criminately, as some of them were poisoned. I The In·
dians,' said he, (arc continually stealing our melons; to
stop them, we have put a little poison on the bigger onesl
in order that the Indians who will eat them might be a
little sick: we did not put on enough of it to klll theml
but only enough to make them a little sick.' And he
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went and selected himself some melons for us to cat."
(Signed,) JOHN YOUNG.

ST. PAUL of Willamette, September 12, 1848.

This is to certify that the part of the above statement
of Mr. John Young relative to the putting of poison on
~omO melons at Dr. Whitman's establishment is correct.
I was with Mr. Young at that time; I beard wbat ~.
Gray told him: his words were directed to both of U8,
and I have eaten of the melons which Mr:Gray gave us
at that time.

(Signed) AUGUSTINE R.UMOND.
St. Paul of Willamette, Sept. 12, 1848.

Extracts from a Letter written on the 4th of April, 1840, by
Dr. Elijah White, Sub-Indian Agent, west of the Rocky
Mountains, to the Indian Depa.rtment at Washington.

After speaking of Borne difficulties that occurred In

California between the Cayuses and the Walla WaIlf\s
on Ono part, and the Spaniards and Americans on the
other, on accoubt of some stolen horscs \hnt the Cayuses
aud Walla Wallas had taken from hostile Indian. hy
fighting them, Mr. White passes on to rolate a murder
there committed coolly by an American the fall previous,
upon the pereon of Elijah, the son of the Yellow Serpent,
the cbief of the Walla Wallns, in tho following way:

II The Indians had gone to the fort of Captain Sutter
to church, and after service, Elijah was invited into an­
other apartment, taking with him his uncle, (Young
Chief, or Tawatowe, of the Umatilla riveT,) a brave and
sensible chief, of the n~o of fivo Bnd forty; wllile there,
in an unarmed and (lcfencelcss condition, they com­
menced menancing him for things alleged against the
ri\'er Indians of this nppel' country, in which none of
them had any pa.rticipation, called them indiscriminately
dogs., thieves, &c. This American then observed, l yeB_
terday you were going to kill me, now you must die,'
and drawing a pistol-Elijah, who bad been five or six
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years at the Methodist mission, and bad learned to read.
write, and speak English rC!'Ipectably, said, deliberately"
Ilet me pray a little first,' and kneeling down, at onc~
commenced, and, when invoking the divine mcrcy, Was
ehot tbrollgh the bca..xt or vitals, dead upon the spot.

"Taking for trutb an Indian roport, tbis horrible af.
fair creates considez:able excitement, and there is some
clanger of itB disturbing the friendly rclntion tbat hith.
erto existed betweon us here and all those formidable
tribes in the region of 'Valla 'ValIa and Soake river.

II Lenring from Dr. Whitman. who reside's in their
midst, how much they were all excited by reason of th(,
treacherous and violent death of tbis educated and ac­
complished young chief, and, perhaps, morc especially
by the loss they had sustained, and then, after suffering
so many hardehips and encountering so many dangers,
losing the wholc, I apprehendcd there might bc lUuch
difficulty in adjusting it, particularly us they lay much
stress upon the restlcss, disaffected scamps., late from
Willamette to California, loading them with the vile
epithets of dogs, thi~\Ocs, &c., from which they bclieved
or affected to believc, that the slandcro~ reports of our
citizens caused all their los~ and disasters, and therefore
held ns responsible. He, Ellis, the Nez Perce chief, aa­
sured me that the Cayuses, Walla ·Wallas, Nez Perces,
Spokans, Pondereys, and Snakes were all on terms of
amity, and that a portion of the upgricved party were
for raising a party of about two t1J.OUSRlld walTiors of
those formidable t.ribes, and march to California at ouce,
and nobly revenge themselves on the inhabitants by
capture and pluuder, enrich themselves upon the spoils i
whilst others not indisposed to the enterprise, wished
fu-st to learn how it would be regarded here, and wheth­
er we would remain neutral in the affnir. A third party
'\lere for holding us responsible, as :Elijah was killed by
an American, and the Americans incensed the Spaniards.

"Sir, bow this nffuir will end is difficult to conjectUloe i
the general impression is that it will lead to the most
disastrous consequences to the Californians themselves, or
to the colony of the V\"-illumette valley_ My priucipal
fear is that it results in 60 O1u"h jealousy, })l'ejudice and
disaffection, as to di\-ert their minds from the pur:;.uit of
knowledge, agriculture: and the menns of' civi1ization~
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which they have been for such a length of time so laud­
a.bly engaged in obtaining.

Ie Should this be the case with these numerous, bra\"'e,
and formidable tribes, the result to them and to us would
be, indeed, most calamitous. To pre,ent flllCh a rOl:lult
I wrote, through Ellis, a long, cordial, and ruther sym­
)lathizing letter to the chicf:;; of these tribes, assuring
them that I should at once write to the Governor of Cal­
ifornia, to Captain Sutter, and to our great chief, rcspect­
inr, this matter. 'Vith a Yiew to divert attention and
pr~mole good feeling, I invited all the chiefI:'] to come
d{1\\"n in the fall, before tho Rrrival of tho emigrants, in
company with Dr. 'Vhitman and Mr. Spalding, anti COIl­

fer with me upon this subject."
(Signed,) ELIJAH \VUITE.

MR. WILLIA)1 CRAIG'S STATE)rENT IN 1848.

Question oy Hon. P. H. Burnett-State whether you
we1'e acquainted with Tom Hill, a Hclaware Indian, and
w!Jen :lnd wbcl'e, and what statements be made to the
Xez Perces, and whether tIle Cayuses were informed of
his statements

f
and whaL impl'e::lsiuu he made Oll tbo In­

dians?
Answer-The first UCquUillt:lll('C was in the U.oe]<y

)[ountains in the yenr 1~0'j, anu then in 184&, when lie
tame to the :Kez Pen'c;:s country. I frequently beard
that he had been telling unfaVOI"aLle tales of' the Ameri­
('a~s; how they Lad treated the IlllliauiS in his country.
lie lmid the first were missionaric::l that came to lJilll,
aQ.l.i then others came in and !Settleu, uno then c:OUl­

mcnced taking OUI' lands, filJd tinally drove us off; and
they will do the sume to yuu. rrLi::l] had heard of Tom
Hill. On seeing Lim, I asked Lim what he had told the
Indians; if he LaLi told tbem so aud 1:\0, as I had heard.
lie said he bad told them how the Amel"icans had treat­
~d them in his vlace. and they had better not keep
Spalding there, or it would Le the tinme thing with them;
1 am aequainted with missionaries; it is only a way of
making propertj'; there it; nothing ill religion, ouly to
make money; you can l:lee that; look how they are 8CJl-
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ing everything they raise in your Own lands j you caDnot
get anything- from them without paying for it, not 80

much as a piece of meat when you are hungry. Aft.er
my interview with Hill, he came once in company with
Borne Nez Perccs to Dr. Whitman's; after remaining
there some twelve or fifteen days, he returned; I asked
him how he and the Doctor got along; he told me very
well j that be was a heap better man than Spalding; be
bad ask.ed him into bis house sometimes. Aft.cr that the
Doctor told me Tom bad done some mischief with the
Indians in that place. •

Qucstion-\Vill you state what is the custom among
the Ca.yuses when a medicine man fuils to cure a patient
and the patient dies?
AD8W~r-SinceI have been acquainted with them, it

has always been their custom in such cases to kill the
medicine man or woman; and every year since I have
known them, I have heard of them killing such persons.

Question-How long have you been acquainted with
the Cayunen?
. Annwer-Sincc the yenr 1840.

Question-8tate whether you ever beard any of the
Cayuses say anything about the Catholics establishing
missions among them, a;.ud whether they ui~Hked that
they nhould?

Answer.-I heard an Indian, who was left in chargr
of the Young Chiefs businm..s: while the chief was out
after buffalo, and which was sometime dnring the sum·
mer of 18-17, say that the·Young Chief told him that if
they, the Catbolic missionaries, should come there befol'(,
he got back, to tell tbem to remain: but not to commegei>
buifding until his r~turn, and be would show them when:
to build. It was, however, a common report among th\'
Nez Perces that the Cayuses had asked the Catholics to
come among them and to establish missions.

QuestioQ.-Did you hear Dr. \Vhitman say aoythinr;
relative to the Catholics establishing missions all"\ong tht'
Indians; if so, state wbat?

Answer.-Dr. Whitman told me that be heard' a talk
'Of the Catholics tlstabli~bing a mission 00 the Tucaunon.
about sixty miles off. and said he would ratber thc;
would be nearer at band.
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Qnestion.-8tate where you were at the time the mn@-­
dRore took place, and what dfl you know about a mes.sen·
"er from the murdererB to the Nez Porces Indians, and
~bat the messenger said in reference to the cause of the
Cayuses killing Dr. Whitman. .

Answel'.-I waaliving about ten miles from Mr. SpaId.
iog's mis8ion. Mr. Camfield first brought the news of
tho massacre. On the 8th, after the m&8B8CI'B, being
llonday, a great many Indiana met at Mr. Spalding's
before Mr. S. bad returned; a mossenger came thero
from the Cayuses, and the Indians, when assembled, re·
qui red him to stoLe all he knew nbout the matter, and to
state Lhe truth; 1 was prescnt.i and he sl1id, in substance,
.hat all the chiefs were concerned, except Young Cbief
tind Five Crows, who knew nothing of it; that the cause
of the murder was that Dr. \Vbitman and Spalding were
poisoning the Indians. They a8ked him, are you sure
that they were poi Boning the IndianB? He said yes.
flow' do you know it? JOB. Lewis said liO. 'Vhat did
he Bny? JOEl. Lewis E;aid that Dr. Whitman and Mr.
Spnldin~ bad been writing for two years to their friends
in the East, where J08. LC\vis lived, to send them poison
to kill off the Cayuses and the Nez Porce8; and they
had sent them some that was not good, and they wrote
fOi' OOOI'e that would kill them ofl' quick, anu that the
medicine had ('orne this summer. JOB. Lewis said he was
lying on the settee in Dr. Whitnui.n·s room. and he hel1rd
it conversation between Dr. WhiLman, Mrs. Whitman,
:lnd Mr. Spaldillg, in which Mr. SpaJdint! asked the Doc­
Wr wh.y be did not kill the Indians off fasLer? uOh,"
j;nid the Doctor, "they arc dyinJ' fHst enough; the young
onea will die oft' thi8 winter, and the old one8 next
opring." Mrs. 'Vbitmo.n said that onr frionds will be on,
:lIld want to settle in this country. A talk then took
JJJace between Dr. 'Vhitman and Mr. Spaldin~, in wbich
they said, how easy W6 will live when the Indians are all
killed off; such an Indian has 80 many horses, and such
an Indian so many spotted horses, and our boya will
drive them up, and we will give them to our friend8.
ODe of them said that man will hear us, allnding to J05.

~ewis. Ob, no, said another, he cannot hear, ho is Bleep­
!!lg sound. The)' talked rnther low, but J08. Lewis said

•
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July 11, 1848.

he could hear all thatlaBBed. This Indian messenger sta.
ted that Jos. Lcwisha mado this statement in s council of
the Cayuses on the Saturday night previous to the mur·
der, and that J 08. Lewis said be had heard this com'cr­
satian between Dr. Whitman and the otbers on tho
Wednesday before the murder. Jos. Lowis, the me8Ben~

ger said, told the Cayuses in the council that unless they
(the Indians) killed Dr. Whitman and Mr. Spalding
quick, they would all die. The messenger went on to
say himself, that one hundred and ninety-s8't'cn Indians
had died !Since the. immigration commcnc~d passing that
Bummer. He said that there were six buried on Monday
morning, and among the rest his own wife; he Raid ho
knew they were poisoned. .

Question.-Are you acquainted with the fact that the
small-pol:: was spread among the 13lackfeet Indians east
of the Rocky Mountains? If eo, stato in what year) ned
how far it spread, and whether a knowl~dgo of this fact
is not familiar with the Cayusos and Nez Perces.

Answer.-In the year 1837, the small-pox was spread
among th~ 13lackfeet Indians by one Beckwith) who
brought the matter for tbat purpose. Beckwith took it
himself, and a clerk at one of the trading posts, Fort
Muriah, on one branch 01 the :Missouri river, helped. to

. spread it among the Bla'Ckfeet Indians for the purposo
of killing them off. A knowledge of this fact is common
among the Nez Perces, nod, I tLink. among the Cayuses.

(Signed,) WILLIAM CR.UG.

CHAPTER III.

REVIEW OF THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED IN THE FOREGOING

CHAPTER.

Every impartial and unprejudiced person I after rend·
iog attentively the foregoing documents, will come to
the conclusion that tbo causes, both remote and i mme·
dinte of the whole ovil, must ha,e been tho following:-

I. The promise made by Mr. Parker to the Cayuse,
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fmd tho Nez Pe.rees of paying for their.land" overy yea"
and the want of fulfillAlont of that promieo.

Theoce camo u the month~ of deep 8Olioitl1de, ocea.
liiODed b.f the increusing and moo.aeing demands of the
Indiaos for pay for their ~ater. their wood, th"ir air,
their lands," of wbich Mr. Spllidiog oomplains in bi:$
uHistory of the Massacre." It was not UTI natural tbat
tho Indians soeing they werc refu8ed the price fixed for
their lands, should repent their demRnds, nnd finall)"
come to the threatenings. 'Vhlte poople would not
halo done mu('.h les8.

lI. The death of tho ~"l'z POI'Ct"~' chict~ killed 011 hilt
ws.y to the United Stuto!~, when ho WRS in company with
3fr. Gray, und in his ser\"iet'. .

The conclusion is evident from the circuml'ltulIcc!l
which pl'ecedcd that death, and fl'Olll. tho proeoodinb"S 01'

the Nez Porces ah""inst ~Ir. Spalding, nnd All the people
of his establishment on account of it, and likewise from
the general habit of the Indiana in ~uch C3~OS. Residcl§,
in the council that the Cnyu!;('s h('l<I !:'ometimc aflt'}' the
llla88aC're, to offor to thc government th('ir )l1'Oposalll of
peace, Tilaukaikt. was mentioning tIlat death M one nl'
their grounds of complaint ngaill8t the Americans.

·III, 'The mqrder committed boY an Amcr'ican ill Cali.
fornia, on the pCl"son uf l~lijah, tho son of tho 'Valla
Walla chief, in.l84-1.

Dr. White's lettol" says in rclation to tbat murder:
.. Tho general impression is that it will lead to tho mOlit
disastrous consequences to tho Californians themBelvel'4,
or to the colony of the WilIam.cttc valley." Mr. Spaltl.
iog says in his" History of the .Massacre:" II When
they, tbo Indians, returned back from California. two
years ago, anar the denth of the ,on of the Walla WaUa
chief, several meetiugs wel'c held to considel' whether
Dr. Whitman. rnY8elt~ or somo othOI' American t(locber,
.hould be killed as a .eklff for Elijah." And M". -Me.
Ki~lay assures me t·bat in the faU of 1844, tho Indians, a
short timo after their return from California, met ono
day at Fort Walla Walla, seven hundred in number, all
armed, and decided to walk down immediately upon tho
oolouy of the Willamette, and tha, they could be stopped
only by the Young Chief, who, b)' his influenoe and en.

4
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treaties, decidod them to abandon their undCl'taking ant}
to go home. And iu the epring ot] ~47, tile Walla Wall.
chief himself, Yellow Serpent, started with a party of
'VaUa \Vallas ~nd Cayuses for the pUl'pose of attncl{ill~
the Americans in California, wholll they tllOQght unsus­
picious, but baving' found thorn on thoir guard, and too
strong to be attackeq without dangel', be took their P41'~

'against the Spaniards, offered hi:-l services to them, uuq
fought in their rankB. On hij way, coming back, he 10s1
many of his people from siC!';OC9S, 80 that he nno hi:s
)~Oung men, when ;J,.l'rivod at home in the fa.ll~ folt worso
disposed tha,I) cvel' to...vards the Am.eJ'icnns. And Tilan.
jmikt mentioned that lUul'd~r also amollg tho grievanccs
that thoy had ngainBt the ~\mcrican8.

IV, Tho t!)los of Tom Hill ill tl,c(;oruan<:e wilh what
was going Oll among the Jndians.

That Indian had told tho Noz Pel'cos and Cayuses that.
,I the first werc missionaries," who came to them I. only
to make property, that thOI'O was nothing in l·eligion."
Now, wlltH! the Protestant miss,iolJarios arrived among
those ti,jbes of' Jndians, they nSblJrCU thcm that thoy
came only to teac:b them and to holp them to livo belter,
p.nd promisell U,em a gloeat prieo for theil' Innlli;. But.
tioon afLOr they got their lauds thoy workod for them­
selvos »nd negleoted tho Indians, and even for three OJ'

four years they had ceased entirely to t.eaoh them, a.s
Mr. Spalding s4id. They got bands of horses, shoep and
cattle; made Iil-rgo farms, traded with tho emigloants
their horses, cattlo and J~Tairr, and wel'e getting rich
without dividing wit,p the l.udians. 1'hey refq.sed obsti­
patoly, from year to year, to puy the pl"ico thoy had
promised fol' their lands, anll pel'Bisted in koeping them;
and they made nothing for die Indians unless they werO
paid for it. .

Tom lIill had also snid, dlat after the missionaries,
':othCl'd come, settle, begin to tnko their lauds, anll
finally scnd tbem off." Now-the year after the arrh·al
of. those missionaries-M.r. Spalding thought fit to send
Mro Gray. to the St{l.tes for tho purpose of bringing from
thence fifty new f&milies of tniS6ionnric:5, flud bad it
plade known to the India-us. III IR39 :;\11'. Smith wished
to cultj,ate tbe l~nd ill s!,itc of the Indi"ns, and becausQ
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they stopped him he went elf. In 1'342 Dr. Whitman
started for the States, telling the Indians that he wonld
bring back with him many people to ehaouse them for
iII-treatiqg him. Thc Indians had been waiting for his
return with anxiety, fearing the execution of his threat.
He came back, however, with a few people only j but in
the following year more came; and next year yet morc,
and more and more for every following year j so· that
the Indians could possibly 8uPI)()se that the Doctor
would execute his threats and take revenge on them as
soon as he thought himself strong enough.·
. Besides, they knew the \Villamette valley well, and
seeing 60 many Americans pJ\;Ssing through their coun­
try every yesI' to. go thither, it was not unnatllrnl Lhoy
should put this question to themselves: If they cou­
tinue for mnny years more to come in,8o great a num­
ber, where will they settle? There is not room cllough
in the 'Villam~tte for 80 many people. And tbe answer
then was natural :-They will come here and will take
our lands, 'us Tom Hill says they Lave done in tho
States, and as they are doing in tho Willamette, and will
drive us out of the country. And then that conclusion
suggested to them by Tom Hill found naturally its
place: that the missionaries were among them only to
prepare the way for olher Americans, and that they hod
better not keep Mr. Spalding nor any other American
missionary among themselves.

V. The spreading of small pox by Americans among
the Blackfeet Indiaus, in connection with the measles
among the Cayuse~, and the imprudent lise of poison
at Dr. \Vhitman's establishment, and hiB profession Il8 a
physician.

The Cayuses and the Nez Perces, as stated by Mr.
Craig, knew that the smaIL-pox had been brought and
spread among the Blackfeet Indians by Americans, and
seeing- a great similarity between the effects of the
measles among themselves and of the small-pox among
the Blackfeet, they could be induced very casily to
believe that the Americans had brought them the same
sickness with the intention of killing them 88 they had
done with the Blackfeet. Moreover Doctor 'Vhitman
was in·tbe habit of using poison to kill wolves. The In-
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diane knew it j and three of tbem had been very near
losing their lives by eating of the meat that he had
poisoned. The Indians knew then that be bad the
power of poisoning them whenever he Wi6h~d; and,
with Indians, from the power to the act, there ie but
very little distance. .

It is certain also that the Doctor, or those about bim,
had poisoned melons for the purpose of making the In­
dians sick. The Indians knew it, and bad been long com­
plaining of it. Going farther they took occasion from
that circumstance for accusing the Doctor of baving
poisoned other food that he gave them to eat; and it
was a general report alllong them that very often they
experienced vomitings and colics after ctillg the Doc­
tor's aliments, and they went so far as to designate a
good many among themselves who have been taken
sick in this manner. The Doctor was alBo in the habit
of trusting poison to all pereoDs in his service indis­
criminately. Who tbon could say that bo had not
trusted poison to some person un"'orthy of his confi­
dence, wllo, without his knowledge and against his will,
might ba'Ye useo it RO'ainst the Indians?

And finally, Dr. ·""hitman was :l phyBician, and every
onc knows the prejudice of the Indians against any kind
of what they call" medicine men," ~o whom they impute
the puwer of killing or healing as they choose, the per­
sons they attend, aud whom they arc in the habit of
killing as murderers, when their patient dies. (

VI. Luck of sincerity and faithfulness to their word
and promise, violence of character and imprudent ex­
pressions, together with. all excessive Beeking for tem­
por.\1 welfare in Bome of' the missionaries.

"re have Been that they had llromised to pa.y the In­
dians for their Ianus and to gi\'e thelli a great many
things which they never ga,-e. '

Mr. Spalding, writing to the Bishop of Walla Walla
some days aner the massacre of 'Vailatpu, said: Cl My
object in writing principally is to give information
through you to the Cayuses that it is our wish to 13\"c
peace, that we do not wish Americans to come from
below to avenO'e the wrong; we hope the Cayuses and
Americans will be on friendly terms, that Americans will
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nO more come to this countryl unless' they wish it. As
soon BS these men return, I hope. if alive, to sond them
to the Governor, to prevent Americans comin~ up to
molest the Cayuses for what i~ done .... Tbe NeT. Per·
ces pledged to protect us from the Cayuses if we would
prevent the Americans from ('omiTl~ up to av('n!ro the
murders. Thi~ we haye pledged to do, and for thif' we
beg- for the sake of our lives at this place nnd Mr.
Walker'fl. By all means kf'cp quiet, sond no war re­
portal seod nOlbinO' but propo!!nls of peac'l,). Thr.,- sny
they have huried the denth of the Walla Walla chier.
son killed in California. They wish us to bury thil1l
offence." And in the Orf'gon American he 8ayB: II The
object of the letter waR solelr to gain time for tho H.
B. Compnnr to reach Wulln 'Valin and 8{'01lTe our de­
li",erance before the Indians sho111d <.1isC'ovcl' any move·
ment on the part of' the Ameril·ans." And, as if to

Y
ro,e it, he had harcily rseaped from the Lands of tho
ndians, when on his way ooing down to the 'Yillnmett(l,

in company with the other captives nf\("r t.heir deliv­
eraDce, passing at the Dall("ft. he tried all he ('ould to in­
duce the troops that were stutioned there to go up im­
medialely to the Cayu.eB and kill them all with the ex­
ception of only fh'e or six whom he commended to thcir
clemency, as the following letter partly proves :-

u ORt:OON CITY, Aug. l~thl ]848.
II Hon. P. H. Burnett: '

H Dear Sir,-In nnsw("r to your polite note I ("an only
say that I did not charge my mind particularly "'itb
Rev. Mr. Spalding's Rtatcments, eon!'equcntly cannot
give you his precise langna~c. I recollect diFlliuctly,
however. that be was not in f.il. ...·or of killill~ all the Cay.
useF>; for hc ~a"e me nnmes of some four or fh'e tbnt he
knew to bc friendly, nnd nnnther' w)lOm I marked afo;
questionable; the bnlnncC': if 1 am not ",cry much mig·
tnken, he would Lave share onc fate .

"13m. Sir, with resp<'ctt yoUl~.
(S· d) .. "f' M ."• Ignc •. AGONE.

•
.!of r. Spalding intcnd42'd then to'dc('eive the Indians with

thf' letter thnt he WTot" to the Bishop. and had no in-
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tention of keeping· his promises to them. And the In.
dians knew him so well in that respect that when thes
heard his letter read at the Catholic mission, they said
without hesitation that Mr. Spalding was speaking well
because he was in a hole. Now, it is known by every
onc that nothing is 80 apt to destroy the confidence and
excite the bad feelings of Indians toward"d any body a:,
lack of sincerity and faithfulness.

As to the violence of character and imprudent ex·
pressions, I heard Dr. :Whitman say at Fort 'Valla
Walla, in the filII of 1847, that he had vel'y much scold."
the Indians of the Dalles, who had robbed I he emi­
grants, and that he had told them: H SinGe yon are so
wicked, such robberR, we shall call for troops to chastisc
you; find next fall we will BCC here five hundred
dragoons who will Lake care of you." 'Ve have 8('011

moreover in Mr. rroupin's statement the ignominius
treatment to which the Doctor exposed himself by that
hardness and violence of character, and Mr. Geryais told
us what the consequences were for Mr. Spalding through
his quic;kness of temper.

As for the excessive socking for temporal welf."\re, Mr.
Joel Palmer, then Indian Agent. said in my presence at
Walla \Valla, during the winter of 1848, that in his opin­
ion the application of the missionaries to get excessiVE'
riches had be€,1} a gJ'C'ut obstacle to the prosperity of the
missions j that it absorbed too much of their attC'ntion
and excited against them the jealousy of the Indians i
that his opinion was that the government ought to pro­
hibit them from getting more tban a certain amount of
revenue as considered necessary for their habitual sub­
sistence.

Sucb bad been-upon the Indians-tbe llnn~vorable

effect of the facts and Ci'"CUIDSlanecs wbich I have just
giyen nbo\-e as the remole causes of the massacre, tbnt
a great part of tbe volunteers of 1848, nnd a180 of the
population of the WillnIDette, came to the general con­
clusion that the missions were prejudicial to the Indianf'.
made them ,forse, and had bettC'r be abandoned. WhC'll
they came to this conclusion, bowe,er, they could speak
of the Protestant misAiollS only, because they bad then
no oppC'rtnnity of knowing wbat the Catholic miHSions
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",ere, and what ctfec::ts they produced among the Indians
_tbe Flat Head miB8ions being 80 far off' that very tow
protestnnts knew anything of their management.

VII. The ultimate causes and the only immediate ones
were the ravage" of the measles 3nd d),sentery, to"getber
wilh the tales of Lewis.

The causes thnt I ha\'e enumcrRted abo'\c, must be
<.'onsidered as fOO mUlU· remote and indirect ones, which
had been preparing for a long time the way for the
awful deed; but 3S lO immediate ('noses every sensible
person will timl it in the ravageR of the mensles and dys­
cntery, which hnd terl'ified tile In~iunsl 3'ld in the tales
that Jo. Lewis sprend among them, and which agreed so

!)crfcctly with the long prejudices and suspicions of the
ndinns, nnd with the tales that had been .spread before

oy Tom Hill. As an evident proof of that I refer to
Mr. Craig's statement wh:ch we huye seen above, and as
a second and yet stronf?er proof I introduce tho 1110­
gu8~e of Mr. Spalding himself.

a It was most distre8sing," 8UJS Mr. Spaulding in his
. History,' "to go into a lodgc of some tcn fircs and count
twenty or tweot.r-fi",e, some in the midst of measlcs,
others in tbe last sta/?c of dysentery, in the midst of
el'ery kind of filth of Itself sufficicot to cause sickness,
with no suitable means to nlJeviatc their inconceivable
sufferings, with perhaps one well person to look afler t.e
'nots of two sick ones. They were dying every day,
ODe, two, and sometImes five in a day, with the dysen­
tery, which ",ery generally followed the measles. Every­
where the sick an.d dying \vere pointed to Jesus, and the
well were urged to prepare for death.

Indeed there was enough thore to alarm Indians and
to excite them to exe~s8es, if anybody knew how to takE'
advantage of those ci!'cumstances: and that man was
fOund in Jo. Lewis. Appearing full of solicitude..for the
welfare of the Indians, he w('nt to them and told thorn
that he was himself an Indian the same as they were,
Lclonging to t.he Chinook tribe; a that formerly," as :Mr.
~plliding eontinnes to relate in his (History,' H the Amer..:
leans by ships brought poison to the Jower conntry with
a ,"iew to destroy all the J ndians. Vast multitudes
"'erc destroyed, as their old men very well recollect-
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referring, doubtless, to BmsH-pox and measles, which
raged throughout the Territory Borne thirty-five or fOTLy

years ago.* He, being a small child, was reserved by
the Americans, taken to the States; where he bad grown
up, ev~r mindful of bis native country, and anxious to
return to his own people. He told the Indians tbat he
took particular no~ice of tho letters of Dr. \Vhitm~[) and
myself from this country; told them that some or these
letters splolke of this vast country as every way desirable
for Bottlement-its healthy climate, its rich Boil, the
bands of borses, &c. Some of these letters called for
poisons by which we could sweep oft' the Indians and
make way for the Americans. JD accordance with this
request, he said, several bottles of poison had been
brought over by the last emigration which had caused
many deaths among the immigrants, and wus the cnuse
of tbe sore sickness and frequent deaths among the In.
dians, and would Boon kill them all if the Docter and
Mrs. Whitman and myself were not removed.. 'l'his ]
received from Stikas in his lodge twenty;four hours after
tbe butchery bad taken .plaee. It seems that immedi·
ately on my arrival Lewis set himself to excite the In­
dians to do tbe dreadful deed. He told tbem tbat he
overheard Dr. Whitman and myself consulting at night
as to the most effectual way to kill off the Indians,"
'" Such statements," Mr, Spalding continues, II follow­

ing like statements which have been sounding in the
ears of the Indians for years, and made with 80 much
apparent solicit~de for them, and at the time of great
excitement among the Indians on account of the measles.
had doubtless much to do in bringing about the bloody
tragedy." And for my part I do not hesitate to affirm
that any sensible and unprejudiced person will concludr
that there, and" there only, lies the immediate cause of
the murders, and that snch were the true and only mo­
tives that induced the Indians to perpetrate the horrible'
crime. All efforts to prove the contrary would pro\C'
nothing but the injustice and blind prC'judice of their
authors.

-It "as in the year 1830 tbat entire vi1lllgl'~ Wl:'re swept awny b)" sid:­
lieu:.

•
•
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CHAPTEUIV.

Journal of the Priacipal Events fllat OCCUTTed in the Walla
lVaUa OJunlTY,from the aTTival of the Bi8hop aad h~

Clergy uatil the moment they lrft that OJuntTy rOT the
lVi/lalllette &ttlcTneats.

It ",as on the 5th of September,ISH, that the RightRev.
Bi,bop A. M. A. Blanchet arrived at FOTt Wall. Wall.,
where he wu~ cordially received by Mr. McBean, Clerk
in charge of the Fort. He was accompanied by the
Superior of the Oblats nnd two .other clergymen. He
had the intention of remaining but a few days :1.t the
Fort, for he knew that Towatowe, (or Youn~Cuicf,) one
of the Cayuse chiefs, had n house which he bad dcstined
for tbe usc of the Catholic mis~ionaries,and he intended
to go nnd occupy it without delay; but the abJ:lencc of
the Young Chief, wbo was hunting buffalo, created a
difficulty in regard to the OCCu\lntion of the house, and
in consequence he had to wait onger than he WiAhcd.

On the 23d of September, Dr. 'Vhitman, on his way
from the Dalles, stopped at FOTt Walla Walla. His
countenance bore sufficient testimony of the agitation of
his heart. He 600n showed by his words that he was
deC'ply wounded by the arrival of the 13ishop. II I know
'\lory \vcll," said he l "for what purpose you have come."
.1 All is known/' "replied the Bishop, U I como to la.bor fllr

the conversion of the In<M.nns, and even of A mericn.n~,

if they Qrc willin~ to listen to me." The Doctor then
(:ontinued in the same tone to "peak of many things.
He attributed the coming of the Bishop to the Young
Chicra infll1C'ncc-made a furiollfl charge ngninat the
Catholics, acclIsing them of bnviug persecuted Protelitr
nnts and of oven having shed their blood wberever they
had prevailed. He said he did not like CatholicH .....
that he should oppose the missionaries to the extent of
Lis power .... He spoke against the Catholic Ladder *
and said that he would cover it with blood) to show the
persecution of Protestants by Catholics. He refused t9-

-A piclul"ee:a:plailliDg the prineip.tt.! pOiDU or Co.tho!ic f'lith.
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sell provisions to the Bishop, and protested tha.t be would
not assist the missionaries unless he saw them in starva_
tion..

After such a manifestation of sentiment toward~

Catholics in general and priests in particular, the Bishop
was not astonished at hearing Borne hours after that Dr.
Wbitmnn on leaving the Fort went to the lodge of Pio.
piomoxl\lnx (or Yellow Serpent); that be had spoken a.
great deal against the Priests; tuat he. had wished to
prevail upon this chief to co-operate with him, in order
that by the aid of bis influence with the Cayuses, Dc
Shutcs HUJ. Dalled India.ns, he might be enabled to ex­
cite the~c nations against them, etc. '

The clergymen who had remained behind with the
wagons und effects of the mission, arrived at Fort Walla
Walla on the 4th of October.

During the months of October and November the Dr.
-came to the Fort severt..l times to render his professional
services to Mrs. Maxwell and Mr. '£hos. McKay j he "':15
a little more reserved than at the first interview, but it
was always visible enough that the sight of the clergy
was far from being agreeable to him.
. 00 the 26th of October Young Chief came to the
Fort, and the 'Bishop asked him if he was disposed to re·
ceive a. priest for him and bis young men j telling bim
that he could only give one for the whole nation, and
if the Cayuses wished to avail themselves of his ser·
vices, they would do well to come to.an understanding
together concerning the location of the mission. The
Young Chief replied that he would receive n priest with
pleasure; that he had long desired oue, and that he could
take his bouse and as much land as he wanted; but as s.
means of re.uniting the Cayuses, who had been hereto·
fore diVided, and in order to facilitate their- religious in·
struction, he suggested the idea of establishing the mi~·

sion near Dr. Whitman'S, at the Camp of Tilokai~t,say­
ing that there was m()rc land there than near his bouse.
and that it was more central; that, by bis wife, be had
a ri~bt to the land of Tilokaikt, and that he was dis­
posed to give it to the mission, if Tilokaikt was willing;
tbat he would go and live there himsclf with his young
men) if the mission could be .established there j but tbat
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\n 00.60 this could not be dono, his house Wl\..Q, at tho eer·
vice of tho prioit at any time ho pleased,

On the 29th of Octoher the Bishop, agreeahly to the
words of the Young Chief, informed Tiloknikt that he
wished to see him; and, on the 4th of' November, THo­
kaikt, Camp.spelo, and Tomsakay, with many other In.
dians, were at the Fort. The meeting took place after
supper; it"was doneJ'ubliely and in the presence of Mr.
'fhom... bfcKay an all the persons at the Fort who
chose to witncf1lf;, it.

TOlosa-kay spoke first, Carnaepclo next, nud then Tilo_
kaikt taking the floor, put man)· questions to the Bishop:
~killg him whother it was the Popo who bad sent "him"
to ask for land 101' the mission-bow the priests lived in
,be oouutJ'y-who muintained tltem-whether the priestB
would mah' preselit~ to tho Indians-whether they
would cause their land to be ploughed-whether they
would aid thC'1!1 in building houses-whether thoy would
feed and ~Iothe their childl'en, &c. &c. The Bishop l'e~

plied that it was the l:lope who had sent him; that he
had not 80nt him to take their land, but only fOl" th~

I
~urpo$e of f::lvinp their souh~; tLat howevel', Lnving to
Ire, ural POSlSt!SSIIl!{ no wealtL, he bad asked of them a
pieeo of' lapd that he <lould clllth'atc tor his support;
tbat in Ids country it was tho Paithful who maintained
(ue prim'lts, but that here h~ did noL ask so much, but
'IOly a. pieee of land, and that the priests themselves
l\'ollH do the "l'est. He told them that be would not
nllike presents to Indians, that he would give thom notb~

ing fell' the land ho 3sked; that in caso they worked for
him, he woultl pay tbern for their work sud no more;
I hat hc would assist them neither in ploughing theirland.
HOI' in buildin~ houses, nor would be leed or clothe their
childl'en, &e. 1l ho Bishop then cl08ed, tho young meD
rctil'cd, and Tiloknikt <loneludcd tho meeting by saying
that he wouirl not go against the words of tbo Young
Chief, and requested the Bishop to senu immediately
"Dille pm"sou to visit his land and seloct a pluee lor 8
rnil'sion.*

On the 8th of !\o,cmuer I went by order oftbe Bishop

Fur further l"urliculani of the mceiillg, &eo :'4r. Tbol:llas McKay', Bta~
.'ut • .• • •
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FORT WALLA WAI.U, M.rob 2, 1848.

to Wailatpu to look at tbe land wbieb Tilokaikt had of­
fered; but he had changed his mind and refused to show
it to me, saying that it was too email He told me that
he had no other plsce to give me but that of Dr. 'Vhit.
man, whom be intended to send away. I I declared to
him a second Hme, the same 8S the Bishop had dODe at
the meeting, that I would not have the place o~ Dr.
Wlritman. I then went immediately to tho (:amp of
Young Chief, to notify him that] would take his house,
since I was unable to ])rocure n place from 'filoknikt.

I returned to the Fort on the 10th, nne! on the lltl.
Rev. Mr. Roussoau left witb hi" men to repail' tho honse,
and having come back on Lbo ~tith, announcing that tho
house was in a conditioD to be o('cnpicd, it was imme­
diately decided that we should g~ and take our lodgin~

in it the next day. 'rho same d:.:.y we recei,'ed, at tbo
Fort, a visit from Mr. Spalding1the Prcsbyterian mission·
ary of the Nez Perccs1whom we acquainted. during the
conversation, with our intention of I~aviug tho next day
for our mission on the Umatilla rivcl' .
. The next daY1 Novcmber ti'tb, we took our lell\'C of
Mr, McBean and his family to go to the Umatilla, who."c
we (tbo Bishop, his Seol'clary nod myself) arl'i'"cd
towards evening. Re,. ?tIl'. ROI1~scall rem:lined behind
with the wagons and baggage, and did IIOt arrh·o until
some days after.

The following is the substance of a letter which I ad­
dressed to Col. Gilliam, containin~ a relation of tbo
events which immediately followed our arrival :-

COL, GILLIAM:-

Dear Sir :-1 ba~e tbe bonor to reply to tbe reque,t
which you have been pleased to make me Jately, It af­
fords me great satisfaction to b.e able to obligo ,you by
givi~g you a detailed Dccount of the facts rclativ.c to the
terrible event of the 2.-9th Novcmbcr,"1847, whICh bap'
pened witbin my knowledge.

You know, sir, tbat eight Cutbolic missioDsrics,at tbo
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bead of whom was the Bi~hop, A. M. A. Blanchet, ar·
rived at Fort \Valla Walla nt the beginning of InBt
autumn, wit.h the inte,otion of devot.ing thcmsclvclt to
the instrllction o1'tbo variouR tribes of IDdinn~ in tbi8
part of Orog-on. Some were locnted nON.h of tho Colum­
bia, ond it was decidod t.hat tho others "honld pus!'!: the
winter with tho Cayuses nl tho cnmp of Young Chief.
becauso this chief hud opt ceRsed for tlovcrnl YCRI'~ to ask
for priest:;!;, and bad afterod hi~ hClllSO for thefr Roc-ommo­
da.tion. Dut, when wo fil'ri\-cu at the }"ort, ho was awny
on no hunting' cxpC'ditioll, from which ho did Hot l'NuTn
tiJllnlc in the fall, :mu for lb:l.t 1'("11"o0 the c"nmlllf'n(:o­
mcnt of our mis~ioll WilS rotnrdcd llllLiI tho ~7th oj' No-
vember. ~

Durin~ ollr IStay ut the Fort we saw Dr. Whitman F;CV·
eral timcs l anti though at firl'lt hc ;':CC'llHHI Yiulf'ntly
oppoeoo to 1Ii', tclIin~ the Hi,~hor frankly that IH' Wlluld
do nil he could a;pllus1. lii'I\. .p·t npon 1'ol,ther ll(jqnnin.
t:100e be scemed to regord 1If' with n morD favorablo 0),0,
:md when tho care of lhe Cayuse l1lillsion WQ:l ~ivl'n to
mo by the Bi~hop, I illd111~l'<.l. till' hope of beill.~ nhle to
Jive upno good tCI'mol with the D,)f~tor.
. Tho day befure OUI' dcpal'Lurc from the Fort Jill" tho

Umatilla, we dir.f'd with Mr. Spaldinf: ano MI', Rod:{crll;,
nod I 3ssurc lOU that it was a ~nti,.;ia<:tinn tn 010 to mako
the acq'unint:lnrc of those gentlemen. I thclI indulged
the bope mOl'e strongly than ever of living- in poate with
them :ill, whith was in perfect nt(.'ordan<'e with m)" nnlU·
ral feelings.i for those who arc n(·quaillted with lilt: know
tbat 1 h:n·c nothing mol'o i\L hcart than to li"e in pente
with all mcn, am] that, exempt from pr<-judiccs, I nm
disposed 'to look with nn cl'}unl eyo upon the mcmllel'R of
all religiouB denomination!'!, to do nil I can for tho gnod
of all without regal'd to tho nama by which thoy mny
b. called.

On Saturday, November 2iih, I left. th~ Port in com·
pany with the BiBhop and hiB Secretary for our missiun
On the Umatilla, twenty.fivu miles from Dr. 'Vhitman'R.
We bad scarcely arrived in the evenin:;" when, on goillg
to eee a sick per;:lon 1 I learned tbat Dr. \Vhitmnn and
Mr. Spalding wel'c en route for my mi5sion, Dr. Whitmn'n
bat'ing been cnlled to ullend to tbe sick

5
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The next day, being Sunday, we were visitod by Dr.
Whitmao, who remained but a few minute8 at tbe bouse,
and app~nred to be much ag:itated. Being i.nvited to
dine, he refused, Baying that he fcared it would be too
late, alii he bad twenty-five miles to go, and wished to
reach borne before nigbt. On parting he entreated me
not to fail to visit him when I would palS8 by his mis­
sioo, wbioh I very oordially pl'omi~ed to do.

00 Mood•." 29th, Mr. Spaldiog took supper with us,
jlod appeared quite gar. During the conversation bo
happened to say that the Doctor was unquiet, tbat tho
Indians were displeased with ilim 00 account oftbc sitko
ness, nnd tbat even he bad been informed that tho mur.
derer (an Indian) intended to kill him; })ut be scorned
not to believe this, amI suspected as little as we did Wbltl

was takiog place at the mission of the Dontol'.
Before leaving Fort 'Valla Walla it bad been decided

that aftel' visiting the sick people of my mission on tbe
Umatilla, I should go and visit tholie of TilokaikCs camp
for the purpose of bapth;ing tbo infants and such dying
adults fiS might desit,c this favor; and tbo Doctor and
Mr. Spalding having informed 010 that thero were still
many sick persons at their mil:lsiocs, I was confirmod
in this rosolutioc, and made preparations to go as Boon
ns possible.

After having finished boptiliing the infants and Jyiog
ndults of my mission, I left on Tuesday, the 30th of No­
vember, late in the afternoon, for 'rilokaikt's camp,
where I ut'rived between seven and eight o'olock in the
evening. It is impossible to coneeivQ my surprise and
consternation when, upon my arrival, I learned that the
Indians tho day bofore bad massacrod the paOLOI' and
hia wife, \vitb tbe greater part of the Americans at tho
mission. I passed the night without scarcely closing my
eyes. Early the next !Doming I baptised three sick
children, two of whom died soon after, and then hasten­
ed to the scene of death to of1'er to the widow~ a.nd
orphans all the assistanoe in my power. I found five or
six women and over thirty childron in a condition de­
plorablo beyond description. Some had just lost their
husbands, and the others their fathel's, whom they had
i.een massacred before thci~ O)'cs, UUQ were expecting
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every moment to share Iho same fllte, Tho sight of
those persons caused me to shod tears, whit'h, bowc\'or,
I wns obliged to conceal, for I was the grrntel' pllrt f)f
the day in ttlC presence of the murdcrel's, and do~oly

watched hy them, and if I had shown too m~rkcd an
interest in behalf of the sufferer"" it would only have l~n­

dangered their lives and mine i these lherefilro clItnut­
cd me to be lIpon my gun"d, Affl'r the first tew words
that could bc exchnngud undo,' such ci!'('UmstallceR, ] in­
quired after the victim!'l, and waR told that the)' wore Jot
unburied. JosC'ph Stanfield, tI. Frenchman, who \fU~ in
the service of DI·. Whitman. nnd had becn iloparccl by tho
Indians, was cn~ogcd in wa~hing the COl'pSCS, hilt beillg
alone he was nnnt'le to bury them. I re!'ol\'cd to ~o

and nSflist him, so fit:; to render to t1j()~c UnfUl'tlllwto "ic­
tims the la~t service in my powcr to offor tholn. What
a sight did I tben behold! 1\'11 dead !Judie's lying
here nnd tbCTC, covered with Llood and bearingtlJt.lllluda;
of the most atl'oeioll" cl'uc1!.y,-~olllepic,'cod with bull~,

others mOI'c or IC!'(t:; g:\!'Iohcd by the hntc:hot. Dr, Whit·
man had ro<.:(li\'cd t Ill'CO ~nshe" on tho filce. 'J'III'CO

others had their 1510111" cl'ushed fo:O that thcil' ul'uina Wll!'e
oozing out,

It wos on tho 29th of Novomhcl', botwoon two and
throe o'clock in tho uncI'noon, while all the poople at tliC
Doctor's bOlJ~e woro bllfoloy, LlJat tho Intliall~ with IIll'il'
arms <.:on<.:ealcd bencath their blallket,,,,, intl"IH.!IH:cd thclll­
selves ~ucce8si!JeI.r into the yard, and in an ill~tallt ('Xtl­

cuted their hOITiblo bUldlCl"Y. rrIJ,'co or four lIlon (A IlIcr­
itmns) only were able to e~l'ape.

The ra\'agos which sickllcs::, had ml~dc in their mid ...t,
together 'yith the COrl\'j{'.tion whil'h u bulf:brecd, nUIIH,d
Jo.-Lewis, had sm:cceded in fixing npon their minds that
Dr. \VhitmaD hnd poii'loncd them, werc tho only ll\{Jtin'R
Il'Ollld di~eo"cr whi<.:h could h:we pl'ompteJ tlH'm to
thiB Het of murdor. 1'hh~ hulf IJreed had imaginod a ('011_
vers:uion betwcen Dr Whitman, his wife, and J\h,
Spalding in which ho madc them say that it was nct:cti·
Bary to hasten the death of tho Indian:; in order to get
p08Resslon of their horseR and land~. 'If you do )Jot
kill the Do(·.tor,' suid he, I you will all be cleud in Lho
8pring.'



62 TllJ: WBITM.&.N MASSACRE.

I MSDTe you, Sir, that during the time I was occupied
in burying the victims of this dhm,ster, I 'was far from
feeling safe, being obliged to go here and there gathering
up the dead bodie~l in the midetofassasains, Wh08C bands
were still stained with blood, and who by .their; manneI'll,
tbeir countenl1llC6S, and the arms which they still car.
ried, sufficiently announced that their thirst for blood
wes yet unsatiated. Assuming as composod 11 manner
as possible, I cast mOre than one glance behind at the
kfliv6S, pistols, and guns, in order to assure myselG
whether there were DOt some of t~em directed towards
me.

The bodies were all deposited in a common grave,
wl.iJ.;h bad been dug the day previous by Joseph Stun.
field; and boforo leaving 1 saw that they were e07ercd
with earth. But 1 have since Itjsrned that the gra\'c
DOt lraving been Boon enotl~h enclosed, had been mOo
le8Led by the woh'ol:l, and ·that some of tbe- corpses had
been devoured by them..

U Having buried the dead, I hastened to prepare for
my return to my mission, in ordor to acquaint Mr.
Spalding with tbo danger wbicb tbl'entened him.; becauS("
on Monday evening, when he supped with UA, he had
said that it was hi~ intention to return to Dr. 'Vhitman'6
011 the following 'Vodnosduy or 'rhurliday; and I wi~hed

to meet him in time to gi ..e him a chance to escape.
This I repeated several timeR to the unfortunate widows
of' tbe sl:lin, and exp"cssed to them my desire of being
nhle to Eiuve Mr. Spalding. Before leaving the .womell
aud childl'en I !:)poke to the sou ofTliokaikt, \\'ho seemed
to be acting in the place of his father, a~killg him to
promise mc that tbey .,hould nol be molesLc~, .and thut
he would take care of them. 'Say to them,' said he,
, that they neod fear nothin~. tbey shull l>e taken c:tre
of, and well treated, I thon left tbem, after toltlyiog what·
I could to encourage them. although I was not myself
entirely exempt from fear upon their account,

u On lE'3ving the Doctor's house, I perceived that the
80n of Tilokaikt followed me in company with my inte:,
preter, who himself was an Indian, bis friend and bls
relative by big wife. I did not tbink that be bad the In·
tention of coming far with U8; I believed that he was
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merely coming to the river to point ant Borne new place
for crossing, and that he would afterwards return. But
,«,hen, after having cro88ed the rit'{'r, he still ('ontinued
!!'Oing au with U8, I bcb"ftn strongly to fenr for Mr.
Spalding. I knew that the Indians were angry with nil
!mericans, and more enraged against :Mr. Spalding than
any othor. But what could I do in sud1 l\ C1rcnml:ltnn('e?
I8aw no remedy; I could not tell tho Indinn to Ita back,
because he would have8uspected something. and iLwould
have'been worse; I could not start nIH..·ud of him, be­
('auSC be had a much better hONie thnn mine: I rcsolved
tben to leave all in the hands of ProYidcnet'. Fortu~

nately, a few minutes after crossing the river the inter·
preteI' a!lked Tilokaikt's son for n smoke. Th(')' pre·
pared the calumet, but when the moment ('arne for light_·
iug it, there was nothing to make tire. t You hn\'c a
pistol,' said the interpreter, t fire it and we will light.'
Accordingly, without stopping', he fired hi8 pistol, re­
loaded it and fired it again. He Ulcn C'ommenc('d smok·
ing with the interpreter without thinking of rclonding
his pistol. A few minutes after, while they werc thus
engnged in smoJs;ing, I saw Mr. Spalding come ~8l1oping

towards me. In a moment he was at my side, taking me
by tbe band, and asking for neW's. 'Have you been to
the Doctor's?' he inquired, 'Yes,' I replied. I \Vbat
Dews/ 'Sad news?' . Is any JWr5011 dead?' I YCR, Sir.'
I Who is dead, is it one of the Doctor's ebildr<'n~' (He
bad left two ofihem very sick.) I No,' I replied. "Vho
then is dend?' I hesitated to tell him. . 'Vait a mo­
ment,' said I, 'I cannot tell you now.' While Mr. Spnld.
ing was asking me those different questions, I had
spoken to my interpreter, telling him to entreat the In­
dian in my name-, not to kill Mr. Spalding, which I
begged of him as a s.pecinl fllvor, nnd hoped that he
would not refuse it to me, I was wating for his nnRwer,
llnd did not wish to relate the disaster to Mr. Spalding
~fore getting it, f~r feaT that he might by his manner
dlBCot'er to the Indian what I had told him; for the
least motion like flight would have rost him his life and
probably exposed mine also. Tbe son of Tilokaikt.
aOer beFJitatin~ some mom.nb, replied that he could not
take it upon hImself to sat'C Mr. Rpnlding. but that be
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would go back and consult the other Indians; .and 80 ·he
etsTted back immedia;tely to his camp. I then availed
myself of his abscnce to sati"fy the anxiety of Mr. Spaid.
ing. I related to bim what had passed. (The Doctor hs
dead,' said I, (the Indians have kill~d him·, together with
biB wife and eight otber Americans, on Monday last, the
29th, nnd I have buried them before lcaving to-day.'
I The Indians havc killed the Doetor!l cried Mr, Spald­
ing; .... they will kill me also, if I go to the camp ~

II fear it very mu(·h,' said 1. (What then shall I du?'
I I know not j I have told you what has happened, decidl:
now for yourlSe'lf what you had best do; 1 la.e uo ad­
vice to give you in regard to that.' "Vby has that In­
dian atm'ted back?' he inquired. 'I beg.~ed him to fl.pare
)rour lifc,' said I, 'and he answered me thatlle could uot
take it upon himself to do so, but that he would go and
take the advice of the other IndiatJ~ about it; that is the
reason why he started. back. MI'. Spalding" seemed
frightened and diBcourag~d. (Is it possible! Is it pOl;­

sible!' he repeated several times; l they will certainly
l<ill me; and he was unable to come to any decisioll.
But what could havb prompted the India.os to this?' he
inquired. 'I know not,' said I, 'but be quick to take a
decision, yOll have no time to lose. If the Indians should
resolve not to spare your life, they will be here very
soon, as we arc ouly about thr1."'c miles from their camp.'
, But where shall I go ?" 'I know not, you know the
country better than I; all that I know is that the
Indians say the order to kill Americans has been sEmt
in all directions, Mr. Spalding then resolved to fly. ]IE'
nsked me if I was willing to tako charge of some loost'
horses tbat he was driving bofore him. I told bim that
I ('.ould not for fear of becoming sUBpioious to the
Indians. I told him, howcvel', that if tbe intcl'p,'etcr
was willing to take them under bis charge at his OWII

risk, he was perfectly at liberty to do so, To this the
interpreter agreed. I gave Mr. Spalding whatrprovisjon~
I had left, and hastened to take leave of him, wishing
bim with nil m)' heart a happy cscape, and promising to
pray foJ' Lim. In quitting him I was so much terri tied
at the thought of the danger with which be was thl'c.nt­
cued, that I trembled in en'ry limo, and could scal'ed)"
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hold myself upon my borse. I len bim with my inter­
preter, to whom hc ag-ain put ml1~ qucstion$, nnd who
pl!iowd ouL to him a. by-road which he 'Would be ablo to
follow with most safetJ". I thoughL he ad\"ised him to
go to the Dalles, but I am noL certain. Mr. Spalding
:-till continuing to ask new questions, and Letloitating to
lcs\"o, the interpreter ud'\'it!ed him to hasten his flight,
and he hud left him n moment before he had decided to
quit the road. The iuterpreter had 1I0t left Mr. Spaid­
in,!; more than twenty miuutcs when he Baw three armed.
Co)'uses riding hnsti)~ towarJs him, who were in pursuit
of Mr. SpalJiug. Upon coming up to the interpreter
they seemed much disph'ascu tluu I bud warllcd Mr.
Spaldiug of their intentious, and thereby furni~hed \Jim
with an opportunity to elScape. I The priel3t ought to
b:1"e attended to his own l)ll:,iucss and uot to ha\"e inler­
ft:rcd with ours,' they said in fill angry tonc, nnd started
immediately in pursuit of him. Aud tlll..:y must have in·
crit.nbl,r overtaken him had not the a}l]Jl'onching dark­
ness of the night and a heu,-y fog that hnppcllC'd to full
down prcvented them fl'om ui~(':oYcl'"ing lJil:l truil, nnd
forced them to retul'u. •

I had continued my rout(> quite t:;lowl,r, HO that it was
dark w~en I reached the Spring' on Manon's F01·k I
dismounted for a moment to tll'ink, and on mounting my
hOl"8e was somewbat ulnrmC'd fo hear a horseman coming
:1.1 full speed iu 0111' rear. I C'ulled to the interpreter and
told him to 8peuk and illftlrm him who we were, The
Iodinn recognised the name of tile int.erpreter, nnd up·
proached him and spoke amicably to bim, and fired oft'
his pistol. It was the son of 'l'ilokuikt, tho same who
had returned to camp to consult tile Lldiana about the
fate of MI'. Spalding. He coutinucu to accompany us
lllltil we reached tiLe camp of Crunaspclo, on tho Urns·
tillu river) and tllcl'e 1 Il'umed fl'om tbe interpreter that
he had t:omc to infol"lI Cuma::-pelo of the horrible c\"ent.

A.flt'r six dnJ!; of dCllger, pr:,'utiolls and fatigue, Mr.
Sp:ddinrr was cnnbled to rench his fiunily at his miF:sion
amongst the :Nt'%: Perces, as yon baye s~en from his letter
to tllO Bisbop of 'Valla Walla, since published in the
Oregon Spectator. I W:lS truly bappJr to learu tbat :Mr.
Spalding was out of dangel': nod 1 thanked God sincerely
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for having made me instrumental in saving the life of a
fellow-creature at the ~eril of my own.

Some days after an express reached us from the Fort
informing us that our lives were in danger from a por:
tiOD of the Indians who could not pardon me for having
deprived them of their victim; and tbis was the only
rea80n which prevented me from fulfilling :tbe promise
which I bad made to the widows and orpb.ans of return­
ing to BCC them, and obliged me to be contented with
sending my interpreter.

You are acquainted, Sir, with the events which fol­
Jowcd,-the murder of two sick meo, who were brutally
torn from their beds and their throats cut i the murder
of the young American when returning from the mill;
the good fortune of the other Americans at the mill.
who owed their escape to a single Indian, (Tintinmitsi.)
while the others wished to kill them; the violation of
threo young girls i the letter of :Mr. Spalding, which oc­
casioned the assembling of the chiefs at the Catholic
mission, aDd their asking for peace; the~ arrh"al of !tIr.
Ogdcn and tbe dcliveay of the captivcB.

Sucb are, Sir, the facts and circumstances relative to
this deplorable event, the retation of which I thought
would be of n nature to interest you. I am pleased with
the confidence you have shown me by asking this relation
at my hands, and thank you sincerely for the same. I
thank you more especially for the opportunity you
have given me ofpreseuting to you a full and ca.ndid ex­
position of my conduct and intentions in thecircnm­
stances so dangerous and eo delicate in which I acci­
dentally fouod m1Beif involved.

With sentiments of the bigbeet consideration and re­
spect,

I have the honor to be, Sir:
Your most ob't humble Rer't,

.T. B. A. BROUILLET, Priest,
Vicar-General of Walla Walla.

•

I arrh'ed at the mi!!sion on Thursday morning, 2d of
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December, and announced to tbe inmates the frightful
tidings which were yet unknown to them.

On the 3d lhe BiBhop cnllod for tho Young Chief .nd
bis brother, Five Crowi, in order to express to thbrn
bow deeply be had been pained by tbe news of tho hor­
rible affair at Wailatpu, and to recommend to their care
the widows and or"pho.os, as well all the meD, who had
8urvivcd the massacre. They protested they gave no
consent to what had happened at Waiiatpu, and prom­
ised to do nil in their power for the survivors.

Some days after we learned that a young man, who
bad been en~aged workillg at a saw-mill some twenty
miles from the establishment of the Doctor, with some
other Americans, had been killed on bis return from ihe
mill to the Doctor's, and that tbe Indians intendod to
ki II the others.

On tbe 10th we received the painful intelligence that
two other young mon, who, bein~ sick, bad been apal'ed
by tbe India"os at the time of the fil"st maijsacl'O, Lad
since been torn from their bed and cruelly butchor~d.

We learned at the same time tLut tho other men be­
longin~ to the mill bad been spared nnd brought to the
Doctor's for the purpose of tuking Ca"C of tlJe women
and clJildrcn.

On the 11th of December we had the nftlietion to
bear that aile of the l:llptives had been l:arried off from
the Doctor's hOUl;:,e by tho order of Fi\'o Crows, nud
brou~ht to him; and we learned thtlt two otlJeH; had
been violated at the DOl:tor's houf:Oe.

00 the 16th two Nez Perce chiefli (inimilpip and Tip­
ialanahkeikt) brought us the following Idter* from Mr.
Spalding ,- '

CLEAR IVATER, Dec. 10th, 1847.
To lhe BiBhop of lVall. W.lla or cithOl' of tbo Calbolic

pl'i~6tA :
Reverend and dear friend,-
This hasty note may inform you that I am yet alive

through the astonishing mercy of God. The band of

.We bad Te&llOD to be &lltnnisbed at that confiden"ce of tbose Indianll. lUI
1t'e bA.d bad as yet no opportunity of seeing anyone of the Nea Peroe! linee
ltIlr arrival iD. the country.
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the merciful God brought me to my family after six
dayB and nights from the time my dear friendt fur.
nished me witb provisiuns, and I e~capt"d_ from the In.
dianA. My daughter is Jret a captive, I fcar, but in the
bands of OUf merciful heavenly father. Two Indians
have gone for her. My object in writing is principally
to give infm"mation through you to the Cayusestbatitis
our WiRh to have peace; £hat we de not wish the Amer_
icans to come from balow to avenge the wrong; we hope
-the CayllscB and tbe Americans will bo on fricnuly
terms; t.hat Americans will no more come in their
country lInlc88 they wish it. ·As tloon as thC8C men re.
turn, I hope, if ali~e, to send them to the Governor tf)
prevent Americans from coming up to moleRt the Cuy­
uses for what is done. I know that you will d.o all in
your power for the relict of the captives, women and
children, at \Vailatpti; you will spare no pRiDS to up­
pen~e and quiet the Indians. There 1'\1'0 :five Americans
bere, my wife and three ('hildreo, one yOllng woman.
and t.wo Frenchmen. We cannot leave tbe countrv
withouL help. Onl' help under God is in your Iwnds
nnd in the hands of the Hudson's Bay Company. Can
help come from that source? Ask their nd\"icc and leI
me know. I urn certain, that if the Americans "lIould
attempt to come it would be likely to p"ove the ruin of
us all in this upper country, nnd would involve the
country in war: God grant that th(,y may not attempt
it. At this moment I have obtriined permission of the
Indians to write more, but I have hut a moment.
Ples!ie send this or copy to Go\"ernor Abernethy. The
Nez Perce~ held 'a meeting ycslCl'day i they pled~('d

the'ns~lves to proLect us from the CaYll!~es if they would
pre\'ent tho Americllns fl'om com;n~ up to nvcnf.{e the
ICurders. This we have pledged to dOl and for this we
bel-{ for the ~ake of OUI' lit'es at this pia.cc and at 1111'.
'Valker'8.. By nil means keep quiet and send no war
repOl'tFl, send nothing blJt proposals for peace. They sU."
they have buried the death of the 'Valla Walla (;hic~~
80n~ killed in California. They ~wish us to bury tl115
offence. I hope to wl'ite soon to GoV". Abernethy, but as
fet ~be IndinDR are not willing, but are willing that I

tHy dear lri~d, because he was yet in tho hole. as thelndiaollaid.
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,boold .end tho.e hint. throogh you. I hope you will
send hJ: all mean. ond with all .peed, t.o keD!, quiet i~
the ·Wlllamette. Could Mr. Grant come thul way, It
,,"ould be a great favor t<Jo us and do good to the Indiana.

I just learl\ that theBe Indians wish U5 to remain in
tbe country 88 hostages of peac~. They wish tbe com­
municntioll fol' Americans to bW" kept open. We are
willing to remain 80 if poace can be socured. It does
!Jot seem s3,fe for us to attempt to leave the country in
flOy way at present. May the God of hoaveD protect UI
tLnd finally bring ponce. These two 111.en go to make
pellco, an~ when they return, if successful with the
Cayuses, they will go to the 'Villamette. We have
learned that one man escaped to Walla "raila, crossed
over the river, alld wcnt below. He would naturally
l'llppose that nil were killed. Besides myself, another
white mall escaped wounded ami reacbed my place three
.18y' before I did.

Lnte Indian I'e/)orts say that no women except Mra.
Whitma.n, or chi dron, were killed, but all are in cap­
tidty. rrbe~e people, if the Cayuses cOD~ent, will bring
l,hem all to this plaeo. .

1 trM'ded only nigbt~ and. hid my8clf days, most of
llle way on foot, as my horse iscaped fl'om me; suffered
some days from hunger and cold and Bore feet; had no
sbocs:, as I tLl'ew my boots away, not being able to wear
them, :lnd also left. blankets. God in mercy brought me
IIere. From the white man who escaped, nnd from the
Indians, we Jearn that an Indian from the Stutcs, who
was in tho employ of Dr. ·Whitman, was at the head of
tbe bloody affair, and helped demolish the windows and
take tbe property. We tbink the Cayo.e. have beeu
urged into the dreadfuJ deed. God in his mercy forgive
lhem, for they know not what they do. Perhaps theae
men can bring my horsii and things. Please give all
particulars you bave been able to learn, and what newa
has gone below. How do the women and children fare?
l10w extensive 18 the war? In gi\'ing this information
and Beading this letter below to Governor Abernethy,
you will oblige your afflicted frienu. I would write di-
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reedy to the Governor, bot tho Indians wish me t-o res:
till they return.

YOUTS in affection aDd wi t.h l best wishes!
(Signed) • H. H. SPALDING.

• •

The two Nez PeTc~biefl5 advised the CftJU9C8 to tah
mensures for avoiding'! war with the Americans. Th~"
requested the Bishio:r to write to Gov. Aberoethy, b(,g.
ging him not to BeD up nn army. but nlthcr to COm~

himself in the spring and mako u troat.y of peace with
the Cf!.YUSC8, who promi~ed that they would then 1'e1(,3'f'
the captives of Wailatpu,-promising besides to offcrr.o
injury to Americans nntil they heard 'tbe news from the
Willamette. The Bishop told them he was glad of tb,i,
proceeding, nnd was disposed to assist.. thorn to the fX.

tent of his rOWel', but that he could not write withom
knowing the opinion of the Cu.yUi'CS, and that as 1.'0011

as he could learn this he would send au exprcr;.s below.
He then encouraged them to s('c all tbc chief."3 about it

On thc 18th,of D13cembcr Camal-:pclo Ct\me to aee the'
Bishop, and told him that he h:al disl\ppro,·cd of nil th:lt
had bappened at \Vailatpu,-thnt the young mcn had
stolen. his word. He sccrncrl discouraged,. and e.pokc.o]
killing all the horses aud of lca\·jng tile country, tiS ail
the Indians expected to dlO. Thc Biehop !'uc('ced(:d in
raising his spirits a Iitlle by l'eprc!'entiug to him th('
possibility of' yet obtaining penec, and told him t.llat the
chiefs ought to meet as soon :is possible, in ordcl' to
come to nn understanding among thcmsch·cs t\s to what
was best to do in this matter; tb:it the morc they de­
layed, the moro difficult the nrrang-cmcnt of affairs
would becomo.
. Tho 20th being fixed upon as thc dny of tbe meeting.
Cam8spel0 rctired with apparently inci·cMcP. courag('.
promising to notify the other chiefs and socure their :It·
tendance. Accordingly on Monday, 20th Dccembel'~ :\t
the Catholic mission J the Cayuses assembled in GrfLnJ
Cooncil, held by Tnwatoc1 (or You~g Chief,) Tilok~il\t.

Acbekaia, (or Five Crows,) and Camaspelo
J

all tlJcgre:lt
chiefs of the Cayuses, in presence of many other gl'c~t

men (second chiefs) of the nation. About 10 o'clock In
the morning they all entered the mission bOU80. The
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Bishop was present, together with Messrs. Rou8seau,
J,ecla1re and mysell:

After a ueep silence of some minutes the Bishop ex~

plBiDed tD them the ohject of the ..ceting. He hegan
by expre38ing to them tbe pleasure he felt in soring them
tbus assembled for tbe purpose of deliberatiDg on a most
important ~ubject-tbat of avoiding war, which is al.
ways a groat evil. He told them' that in mattet'S of im..:
partance they should a1 \Va.Ys holll a council nnd consult
tbOBe who might he best able to giYC them good ad\"ice;
that in gidng their advice "opal'utely, thoy woro liable
to be misunderstood, nnd thereby expose thomi'O(~h'esand
their people to gl'cat misfol'tunes; and he was p·orsuaded
that if the chiefs had uelil>cratcd together they would
Dot now lla'\"o to deplore the horrible ma8St1Cl'O of 'Vai­
latpu, nor to leur its probable consequences. lIo told
them that two N(,z Pel'co chiefs had 3l:~ked him to ''''rite
to tbe Great Chief of the Willnmottu to obtain pC'nco,
but that be could DoL do so without tho tJonsl'nt of tho
Cayuses; that tbe proposition!" which those chiC'f8 wi~bed

to send were these :-let. Thnt Amerionns Khould not
come to mnke war; 2J.. That tbey should sond up two
or tbroe gl-eat men to maku 3 treaty of pea-co j iJd. f!'ho.t
whon these .~rcut men i)hould ul'I'ive nil the captives
~hould be released j 4th. That they would offor no of.
fence to Americans before knr.lwing the flews fl'om below,

The Biehop then desired them to speak and to Bay
what they thonrrht of these propositions.

Camaspelo 8p~ke first. He was blind and ignornnt,
nnd hud despaired of the life and sah'ation of bif'l nation,
but the words of the Bishop had oponed Lis CYC8, COD­

'iOled and cnt'ouraged him; thnt he hud confidenco llnd
lbat be approved the propositions.

Tilokaikt tbell rose to sny that he wus DoL n. groat
speaker, Bnd that his tllik would not be long. lIe then
reviewed the history of the nation since the arrival of
the wbites* in the country down to the present time.
He said that beforo they had been ~i8ited by white meD
the Indians were nlwayR at war; that at the place whero
Fort \Valla Walla. now stood notbing but blood was COD·

•
• French, or Bod.on'. Bny Cumpepy people.

6
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tineally ""CD; tbat tbey blid been taugbt by tbe wbit..
there was a God who forbid men to kill each otLer; that
since this tima they had lilways lived in peace and cn.
deavored to perSlltlOO others to do the same. He euiC).
gised Mr. Pambrun, spoke of Do Nez Perce chief who
had becn killed on his way to the Statos, afterwards of
tbe 80n of Ycllow Serpent, who had been killed by Amer.
Icaps in Califomia; aaid that they bad forgotten all this.
He spoke also of Dr. \Vbitman and Mr. Spalding, and
finished by saying that Hince they had forgotten all, bfl
bopc~ the Americans would also forgot ",'bat had been
recently dono, that now they were even. He spoke
nearly two bours.

Achckaia (or Five Crows) arose only to suggest Some
other propositions which ho wished added to those aI,
ready o.nnounced.

The Young Chief said but little. He said he WM weak
nod did not feel able tQ talk long. He 1\'1\.8 in favor of
the propositions us well as thORO who had spoken before
him.

Edward, tho 80n of Tilokaikt, t.hen came forward,
bom'jog iu his band the Catholic Ladder 8tained with
blood: he repeated the words which Dr, Whitman had
used when he showed it to them, onc or two weeks be.
fore ho died: II You see this blood! it is to show you that
now, because you have fhe priests among you, the country u
going to be covered with blood! ! You will have nothing nOft

but blood!" He then related what had passed, gave a
touching picture of the afflicted ff~miliCl8 in seoing born('
to the gl'avc a father, a. mother, a b.-othOl" or a sister i
spoke of a single member of 0. family wbo bad been lefl
to woep alono over all tbe rest who had disappeared.
He stated how and for whnt the murder had been com·
mitted, entered in th'o most minute details, avoiding, how·
OVCI', to give any knowledge of the guilty; repoated the
words which J0 Lewis suid bad passed between Dr.
\Vhitman, bis wife, and Mr. Spalding, and finally spoke
of the pretended declaration of Mr. Rogers at the mo­
ment of bis death: "that Dr. lVhitman had beon poison­
ing the Indians."

After having deliberated together the chiefs concludN
by adding something to the propositions of the Nez Per·
ces, iO$isting pri'ncipally upon the reasons which they
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~
TILOKAJKT,
CAMASPELO,

TAWATOWE,
l ACHEKAIA.•

(Signed)
•

TOB WHITMAN MASSAC8E.,
pretended ought to excuse their aClion, and requested
ilie Bishop to st:lnd to the Governor in their name the
following manifesto:-

II The principal chiefs of the Cayuses in council as-8cm·
bier! state: That a young Indiall wlw under!o1tandd Eu­
Jrlisb t and who slept in Dr. Whitman's room, beard the
Doctor, his wife, and Mr. Spalding, express tllt'il' desire
of P08flcssing- the land~ and 8,J)imal~ of tbe Illdian8; that
be stated also that Mr. Spalt..ling said to the Doctor:
-barry giving medicines to tho Indians that they may
soon die;' that tbe Burne Indian told the Cayuses: 'if
)·ou do not kill the Doctor 600n, you will nIl be dead
before spring j' that they buried Rix CllyUF;CR on Sunday,
November ~~th, and three the next duy; that the t:lchoul­
master, Mr. Uodgers, stated to them boforc be died, thut
the.Doctor, Lis wifc~ anu bIro Spalding poisoned the JD·

dia.na; that for several years 1)08t t1wy had to deplore
the death of tht'ir children, and that ac<:ording to these
reports they were led to belicve that the wbitcr:> hud un­
dertaken to kill them all j and that these WCI'C the
motives which lC'd tllcm to kill the Amcricalls.

The sUllie chiefs ask at prcRcnt-
ht. That the Amcl'ico.D~ may not go to war with the

Cayuses.
id. That tbey may forget the Intely committed mur­

ders, as the Oayust'.,.. will IOl'get the murder of t.hp ROil of
tbe great chief of Walla. Walla, committed in Calituniu.

3d. That two or tbree great Ir.en may come up to COli­

elude peace.
4th. 'rhat as soon as these great men have arrived and

concluded pC'llce, they may take with them ull the
women and <:hildrcn.

5th. 'They gi\'e assurance that they will not harm ,the
J\mericans beel/To the arrival of tbC8U two or three gn'at
men.

lith. They I\Slk that Americans may not travel any
more through their country, 0."4 their young meD might
do them harm. '

Phwc of Tawatowc, Youmatilla,
2Uth December,1h47,
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The Bishop accompanied this manifesto with a l('ttcr
addressed to the GIJVernOT, which concluded in these
terlllS: ,,] t is sufficient to I'Itate that all these speeches
went to ahow, that since they bad been instructp.d by till:
white!:! they abhorr~d war, and that the tra:.{cd'y of' the
29th had occurred from an anxious desire of self·preser.
vation, and that it was the reports made against thl'
Doctor and others which Jed them to commit this net
They dHsire to have the past forgotten and to live in
peace as bcfhre. Your Excellency has to judge of the
value of' the documEmts which I have bo"n requested to
forward to you. Nev"'rthcless, without having the ICll~t
intention to influence one way or the other, I feel my,~df

obliged to tell you, that by going to war with the Cay.
U8e:;, you will likely ha\'e all the Indians of this COunln­
8.).,t"ainst you. 'Vould it be for the interest of a 'yOUll~

colony to exposc herself? That, you will ha,·e to dee ide
with your Council.

Beforo taking 'leave of the Chiefs, the Bishop said tl)
them nil publicly, as he hao ahm done l:lcveral times pri,
vatcly, tlJat those who hat! taken American gil·ltl should
gi\'c thl'm up immediately. And then all entrellted Fi\'\.'
Crows to give up the one whom be hat! takcn, but to nu
purpose.

Alr Ogdcn had arrived at Fort 'Vullo. Wlilln on the
l!llh 1If' lit'cember, in the evel.Jing, with the inwntion (If
ohtaining from the Cayuse", the release of nil the Allwr­
icall Ill'i,.;oners lie had sent immediately an expre:ss to
the l'UYU:'W8, notifying the chiefs to a~semble without lk..
lay at 'Valla Walla_ 'l'he ~ame tlXprt"8~ had bJ"Ought a
leiter tu the Bishop reqnc!'lting bim to attend thoa~s,'Ill­

hi.)' of the chidti. Tho llil')hop bcing unablo to atl('IlJ
then, I went 10 J<"'nrt Walla 'Valltl on the 2]~t, 'in ('(Jill­

)lully wilh all hldian chieJ~ 10 meet ?ift-. Ogden, and tu
illtlJl'm him of' what had passed in the Cuuucil held lilt'
d:\)' befllro at the lIli::lsion. It wus the fil'ijl, timo thut
Illly one of' us had dnroll to leave t he Young Chil·f~

('amp siucc tile bUl'ial of' the murderl·t!. and Mr. Spaid.
ing·s escape, fOl' fear of the Indians of Tilokaikt'5
camp, .

At the renewed request of Mr. Ogden, the BishOp
cu,me to the Fort next day, and op the 23d the llSserubl)'
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convoked by Mr. Ogden took place. Tbe Young Chief
and Tiloknikt, with a dozen young men, were in tile
rOOm, and at half paat nine, A. M., Mr. Ogdl'n opened
the meeting. He sEoke forcibly against the ma8t<>ncre,
tbrew the whole b arne up.on the chief~, who, he: f'sid
knew DOt how to restrain their young men. He told
them it was useless t.o 'have chiefs if, they are not
list-cllcd to. He made them understand that he did not
come on the purl. of the Americans; thnt he had left,
Vancouver before they knew what had passed at Wilil.
atpU; that be knew the Cayuse~, and had been known
by the-m a long time; that the French people (HudRon's
Fay Company) had never deceiv~d thelll; tbat he hoped
they would listen to his words j that the Company did
uot meddle with the affairs of tbe AmcricanR; that thero
were three parties, the Americans on one side, tho Cay­
uses on the other, and the French people snd the priests
in the Iniddle j that the Company was there to trade nnd
the priests to teach them their dutics; listcn to tilo
priests, said he sevcral timcs, listen to tho pricsts, they
will teach you how to lend a good life j tho priests do
not come to make wur, they carry no arms, tbey carry
but tueir crucitixes,* nnd with thorn they cannot kill.
He insisted particularly, and at several times, upon the
distinction neccsStlry to be made between the affairs of
the Company and those of the Americans. He suill to all
the Cayuses that lhey bad Chiefs to whom they ought to
listen j that the young mcn were blind, and tbeir chiefs
.hould uot allow them to do as they pleased. He told
them that he had come with a charitable design; that
he demanded of the chiefs that they sbould give up to
him all the Americans who were now c3ptive~ j but that
they should understand well that he did not promise
them that tbe Americnns would not come to make war;
he promised them ooll that he would Flpcnk in their
r"vor. If they would release the captives he would give
tbem fifty blankets, fifty shirts, ten guns, tcn fathoms of
tobacco, ten handkel'chiefs and one hundred balls and
powder.

The Younl( Chief thanked Mr. Ogdeu for tbe good
advice' he had given them and approved of what he had

The Oblate, who coD.tantly oarry a crucifix on their hre&lt. were prolont.
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regard to the eaptiveR }lO said that it
Tilokaikt to speak as they were 00 bi~

8aid, but in
belonged to
lands.

'J'ilokaikt then spoke oC the hnrmony that bad always
existe.d between them and th.e }"'rench people; that thl'
French had espoused their danghters. and that the~' had
been buried in the aame burial grouud, etc. He contlu.
ded by Raying that he would release the capti,~e8 to Mr.
Ogd'en, becnuse he was old, nnd his hair wns white, and
that be had known him a long time, but that ont"
younger than Mr. Ogden could not have bad them.

The Nez Perces (or Sabaptin) came afte.r the Cayu,.;e~

and promised to 'release .Mr. Spalding and all other
American cnptivcs who were with them.

Mr. Ogden promised them twelve blanketfl, hn'ln"
shirts, two gUllS, 1\.(0)V8 handkerchiefs, fh-c fathom!' of
tobacco, two hundred balls and powder, and some kniveii.

The Bisbop expressed to the Cayuses and N ez PC"ce~

the pleasure he felt in seeing them willing to release tb~

eap,tives.
They ag.'eed upon the time when the captives should

be at the Fort., and the quantity of' provisions necessary.
The Catholic Ladder, which Dr. 'Vhitmnn bad stained

with blood, was given to Mr. Ogden by nn Intlian 'who
had it ~n his possession. Mr. Ogden received also at hi~

request from another on8 the ridiculous 'laq,der* whiC'h
Mr. Spalding had been carrying amongst the Indians
in opposition to the priests.

On the 29th the captives of Wnilatpu nrrrived at the
Fort to the number of fort'y-~ix, who together wilh fiye
already at tho Fort malic fifty-one.

The Bishop determined to avail himself oC the offers
of Mr. Ogden, and to descend in the boats that wer(' to
convey tho captives. •

J anuar)' 1st, 1848, ~Ir. Spalding arrived at the Fort

-A picture representing two rnad, towards heaven-a wide one, wb~~
the Pupe i~ selling indul~enees Ilnd forginof'ss of sins, and tbe .Catbl)ll~>
were 8een going, /lnd at t~e upper end nf whi~b they were all flLlhng htad­
foremo8t into bell, nod a narro,," one wbere the Proteslant8 were 8urJll)~c(1
to go, but apparently 80 difficult to :l8eeod tbat none were seen ..~ce~d~n:;
it. Mr. Spnlding blld been earryin-g it "'Ulong the Indian!. Bod eJ.pll\lD~Dg

it toJ them for .ome Hmo.
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with his family and the other captives, accompanied hI
ifty Nez Perces. . .

During the time which had passed from t~e assembling
of the chiefs to the arrival of the capti~e8 at the Fort,
Mr. Ogden had 110t been wit.hout mquietude. Divers
rumors were in circulntion amon:,: the Imlians. It was

~

!!nid that nn arm)' had arrh'cd at the Dalles, and they
bad come to avenhJ"C the murdel·~. It was fenred tha~

these rumors might change the minds of the Indinlls.
and canso them to retain the l'llptives. The Indiaus
came from time to time to ask it it wus true thnt tho
Americans were at the Dnllcf.l. MI'. OgdC'1l told them
that he know nothing about it, but that he did 1I0t Lclicvo
it. Indeed, it was difficult to helic'rc the AmericuD8
would decide to come up 80 SOOIl, knowing that :Mr. Og­
den was in the mid~t of the Indians, occupied ill treating
for the dclivernnce of the captives, for it was easy to­
suppose thnt the first news of such a step would br<>ak
ofr'all negotiatiolls aod probauly become the Hignal tor
the general massacrc of nIl those unfhrtullllte beings. It
Wl18 certainly the conviction of Mr. Spulding, 8S ex­
pressed, in his lettor to the Bishop, ws well Uli that of all
the while. at Wall. Walla. '

A8 soon as Mr. Spaldin~ had arrived, .Mr. Ogden de-­
cided that tbe departure should take place on the follow­
ing day.

The morning of the 2nd the Bishop conferred the order
of priesthood upon two c1ergJmcH of the congregation
of the Oblates, both destined for the Yakima Indiaus on·
tbe, north Elide of the Columbia, where they had a mi8­
sion already commenced, and not for the misI'ion of the'
Nez Perces, as Mr. Spalding has said. .A t 8C"cn o'clock
the ceremony was over, but in spite of all the diligence·
and nctivity of Mr. Ogden, tlley were unable to start.·
before half:past twelve.

The bont. h.d only left the Fort a lew hou,·. with all
the capth·c8 1 when fifl:.y armed Cayusc warriorI' nrrived,
for the purpose, as they said, of taking and killing .ur.
Spalding', as they bad ascertained that American 80Jdil~",
had arrived at the Dalles on their journey up.

On arriving at the Dalles, Mr. Spalding proved that
the Indians had judgcd him pretty corrc<'U.r ,-when,
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upon hearing bis letter rend, they snid: U He spt'akll
well, but it is: because he is in a hole!,'-for RCBl'cely had
he put bis feet ou sbore wben he said to .M ajar Lee:
UHasten up with your company in order to Rurprisu the
Indians and save the Animals of the mission," These
word. were immediately reported to the Bishop by Mr.
Ogden, who beard tbem himself. He snid still mOTC to
Major Magonc; for he designated all the Cayu8us as
worthy of death, with the feeble exception of five Or six,
whose names he gave.

At noon on the 8th tbo boats arrived at Fort Van.
couver.

On the 10th Mr. Ogden was again en route to conduct
the captives to OroKon City, where he. delivered them
into the hands of' Gov. Abernethy; to whom he <.h'Ii\,.
ered al80 a written account of what he had done for the
deliveraD(~e of the captives, to~etber with !th. Spaldings
letter to t,he Bishop, the manifesto of the Cayuse chit'f~

and the Bishop's letter to the Governor that accompa·
nied said manifesto. And as the editors of the OfPgon
Spectator wished to publish but a part of Mr. Spaldill~',

letter, Mr. Ogden t.old them that they tlhould print the
whole of' the letter ~r no part of what he hud given
them for that purpose j thoy collsented rcluctantlJ to
publish the whole.

On the 15th the Bishop was at St. Paul's Mission,
Willamette.

After the departure of the Bishop I had remained
alone with 1tlr. Leclaire at the mission on tbe Umatilla,
where we continued to rcside until tbe 20th of Febru­
ary, in continual anxiety, between the fear of war. ODd

the hope of' peace. Indian reporls of all kindd were in
circulation every day, saying that there were troofl8
already at tbe Dillies, thut. they hact fOllght with the In·
dians of that country, and that they had dcslI'oyed (iD­

tire ~illa.!::es. On the other hand, prudence and the in­
terest of the colony seemed to us to demand that the
Governor should Dot disregard the propositions of the
Indians, but that he should enter into negotiations of
peace witb them. A letter from Mr. Ogden would ha\"e
removed our uncertainty; fOT, on the delivery of the
captives, be promised tbe Indiall~ that ho would exert
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himself in their behalf to fl,(>:cure peace with the Ameri­
C1L08, und.that:lS soon a8 the Government had dccid....-d.
",heLher for peace or for war, ho would Bend them an
expre~8 to Fort \\1a 1l0. Wal!n to apprise them of the ro­
I!ult. Bntthis express came not. 'fh", Indial18 b('~ran to
suspect tpat Mr. Ogden had bctrnyec.l them, His tetter.
by accident, did not arrive until aftcr the first engage·
mellt between the troops and the Cayuses Had" iL
arrived in time, it would IlrobnlJly hn\'c pre\·ented the
engagement and induced the Cai'uses to acce}lL peaee
U~III the ~erms offered by the Gov(>I'Jlmcllt.

In the midHt of 50 much nncertaiuty we dm_ired to
withdl"Q.w from alllong the Ca'yu8e~, but to do this a good
f('1180n wail. nccc8:o\ary tl1l.1.t could ~llti8(r tho Indil\lls, and
this rcason we hal! not. I had promi:o-cd to renll\ill with
them as long us they were at peace. but had told them
that] should retire us ~oon a~ wur shnuld be dcelarcd.
I was obliged to keep my word with t1H'm.

However, on the 19th of Febl'utlr.y, thc CaYllFle8 hav­
ing ~onc to meet the AmCl'iclln tl'ooll8, we hnd n. riJ.{ht to
l.'Ollslder war as illl,.'vituble. if not olr('arly declllrl'd j und
from thi~ moment my wOI·d was di~en!-ru,l.{ed. We ther&.
foru made choice of the fil'tlt 0llpurtunity that presented
ilfl;clf fOI" rl,tiring, and on the next day We dl'pllrtcd for
Fort Wal1:l Wltllll, whel'c we remaineu until tlie 13th of
MtlrclL A tow day'" I\tlE'r our t.Iepa,·tltl·c the C:I,YUI'I('S
bnrncd Qur hunse and tie8troycti the property we lind
It:l't among diem.

Un the 1~lh of March. the Commis.~ioner~ al'poiut.ed
10 trout for pt'a{'c with the I ndilllls. bt,jug about to de­
8<:clId to \rillnmctte, we uvailed ollr~ch·e~ of' tho oppur­
tuuil'y, llnd dc~ccnllct.I wilh tlll'lll. nct,'omplLnicd by the
lIli~~iollal'Y Oblutt,S of Yllldlllu l'iVt'r.

Tile SUPCl'illtcllU\'nt of Indian A tfl1iJ'lo' huvi 111{ i8fl;ued, on
tllO 15th of June, Ull ()J'(JCI' to !'ltop all tl e Illi~Mionliry

IlllHn-~ amllll;'; the !m.liunlS, we lIlud{\ no cffelrt to 1'0 eM­
tablish·our lIlisl:'ion nmOll~ the (;1l'yUSCr.l, but dcferred it
uutil mOl'e favorable (;ircuJIlstan<:c""
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CHAPTER V.

Summary of the prilc.cipal accusatlon& made. against t~

Catlwlie Clergy of Walla Walla, by Mr. Spalding and
OtMTS, fDt'th an. altSwer to each of them.

:Mr. Sjialding stated in tbe Oregon American and else­
where :
• 1st. That the massa.cre or \Vailatpti had becn COm.

mitted by the Indians in hutred of the heretics, as PI'G­
testanti ollly, and no Catholics, werc killed, and iusinun.
ted tbat it ua.d been committed at the instigat.ion of the
priests.

tnd. '£bat the priests baptised tbo children nnd filln­
ilies of the murderers, and tbe murderers thcm~cJvC8 im.
mediately after tbe massacre, as they had their haud~

IItill dripping with the warm blood of the murdered, and
80 appro\"cd the massacre.

3rd. 'rbat the Bil:Shop and the priclits were going and
coming through the country, and resided among the mur.
t.Ierbr8 unmolested ancl appcaring to feel in Bulel)", and
gave it ulS a new proof that they had had a hond in the
ma'Umcre.

4th. That soon after the massacre the priests 'nrc
making prepartttioliB to begin new f'uuiolls. nnd to plll"Sue
:with renewed effort::! those already begun; and that th('J
had ..attled at Wailatpu immediately after the departure
of the cll.ptives.

5th. That neither the Bishop nor any of hiR priests
went near the {~aptivc8 of 'Vailatpu anel' the baptil:im of
the murderers, alld they conclud~d they Lau no compas­
sion nor charity (OJ' them.

6th. ffhu.t t~e Roman Catholic priests hud offered a
I(reat price to Dr. 'Vhitlllan 1br his station. but he fr·
fused to sell it; they hau told .Ilirn again to fix his pl'ice
and they '''''ould pay it, but he had I'efused obstinatcly 10

sell; and they concluded the priests w{>re determined to
have it by any mcans.-(Mr. John Kinzay, in the Oregon
American.)

7th. That ~mc of tbe priests, who wcre at \Vn113
Walla, did not offer their beds to Mr. Osborne's wife,
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fihile she was sick; that they gave neither blankets nor
rood to Mr. Osborne wben be started ~r tbe purpose of
looking up hiB family, and that they did not preveDt him
frOID starting with his family for the river (Umatilla).­
(M.r. Osborne, in the Oregon American.)

8tb. Tbat tilo Bisbop of Walla Walla bad oome with
bis priests into a country w'bero there was no church or
Cs'tbolic station, aod DO stationu.ry priest, but that wae
entirely occupied by Protcstant miFisionariee, the most
of whom had worked thel'c peaceably for elev-en venrB.-
lYr. Spalding) •

9th. 1.'bat Jo. Lewis, Joseph Stanfield, and Nicholu
Finlay, who had been soen plundering, were Catbolics,
and from that concluded against Catholics in general.­
lYr. Spaldiog.)

10th, That the priests neglected to have the bodies 01
the victims of the massacre buried, wben they bad the
facilities of doi ng 80.-(Verbal reports, attributed to Mr.
Spalding.)

1I tho 'I'but tbo Bishop ne~lcctcd to gi~c to Mr. Spald­
ing some infQl'mation which bo asked in regard to biB
daughter and the other captives.-(Mr 8palding.)

12th. That a young American was killed ~t \Vnilatpo
Bt:l o'clock P. M., 011 rrue8dny, just about tho time the
priest tlTrived, and insinuated that tbo priest caused him
to ho kiJIod.-(Mr. Spalding.) ,

13th. That tlie pl'iests concerted at W llilntpu with
Mr. M'Bean's mes,sengel's the lotter which he (Mr.
)l'Bean) sent to }-"Ol't Vancouvel' in order to deceive the
public about the true causes of the InUl·ucr.-(Editor of
t.he Ortgon American,

14th. TlJat the Cntholic missional'icFl dcspiRCd tho au­
lllority of the GO\'cl'llor und of thc Jndiall Agent, who
had commanded them to leave the Indian country.­
(Editor of the Oregon American.)

15th. That one of tbe priest8 had beeD met by Mr.
Bpaldillg in compauy with an Indian wilo had the avow­
ed intelltion to kill him, and thut tbo Indian, wh08e pi.
tol was unloaded, retired to an unobBcrved place to reload
it i and insinuated that tbe intention of that priest waR
to havo had billl killod by that Indian.-(blr. Spslding.)

16tb. And, finally, tbat tbo priests hod told tho IndiaD~
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everywhere thAt the Protestant missionaries were CD,U&.

.tog tbem to diof'nnd the Walla Wa.lIa chief in parti<:u,
. "lnr; that they were poisoning them; that it was tL('

Americans who bft.d brought the measles among them
and that God had sent that sickness among them to BLo-q:
His batred against tbe heretics; and they pointed to that
68 the source from ,yhich ot-iginatcd the indirect C'8UtleS

DC tb. massa.r•.-(Mr. Spalding.)
I will now proceed to rectify those statements and

give a sbort aDswcr to each of thorn:
1st. Tbc massacre of Wailatpu has not been commit.

ted by the Illdiane in hat rod of tho beTitics. Jf Ameri.
cana only have been killed, it is because the war had
been declared by the Indians ngninElt tbe Americnns only.
.nnd Dot against foreigners, it was therefore in their
41uality of Amcl'ictlD citizens and not as Prote~tant5 that
the Indians killed them: as a proof of this I state the
fact that two sons of .All'. ManRon; a Protestant gentleman
of the Hudson's Bay Company, who, being Protestants
as well u,s their fatber, wdt"o sclected by the Indians
(rom tbo American children and sent to }t'ort \Valla
Wnlla-find as n second proof I will observe that the
Indialls who porpetrated the massacro were all Protest.
ants

l
and after tbe massacre remained Protestants us

before. and continued to pray after tho method th:\t
- their Protestant missionaries bad taught them, as Mr.
Bpnlding bim••lf affirms.'

2nd. We never baptiijed any of the mlll"derers nor
their families; such an assertion h:ts been a shamC-'ful
!landcr brought upon Ui like many otbers. The only
thing done in thfl matter of bnptism connected with
that (,1rcuffiFltnnce is what follows :-As stated in my reo
lation'of Lhe affair to Col. Gilliam, I had gone to 'rilo­
knikt's cllmp, without being aware of what bad p~sscd
in its vicinity, for tbe purpose of baptisin~ the sick chil·
dren and the dying ndults wbom I could dispose for
baptism. On the morning I wus there, when about
Itarting to pay a vi15i~ to the widows and orphans of the
mission, and to bUI'y the corp6Cs, I inquired after the

-Five of tbose ",bo w~re hung at Oregon City on the 3d of JUDO, 16:10.
embraced then the CKtholic faith 8nd were baptised by the Arehbuhop. F.
N. BJuohet, a felt' houn before their execution.
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Indians who were uaugeroudly sick and expect.ed to dio.
'Sane were found in tbe camp but throe 1."OUD·" children
~ J 0 J

.hom I b1l.ptised, and two of them died Boon after; two
01 the three were slavos, and I did not learn to whom
the other child belonged. Nothing morc was done.
NO~t no sensible person could suspect tbat I intended

to appro\"o of the murderous deed b,- baptising those
children, if they only knew what trw principle9 ami
practice of the Catholic Church nrc in rc~aTc.J to baptism
of in(ant8. The Church teaches that baptism is of nbs()..
luto necessity to the salvation of infant8 8S well as of
ndults, and not holding chih.lreu r('~ponsiblc for tho
fnults of tbeir parents 01' others, she comm:\fllJs ber
ministers alwD.)·s to bnptieo them, wha.to\·er may La tho
circumstances, in nny easo of neccssity 01' dangor of
death. :Besides, those cLildl'cn were uot offerod to mo
for baptism by their fathers with their hands dl'ipping
with blood, anu asking for an nppro,"nl of their deed,
as Las been S:lid j but it was upon my 0\'('"0 r('qlle~t, and
,repeatedly made, that their owners (two of them \\'ero
slaves from other tribes) reluctantly cOllsented to allow
tbem to be baptised.

3d. The goingi nnd (:omings of tho olergy through
the country oe"or existed but in tho warm imagination
of Mr. Spalding j and inst('ud of that security whieh bo
supposed we felt. some of us trembled from feur "cry
frequently, It was three weeks:t.fler tile massacro that,
00 the urgent request of Mr. Ogden, ODe of us dured for
the first lime, since the burial of tbo murdered \"i<'fims,
to !('nt'C tbo carhp of the Young Chief and go to Walla
Walla; and tbeD, being the day th:1t followed the conn·
cilof the Cnyuscs at the Cuthulic misRion, the Indians
appt"arcd more quieted thUD b('fore bJr tllo hopo of pCllce,
which tbe Ictter of .M r. Spalding nnd the wCI'ds of tho
Bisbop bad produced In their minds i and moroo\'er they
had promised to fltop nny furtber hostilities until tho
intentions of tl18 Government werc known j nnd beside.,
that. Priest wag accompanied by one of tbo chien~, who
could have protected him :l~ainst UIIY of the young men
who bad bad intentions. Before that time we ba.d (;:00·

8~dered it unsafe for us to go at an)' distance from tho
'Young Chiera camp, on account of the evil dispositiou&

7
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of a portion of the murderer" toward. U8 since .Mr
Spalding's escape, 8S some of them could not forgive ~
for having taken their intended victim from their hand,
and as a letter from. WaUa.Walia bad warned us to ~
on our guard on that account.

It is an.orror to Bay that the priests remained alDOnu
the murderers. This tbey never did. The Cayuse Ila~
tiOD was divided into three camps entiroly distinct frolll
.each other, each camp having its own chief, who gor.
erued his young men as be pleased; oacb of tho chicf~

were independent of the others, and thoso three camps
formed, as it were, three independent Btates of a small
federal republic, each of them adminbtcring their Own
priyate affairs as they pleased, without interference from
the others. They were tbe camps of Tilokaikt, Camas.
pelo, anu Young Chief and Fivo Crows together. Hut it
was in Tilokaikt's camp, and by his Indians only, that
Doctor Whitman had been killed: then the Indians of
that camp only could be called mUTdel'eI'S, and Ovon but
Po sIDall portion of them, since tweh'o or thirteen ouly
havo boou designated as guilty by tho army itself, when
00 the spot. Again, we never remained in l 1ilokaikt's
camp. but at a di~tance of twenty-five miles from ii, in
Young Chiefs camp, where some of the people w<,r€
Catholics, and where nobody Lad taken part in the mur·
del'. Then it is evidently incorrect to say that we have
remained among the murderers.

It is also incorreot to say that we have beon unmolested
by thc Indians, since they burned our house and effcClts a
few days after we bad started from an'lOng them, :IntI
about tbe time the troops wore coming up to their
country.

4th. It is assorted that 800n aftor the massacre the
priests were making prepal'ations to begin now stntion~

and to pursue with renewed efforts those already begun.
The proof of whicb uudoubtedly is tbat tbe Bishop
stat'ted down to the 'Villamette at the same time M Mr.
Spalding, takiog witb bim tbc Suporior nf tbe Ohlate
Father~ and another olergyman, and leaving me alone at
the Umatilla mission with a young clergyman who was
not a priest yet; and that shortly after, at tbe first op·
portunity tho)' could get, tbe remainder of bis clergy
were following his example.
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It i. a great fal••hood in Mr. Spalding to .ay that w.
!Eltt-Ied at \Vailatpu immediately after t.be deptLrturc of
tbo captives_ For tbe proof of what I say I refer to Mil
tbepeople who lived in the "icinity of Wllilatpu aDd to
tbe army. None of U8 weDt. to Wailstpu from the timo
of the burial of those who were murdered down to the
montbsof Junl) and July, when, during n trip that I hap­
pened to make to Wnlla Walla, I had tho plo""ur. of pay­
.mg a. visit to the oilleen of the army tLt j;'ort \Valers,
formerly \Vailatpu.

5th. No priest weut to 'Vailatpu "illcc tho day of the
burial; that is true. But what was the rcason of their
Dot goi09'? 'rhe reason was that on aCCoUllt of .Mr.
Spalding" escapo they could Dot go without expo.!'ing
themtselvc8 to a probable death, os rhey. had been often
warned by the Illdinu6, aDd also by a lettet from Walla
'hila; and it i8 a new proof that the p.-ietus did nut fed
80 sufe among the murtlere'tR as Mr. Spt\ldiug supposcd
they did. But if thcJ' did 1I0t go, they did all they cOllld
from theil' mission to pre\'cnt lIew misforttlne~ frum fall­
iug upon them and to lllllClioJ"llte their situution. Ad !':lOUn
as the Bishop bad I'cceiv('d the Ilew~ of the mllB~U(:I·C. he
had called the chiefs of the ('amp where ho livcd and
recommended to their care the survivors of Wailutpu;
aDd sttt'r that time the captives had always nLum.lunt
and gOlld . food, and if they hnd somt:timcs to Butter in
oome other respects, the Bil'lhop never ceased to eXcz-t his
inftucnee aDd eutrcnties with BODlC of thc <.:hil'fd 10 pUl 8

stop to it. He took a great part in·quieting: the InlJiuutl,
actively prepared them iur the l!cli\"cry of the capti\-C8,
and heartily co.opel·ated with Mr. Ogden in tl-c<:U1-jug the
same.

tith. In the supposition that wc had askcd Dr. 'Vhit­
m:ln 10 sell us his est:dJlishmenl, it. wOllld Imve )lroved
nothing ngaiu6t us, bocause it was puLlicly known lliat
Le had been for yeurs spcakinl.! of Il·aving the Cayuse
country; "that he had held himsclf ready to leave the
l"Ountry whenever the lndiuns as a body wished it," as
Mr_ Spalding ~nj-s; "that twice in lobe last year he called.
tbe Cayuses togetLer nnd told them if a mnjority wished
he would leave tho country at onco;" "that he held him­
self.ready t" .ell the W.il.tpu .tation to tbe Catbolie
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miRsion whenever a majority of the Cayuses might wisL
it;" and that "he bad bought tbe Methodist mi::ssion at
the Da.lles, where he wished to go and lil·", in the spril'g."
Under such circumstances it would not.have been Dllna,

tural to bt'lieve that be would have liked to dispose of hilS
property the same as any other individual.

But I affirm ·that such a demand bas never been made
to 1>1'. \Vhitman by anyone of us, and I give Mr. Spaid.
illg himself as a witness, when be says: "that he is not
awar~ that the Catholic mission ever applied to Dr. Whit.
man to pUl'cba~e the Wailatpu station." If such a pro.
po~ition ha.d ever been made to the Doctor, it Wll~ na.
tural that he would have spoken of it to Mr. Spuldinr,.
hits intimate friend, his fellow·member and associate in
milisionary laburs during the fifteen days that he spent
with him befure the m~sacre.

7th, As ~o the seventh complaint brought against SOme
priests who were present at '\Valla Walla wben Mr. and
.Mrt). Oshorn were there, the following statement gi>eu
by Mr. Stauloy, the artitit, who happened to be at Walla
"'ulla at the time, will throw some light upon the mut,
tel' :

"During my stay at Walla "ralia in December last"
sayt\ Mr. ~:hanley, 'II occupied a 1'00111 with two 01' more
of the Catholic I'rielits; aJ.ld lheir beds consisted of two
LluuketB with a stick of wood for their pillo\\'. '

1 arrived at Walla \Valla the ~nd of December, and
learued from MI'. McBean that M.r, Hall brought him the
til'st iutelligence of tlfe ma~sucre eal'ly in the mOI·llill/.{ of
the 3vth of Novembl'r-thut ho wal:! rect:livcd in tbo Fort
in MI'. McBt:lnn'l:! private or family room. , , ... he
WUti undecided whether Lo remain 01" proceed to Willam·
cite i fOtu'ed he would be killed if found by the Cayuse:, i
nnd at'lm' c\lnl:!ultiug Mr, McBean thought he could reach'
tile Willa-mette in safety on the north side of Lhe river.
He \Vat! furnished wit.h a tappo, blanket, powder, bull.
a,nd tobacco, and Mr. McBean saw LJilll safely acroSs till:
river.

~lr. Osborn and little son arrived a few hours before
me, and were received and quartered in tbe Fort.

Mr. McBean procured fur him a trusty Walla Walla
Indian to return with him for his fumily, but having nO
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horses at the post, I proffered the U8e of my own until
be should reach the Company's farm, about twenty miles
distant, where be W88 supplied with freflh onCB. Httd it
not been for the guide's persevprance Mrs. O""bnrn and
children must have perished. Mr. 08born, despairin~of
finding the place where he h.d left them, proposed to the
Indian to return. The Indiau said he was told by Mr.
McBean Dot to return without finding thE'm, and he ron­
tinued his search until he discovered their conrenlment.

They arrived at tho Fort ('arly in lhe evelling of tho
3d of December, and Mr. McBean said he would protect
them with his life.

They were not allowed to go three days withont pro­
visions, but On the contral', were furnished dnilv with
such provi~ions as were u8e~d by Mr. McBean nod f~mily.

Mr. McBean proffered a blanket to Mr.. Osborn on his
credit, and I am quite positive the artk-le was not asked
for by Mr, O.born,

(Signed,) J, M, STANLf:Y,
Oregon City, Mareb 10th, 1848,"

The priests spoken of by MI'. Stanley were Oblates, boo
longing to the mis8ion of the north aide of the Columbia.
For their beds at the ~'ort, as Mr. Stanley Btatt's, they
had but two blankets with 'a piece of, woad for a pillow.
Fortbeir subsistence they depended upon the Fort, where
tbey were paying their board. It was then very diffi·
cult for them to give beds, blankets, or food, which they
bad not at their disposal. Besides, pt'ovi8ions were very
scarce at the time in the Furt, and· the ('lerk Rnd the
priests, as well as the others, were. all reduced to the
neces8ity of livitw upon horseflesh. If the priests did
not prevent Mr. Osborn from bringing hia family to the
Umatilla, the reasun was that they believed they would
be safer under the Young Ohiefs protection than at the
Fort, where they expected every moment to be attacked,
without being prepared to oppose a 8ufficient retolit;tance:
there·w('r~ at the Fort only five or 8ix men at most.

8th, In regard towbat bas been stated that tbe Ilishop
of Walla Wa-lln llnd (~ome into a country wbt're there was
no church or Catholic staticJn, and no stationary priest!l, I
will observe that Fathers Blanchet and Demers) the first
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Catholic missionaries that came to Oregon, bad 'passed
by Walla Walla in 1838, wbere they had stopped a fe ..
days, and had been visited by the Indians. In 1839
Father Demers had spent three weeks in teaching the
Indians and baptiRing their children. In 1840 he had
made there a rniSdioD 80 fruitful that the Protestant mig.
sionaries had got alarmed, and fenred that all their dis.
ciples would abandon them if he continned hiB mil)sions
among them. Father De Smet, after visiting the Flat
Hends in 1840, had come n,.nd established a mission amOM

them in 1841; and from that time down to the arrival of
the Bishop, the. Indians of Walla Walla and of the Up.
per Columbia had never failed to be visited yearly, either
by FHther Demers or by some of the Jesuits, and those
annual excursidns had procured every year new cbild~·cn

to the Cburc~. Almost every Indian tribe possessed
some Catholic member. Among the Cayuses the Young
Chief and n. portion of his camp were professing Oath·
olicisffi, nod for seven yeul's provious were askinl-! for
6onlf' priests to come and "attic among them. The Flat
Reads, Kallispels, and Coner de' Alcncs, possossed each of
them a fltation with as many \:hul"chcs, built nnd
attended by the Jesuits. The Bishop of Walla W.ll.
then, whoao jurisdiction extended over the whole part
of Oregon contained between the Cascades and the

. Rocky Mountainsj· was far from coming into a field
totally foreign to bim. When he arrived he found more
flocks and pastors than the Americnn Board had ever
been able to t:lh.ow on their side.

As to tbe assertitm that the Protestant missionaries
had worked .(Ibere peaceably fbr ele\·en years, we know
what to think of it f"om the different statements which
we have seon above.

9th. I could admit that Jo. J.Jcwis, Joseph Stnnfield,
and Nicholas :Finlay, who may have been seen plunder­
ing, were Catholics, without injuring in the least the
caUtle of CutboliciMffi; because, as in good reasoning it
is never allowed to cont:lude from one particulaJ'ity to
another particularity nor to n gcncl'ul)ty;. in like lOao·
ncr, from the guilt of three Catholics it cannot be reag.
on ably concluded that other Catbolics arc guilt.y, no! a
fortiori t~l\l all Catholics are guilty and CatholiCism
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{avorable to tbe guilt. Mr. Spalding, when bo advanced
&0 absurd a sophism. did not. benr in mind that in the
prescnt cnse it could bc retorted 3g'llillSt bim entirely to
bis disadl"nnlage. But I prefer to gil"'c to every ono bis
own, nnd to keep for myself only wbat is mille.

r affirm, then. that Nicholas Finlay. was 'no CntholiC,
or bad ever been one, and I woul<\ like Mr. Spnlding to
prove the contrary. Finlay wns:l. poor half-breed, wbo
had alwas lived with tbe Indians, and nfter their mun·
nerR, hsbits, principles nnd J;uper~titionR, and ~.:ho hud
of the whit.e mnn nothing but tile nume. He hnu n(wer
been b3ptised, bad never frequented nny Catholic
church, nor received Cut.bolic in~truclion from any
priest. On the contrary he was ntlachcd to Dr. 'Vhit­
malj, in the neighborhood of wLom ho gf'.llcrnlly lin~d,

and be followed his instruetions. I affirm, in liko man·
ner, that Jo. Lewi~ was not a Gutboli(', and !H;COlding to
Mr. Spalding be must have bf>en a Protestant.; bl'c3u~o

the reJi~ion of a mHO is not the consequence or biA
birth, but ~pring8 fr'om the principles that Le hnlt im­
bibed from the society in which he has li\-ed. Well. DC­
cording to Mr. Spalding, Jo. Lewis mu~t bu\'c been
raised eithel' in the Stnte of Maine, whcl'o thol'e wore at.
tbo time no Catholic churches. no priests, nor"an.r metu)s
whatc\"er of I'eceivin~ Cat.holic instruction, or in somo
ot.ber part. of the United f::itatc8, under the (:Dl'e of
Americans, (generally protestants,) who had taken him
from among tbe. wild] ndian::s wholl Le was 1'1'0111 four to
five yeRrs of age.

As to Joseph Stanfield, I admit. that he was born and
had been educated a Catholi('. But he Baid him~elf tbut
for t.wenty yeurs past he had nut frequented any Cath­
olic church, nnd had not a\'uiletl himself of thc minitttry
of all)' pricst. He may, dl1l'illg' that time, h:n'c gil"cn up
tho scverity of Catholic pl'incil'lt'ij and mornlity. I do
not 'prctend to excuso him i Ilc\'crthclc!;s he hna bcen
il·jed by (;ompeient tribuno.ls for tbe nime be i~ accuRcd
ofi and 1 do not know that he has as yet been con·
demncd by them. Why "bonld wc pretcnd now to be
more enJi.,btened and wiscr than those tribunals have
beeo, and" judge him more 8c~ercl)' than thcy have
done?
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10th. It is also a slander to Bay that the priests have
neglected to have the bodies of those who \t'cro mur.
dered buried. I refer to all the C'8ptivcs of Wnilatpu,
who saw me for over three hours actively at'enpied in
shrouding the corpses and putting them into a commOn
grave with my own hnndR, and tnking care that th~y

~hould be covered w~th earth before I left, nnd that t \vo
days only after the ma8~acre. '

11th. When Mr. Spalding complained that the Bishop
bad neglected to give him tho informnlion asked in reo
gard to his dut1.!;htor and the othor eapth'es, he bad for­
g-otten that Mr. Ogden wrote to bim in lieu of the
Bishop as well fiB for himself when he announced to
him that liberty waR sccured for him and for the other
captives, and that he had to be rcody to }eR\"c.the
couDtrf by a certain time that be hud fixed upon for
him. t was the first. lettel' that could be sent to lJim
after tbe receipt of his letter by the Bishop, and it was
the sarno Indian who had brongbt his l~tter to the
Rishop that took Mr. Ogden's letter to him. Ap. to in­
formation relative to tbe situation of the captivcfl, that
could be of 110 particular utility to anyone, and as the
Bishop knew nothing about it oxcept through ludian ro­
ports, he thought that Mr. Spalding would receive more
corrcct information from his own Indians, who hud been
at 'Vailatpu and had themselves Been the cuptive~, tunn
from himself And moreover an exprceB would have
been vcry expen~ive, if one could have ~cen obtained.

12th. When Mr. Spalding says that I arrived at Wail­
alpu just ahout the momeut tbe young American was
killed, he sln-nders me ngain; Rinee, HR be flays, the
young American wus killed at two o'(:lo~k, P. M., and
I did not arrivc at the Indian camp, untH between 8Ct'en
and eight o'clock in tbe evening, without having pnssC'd
by the mission.

13th. Rev. Mr. Griffin, the Editor of the Oregon A.mer­
ican, il8 not more correct when be says that I concerted
a letter at 'Vailatpu with Mr. M<:Beun's mNolsenger~,

sincc it W1\S known to all the people of tho ~t.lltion that
Mr. McBean's messengers, who had come in the morning
that followed the massacre, had started off lon~ before
the c'rcning for 'Valla. Walla; while I dill n·ot arrive at
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the Indian camp until lale in the evening uf tbe same
day, and at the misjo;ion on the next morllill'" only.

14th. It i~ alao incorrE'ct to eta)" thtlt the Catholic mis­
sionaries de~piscd the autharit)' of the Governor and of
the Iudian Agent, who bad commundcd them to le~vc

the Indian country.
During the winleT, without bcin~ in the least ordered

to do it, the Cutholic clergy of Walla Walla had thought
it prudent to leave the upper couutlT on RCCOUnt of the
exiAtenc.c of lh~ war. But, in tho sprillg, lUI it "'as Kcn­
erally thought m tho Wilhunette thut tbe war was at an
end, and a~ Indians were urgently u!'Ikilig tho pl'ie~t8 to
go blU.:k, und ult'o aij it was proper for him to tix hil'l rctJ~

idenee within the limits of hil!l ('cclt'l'liu6tial juri~dictioll,

the Bi",hop notified Governor Abcrneth,)", 011 the :!!)th of
April, of hiM intention to go back to hi~ dioCCljc, in a let-­
ter in which were the folfowing line~:

., Sir _ " __ I feel desirous to go and ('ontinue the
work which we have b£>gun with !'lome SUC('Cf'l8; I feel
811XiuU8 that circl1m~tanceli should allow Uli to return
back to thOR6 Inditllls who wi ..h to know God a., we do,
in order til adol'o and love Him f"om their whole buurt;
alld I intend to do it us "oon Utl pn~siblc.

, -' 'fbc two leltCl·s. copic"l of which I ha\"e the llOnor
to tranRmit with the I'r(~Rcllt,-oIlC from TyaicH, tho
other from Tnwlltowc ('Young Chief), nsking their mili­
8.iunal'icti to ~t) bade to them,-al'e a proufof tbcir uCf'liro
to ,l!~t in~trul'ted_ Who would not I'('joic~, /'leciug' thllt
God hftd inspired them wilh Auch g-ood fecling:'i? Ami,
for us, who kllow all tho /-{ood that (-an be dOlle thel'e
-how could we refuse to I'UII LO their help ?"

The Bishop expected til 1'\'cei\"e an unl:\wer from tho
Go\."ernor, 81'1 a mutter of cnUI':'iII, hut. uf'tcr waiLing 1001'0
thnn n. month ful' t.hat all!'lWt,JI', aud ~ccing thuL Hie Ex­
cellency did not even 8l'knowletlg-c the receipt of dUlt
letter, he rC!'lolved to fulfil hi:i intenLiollti. He ~ld,l·tcd

btll'k til the middle of J tine with hili tleculur 4.:1erg-y for
the Dalles, fur the purpo~e of settling tbt're and begin­
ning a mission. And it WM ollly a few days afler ilia
arrival there that the Superintendent of IIHHnn Affuir'J'I
directed to one member of thc t1crgy a letter that Wll8

intended for him (the Bishop), prohibiting the contilJulIo-
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ticn of missionary labaTs with the Inloians east of the
Cal'cade mountains. The following is 8 copy of the let­
ter, directed on the outside to Rev. Mr. Rossanu, &0.
and on tbe inside to Messrs. Blanchet, &c. '

"FORT WASCOPOM, June 15, ]848.
"Rev. Messrs.-As l:iuperintendcnt of Indian Affairs,

it become;] my duty to inform you, with all due respect
to your sQ('red calling, that it is delolirablo no further
missionary efforts should be made with any Indians cast
of the Cascade Mountains, until thIJ prcson(:e orwell or.
ganiscd and dIsciplined troops, under command of Unit­
ed States officers, !'Ihll.ll render Buch efforts safe and judi­
cious. At pl"e~ent the relalion~ between tho whitel:J und
the Indians are two prccal'iou~to allow mis!5ionary labors
with the Indians to be either prudent.or eff~etiveof gnod.
So soon as circumstances will allo\v~ I shall take mncb
pleasure in throwing wide the door of missionary labors
among thc natives to all Christian missionaries j at pres­
ent., prudence demands that it should be closed against
all.

I. With much ~CE\pcctJ

II I h:tve the honor to be, Messrs"
II Your obedil'nt servant, '

"H. A, G. LEt:, Sup't Ind. Affair•.
4' To Messrs, Blanchet, &c."

Tho Bi~hop aod his clergy confOl'med to that oruer,
and sllspendetJ all. mil:lsionury Inbol'H :~mong the Indialls
of the Dalles until morc favorable ClI"ClIllIstnnces. Ho
continued, it is' true, to remain upon his claim, and to
irnpro\"o it j but in that, us in the re~t of his conduct, he
did not violate the oruer nor n(:t cOlltrnry to the illten­
tions of the Superintendent, fiS is c\'irlcllt frol1'\ the fi,l­
lowing lettor written to him by Dr. Silffnl'uns, Il1dian
Ag-ent fur the/Dalles. Upon fult'le reports til at the Doc·
tor had received, be had "thought i~ hiR. duty to write to
the Bitlhop for Rome e:xpltull\tions, and immeJiatel.y ufter
re(~eiving the Bishop's answer he wrote in the following
terms: .
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" FORT W...OOPON, July 20, 1848.
II My dear Sir :-00 the recoipt of your lotter of yeB­

terday I became immediately satisfied tbat 1 bad bee..
misinformed in relation to t.he tenor of yo~r pursuits at.
presen"t with tho Indians, Allhough my informants
were imprcsscd with n. wrong conception of the labors
of missionary establishments, they considered it impera­
tively their duty t<> inform me according to their under_
st.anding, in consequence of which I wrot.c to you; thourrb
I now sincerely hope you will havo tho goodness to f~r.
give mc and my informants for the pain and trouble wu
have gh'cn JOu upon this subject; for I 00 aasure JOu
the nct was not done knowingly through the medium of
indiscretion, but thl'ough wrong aud ignora.nt concep­
lioos of missionary matters.

1I As to tho matter of instructing- and explainin~ to
the Indians the common fl'ccepts of the Bible, thero can
lro no objection; becanse do sincerely cOll:sidor it Do most.
magnanimous act in anyone to gi~e the poor benightIJd
beings all the light and instruction within their power,
upon tho 6U bjcct of Christianit.y a1ld civilization; without
distinction, however, as to Church 01' mode of adminis­
trat.ioll, dUl'in~ the present C1'iais of affairs with them-.

,. Now, upon the poil~t of being compellod to write to
the Superintcndent in relation to missiouary establish.
ments: this pal't, Sil', you do most assuredly milo;UUOel'­
stand, because ill speaking of mis8ionary establi~iJment8,

it is not to be underiitood that a house or simply an im­
provement is means a missionary establishment, nor in
simply fulfilling religious duties 01" eXel'Ci8eS therein;
because houses are dedicated to manJ useli, and tbat use
de.ignates the character of tbe establishment, 0008e­
((uently, you muat not understand that I, in my provious
luttcl', infcrred that you ihould deail:lt from improving
your claim; far from it; because it is mOHt al:lsuredly
your undoubted right as a man and free citizen of Ore·
gOIl to make any and all sucL impro~cmcnts aa )'our
fancy and desires may plan and construct; and by thu8
doing, I consioe,' that you are acting perfectly in aC<"ord~

ance with tbe letter and spirit of our free aod republi.
can constitution.

II I beg, sirl that you may forgive me for the trouble J
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have caused you upon this oceasiou, aDd you will C~et
oblige yo~r most obedient friend,

• II HENRY SAI'FARANS,
II Indian Agent for Wuscopom.

"To A. A. M. Blanchet, Bishop of Walla Walla."

No change baB taken place in the state of things iince.
15th. When Mr. Spalding said that he had met a priest

in company with aD Indian who had the avowed inten_
tion to kill him, I am inclined to say tImt be could have
done something better and more worthy a noble aud
grateful beart than to advance so heioous a slander
against tbe best friend he ever had. I am tbe priest
whom Mr. Spalding met in company with one of the
rnurdererEl. When be met mc, I bad just started from the
Doctor's establishment where I had buried with my Own
hands the dead bodies of the unfortunate victims of the
disaster, as before stated; wbere I bad consoled in the
best manner I could the widows and orphans, and ob·
tained from tbat'rame Indian the promise that they
would do them no harm amI would treat them well; and
expressed repeatedly my anxiety for .~r. Spalding~ my
fear that he should como too SOOD, and would fall, per­
baps, into the bands of the Indians; and my ardent de­
sire of meeting him in time to give him a chance to es­
cape. For a proofof that I reter to the captives who
were then at the Doctor's establishl}1cnt. At the mo·
ment of my departure that Indian bad joined my inter­
preter and was coming in company with me against my
will and without my knowing of his intention. His })1'08­

cncccaused me great 1111easilless on Mr. Spalding's account.
I had wished to find an opportunity to send him btlck
l~nd to escape from him, but in vain,whcn Mr. Spaldingsud­
dcnlymet me and })Inced me intthe mostcriticll\l situation
in which I ever found myself, and where I had the good
fortune to save his life at the evident peril of my own.

Now is it not ungenerous and inconsistent on the part
of Mr. Spalding to throw a doubt upon my intentions
in that circumstance? If I had entertained bad inten­
tions against him; if I had wished to have him killed, us
he insinuated, would I have warned him of the danger
that thr.atened him? Would I have given him my pro-
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TiSiOD8 and advised him to ay wit.hont delay, as be saYII
bimielf I did? Strange reasoning this! ,: The priest
told me that the Indians intcuded to kill me;" tbat in
order to escape from their hands, II I had better to run
off instantly," Jlnd so WI to furnish me witb the means of
doing so, " be gave me his meat and broad, aud God do­
livered me from the murderers j" then it is evident that
the priest intended to causo me to he killod! '.\nd this
is nevertheless Ah. Spalding'li rC:kIoning, word tor word.

It is not c."Orrect to say that the Indian was in my
company" with the avowed intention of killing" Mr.
Spalding. He hud, RS well as the ot.her IIllIil\lls, the
poneraJ intention of killin~ him at tlto fil'Mt opportunity,
It is u'ue j but 8ueb was lIot thu rC3ilull thut lmd cAnsod
him to come with me j becauso hu did not know nor thiok
that Mr. Spalding would COOl(' Oil that day, lIifl. inten­
tion, as I knew afwrw8.l'ds, waS to inform his IIn(>le, Cum­
aspeIo, the military cbief~ of the massacre, :lnd receive
his orders Besides, be was accompnnying' me' at that
moment, as other Indians bad dODe duriug' the dny, with­
out my knowledge of their immediut(' inteDtio;Hl, ami in
such 0. way 8S to keep me in continual apprehen~ion and
fear.

It is also untrue to say tbat that Iudiuo retired to ao
unobserved place to rel()((.d his pistol. Mr. Spaldiug knew
bet.ter than that, sinee I had told him that tho rndian
bad gOlle back to camp 1,(1 consult about his fat.e ]f' his
intentions bad been to reload his pistol, he wonld not
have wanted more than a few minutes to liaye loaded it
Bud shot Mr, Spalding, a.... neithcr my interpreter llO!'

myself could bave prc\'eute-d llim for want of armf; and
good horses. But be did not return until two or three
hours after when I was on Mal'ron's Forie Morever,
nobody but Mr. Spaldin~ and mYije1( can g'ivc n correct
account of what passed between U8 at ·the timo, \Ve
were tUone, my interpreter being at some distance from
u~ and not bearin; our conversation j and I caD bear
teitimony that then Mr, Spalding w~ nol in a state fit
to form 8 judicious opinion of things or words j tbe
fright and tJ;'ouble of mind which the knowledge of his
d&oger had prodooed OU him, had Bet him completely
b~ide himself.

8
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16th. I come now to the last accusation, and one of
the most malicious that has been made against US:

4' That the priests had told the lndians everywhere, and
the \Valla 'Valla. chief in particular, that the Protestant.
missionaries were causin~ them to die; that they were
poisoning them; that it was the Americans who had
brought the measles among them j and that God had
scnt that sickness to them to sbow his batred against the
heretics."

I solemnly affirm tbat such a thing, nor anythiJlg of
tbe like, has never been snid by any priest to tbe In­
dians. I defy anyone to prove the contrary; and a
few remarks will show what confidence can be pl'udently
put by unprejudiced people in the present ac::cusatiollB
brought by Mr. Spnlding against us.

First, it is a mere vague and malicious assertion, and
to support it he hus not brought forward the least testi­
mony, but the Bupposed reports made to them by two
Indians, Tintinmitsi and Yellow Serpent. But as to
those reports I have reason to doubt that they had ever
been macle to him by. those Indians j-many ::m illstnncc
bas provrd to us that mOrC than ouce :Mr. Spalding's
memory bas given way to his imagination. If they have
been made to him, I dal'e gay that it has been with a
view to sound him, as It is a commou practice with In­
dians, and to find out f1'om bis aIH5wcrs whether it was
true or not that the American missionaries were pois­
oning them, as it has been for years tbe general impres­
sion among them, And finally, those reports can be of
no credit, and prove nothing in the case. If in mOBt
part of tbe States of the Union the testimony of In­
dianB is never admitted as proof against the whites in
any Court of justice. it would be here inconsistent to
make it the basis of public opinion, nnd especially when
it i8 expressed in such vague and general terms.

It is evident, besides, that the Doctor and Mr. Spalding
never believed anything as to tbe truth of such Indian
reports, if tbey ever heard of them. "If Dr. Whitman
and Mr. Spalding," says the Hon. P. H. Burnett, II be­
lieved the tales tbat the Indians were telling them, that
the priests were persuading them the Doctor was poison­
ing them, why did they not take somestcpB to investigato
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'be m&tooT, to inquiro ioto tho truth of these reports f
h required no more than a little hODOBty, ond commOQ
souse. to he:ve cllabled them to Bet the matter beyond
doubt. 'Vhen I benr that a neighbor btls chargeu me
with a crime, it is my duty to go to him and ask him if
lle w.Baid60. 'l'bi",coursejg a plaiR one, and very LOOm·

mon among honorable men thaLare not willing to believe
every Blander they henr in the communit),. When tbe
Indian ('arne to. the Doctor, and Lolli him that the pries18
wero telling thorn that bo Wall poi80ning dlelO, lJRd ho
believed there was oven a probability that 8uoh WM the
fact, be would have inquired of the luuinu8: •What pric~t
told JOu so 1 To WIUlL Indians t1id tho,)' 8&)" 80 1 It"they
told you 50, they told you a falsehood. Now let U~ go
and Bee the priestB, Bnd take with us those Jndiall8 they
told tbese things to, nod I will fuca them down ti.UU show
you that it is t~18e.' This coul'se would have bccli tair
and Just to the pricsts, to tbe Doctor, tind to tJw IlJdiall8.
Suppose this course hod been tukcll. Tho 1)octor ~llCJuld

have taken with him tho lndilllls thut those thitl~"" IlUd
been told to, as well us SlImo of the hOllomlJll: clIligranlij
at bis station, nnd huviug broug'llt the IIIUiuIls ttllli 1ho
priests fate to tilCC, he could tlJCfl Imve illquil"Cd uf'the
priest8: 'Are tholSe thiDh>"8 80?' If the pl"iCl'\ttt Ilad ill f&lct.
told the] ndiuns RO, alld hud theu dellied tlw tiLct lO tho
Doctor in the p1'e~ence of the Iudiafl~, it. wuulJ at OIlCC
have pr05trnttjd the influence of lIJC prieti~ with tile
Iodia1l8. Dr. WhitmQn could have Muid to the Illtliams:
'You see these llIen ;ire liars; they told )'on I Wll~ ptJi~)Il.

inK yuu, and now they dt'II,)' it. You (:allllut Ut.·lie\·e
anything they tell you.' But tWPPOlSC tllo pricI'ttt Illld
..dlllitted t-hey IUld told tl.)4;~r-o thillg~ to tIll' IlldiulIS, tlwll
t~e Doctor could huvc Leen »r~part:J fiJI' the WOrdt, ulld
he would have been lLblc to hu.vc exposed tl,c!'lO (;f1nl'll'i,'­
Mors to the wo-rld. not by mere I ndillll itcul'I'luy. LIlL . by
tangible e\-iden<:c~.' Ou t'le 01 hel' halld, ~UppOijt! the
prif'f'L~ bad Ilevel' tuld theRe tiling'S to the] ndiulIR. aud
that the] numus bad been tt·lling lies to tmulld the Doctor
and try to find out wlwther lil' wu... in filet poilShniog
thcm. the Indians would have been tlctc<:ted alld expused.
In every "iew oJ' th"" ('atloc good would have re8ultoo from
un illvcstigntion. Now Dr. 'VlJitman watS a man of gu04
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sense and great firmnes., and had he believed that th\l8e
reports had aoy foundatioD, be certainly would not have
been afraid or ashamed to have brought this matter to a
telSt that would have settled it."

The iollowing stalement. iR also somewhat in our behalf
in this C8!:lC. I retbr to Mr. Thoa. McKay's sfatament, Lo

whose tCl:Jtimony Mr. Spaldin,(t has referred. He wag

present a<the con neil held at Walla Walla hy the Cayu••
chier., wheu called by the Bishop ror the purpo•• of
asking them for a piece of land for a mission. lIe ht"ard
what accusations the Indians made against Dr. Whitman
on that occa~ion, and wlJat the answers made to them by
the Bishop were:

" During tbe meeting," says he, H'l'umRuky sairJ t.hat
Dr. Whitman Wl1P11 a. bad man; that he robb",li allli poid.
Oiled them." The BilShop replied to him "that hiR thuught8
were uttd j tbe Doctor did uot poitlon them nor "ob them;
he had better bunit'lh thOde thoughtij from bis miud. Yuu
do not know the Doctor, ho is not 8 bad mun."

.. Olle of the ~hiefs tOld the Bil:lhop the)' would send
the Doctor away vel'y 800n, and they would gi\'c him
hill IIlHllle if he wished, The Bil'lhop anMWl~r(!d that he
,,'uuld nut tuke the Doctor's houtle j that he (lid 1I0t wi~h

them to send tbe Doctor tlWtly, and thut there was room
ollough fi,r two missiuns."

Now, if the Hi::Jhop had formally contradit,ted the
IlIuiautJ ill that circulllstance, how could it be 6uppo~eJ

that ,he ~hould h:\Vu Hpoken differently on other OCt'l1·

siulltJ r He knew how important it was to weigh well
hl8 :.l.Iltlwcr$ ami WOl"llr~ with the 11ldiull", tt.nd l:K.refuJly
lu uvoid fillythinl-{ that wuuld appoar like hOHitalioll or
cOlltl'udietioll, Bc~ides, he never fJpoke to the ludilllltJ
lJm tlll'uu:.?h un intel'preter, and gCllel'tlll.r the inter·
prcter of tile Fort. nnd alwuytJ in tile public room, "rid
ill I're~encu of nil the people that wished to bear him.

'l'lte iml)lIl'lll.nce uf keeping lJi~ influence e\'cn with
tile whirtllS would have then prevented bim from Elonying
anythillg: uguinljt Dr. Whitman and others in cqntradic­
tiou to what he had Hl:I.id 011 thtit ot.'casion. And I a.ffirm
that ;le Ile'\"el' dill; for a proof of wbich I refer to the
people who H\'ed or wero at \Vullo. 'Valla dUl'ing our

, 81ay UJere.
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But there is another circumstance t.hat, in my opinion,
can throw greuter light on the reattor than anJthing
else. It is a conversation that. took phlce between Mr.
Spalding and Dr. Ponjt\de, in the Cayuse country. about
five or six miles at furthcst from tbe place where the
Catholic mission was afterwards eSlabJ[shed. Jt. was
three months beforc the e8lnbli!'!hment of thnt mission,
and five daJs before the Bishop (who Wt\8 far ahead of
bis priests) passed for the first. time on tbo CaJu~o lands,
on "is way to Fo!"t 'Valin 'Valla, The rendel' will jtld~o
from that conversation what reliance cnn be pltl(~cd on
Mr. Spalding's assertions in gencl'al, but c~pccinlJ.r on
tbo~c that eng:lgc our attention at prcscnt, I.-ct it bo
remembered ill perusing tho cOllvcrsation, that thcI'o
wcre no clergymen yet arrived nmong the Cayus,('s, tllo
nearest were at lea~t. onc hundred miles. and the others
about threc hundred mileR distant. The eonyel'8:\tion
took place on the 31st of August, llnd the mi~sion of tllo
Cayu80s did not begin until the latter 1)81't of No\'cmber.
lIel'e follow8 the cOD\'crsntion as related by Dr. Pou­
jnde'

'l'bis is to certify that on the 31std3.y of August, 1 47,
while on the roat! to Oregoll, I met Rev. H. n. Spuld­
iQg at the \Villow Spring, at the foot of t.he Blue Moun­
taias, and that the following conversation took place
belwcen him nnd me at tbnt plnee:

He flsked me how many wagons werc in our company.
I answered him, seven.

H. H. ~poJding-Well, )'00 had beller wait for"
larger company,

J. P. Poujndc-Why.o?
H. H. Spulding-Bccuuse the Indians arc geLling very

bnd.
J. P. POlljade-Hnvc they done anybody any harm?
H. I-I. Spalding-Yes, tbey have killed two white men

at the DalleR.
J. P. Poujadc-The Amerit31ls may be in fault.
H. H. Sp:dding-No, it is the Cat.holic priests, who

have established a mission among the Cayusls; and they
b3\"e put the Indialls up to kill all the American Pro­
tostant!; on the road to Ort.'gon.

J. P. Poujade-l mpossible j tbat is not Christianit)", it
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mU'8t be a- mistake, because we mu"t love our nei~hbor!l

as oaTRclves. I have lived thirty ye-f:Lr8 umon~ the
Catholics in the United Sta.tee, and] alwa.ys understood
the Catholic Church to teuch her children to do good
for evil, and to be charitable hy giving gDod mornl ex.
ample, aud I think well (If the Catholic clergy. And to
tell you die truth, I am a Cutholic; but here is n Pro.
te"tnDt gentleman, Mr. LnrkinR, who has Ii~cd nei~hhor

to me twenty ye8~, a~k him if Cl"er he knew Catholics
to HI! Protestnnts. Mr. Larkins an6wercd. No.

H. H. Spalding-It is truo, I have received f"eRh news- ,
and I underRtand the Indiulltl had stolen fl'om tho whiteR.
One Indian was killed by the whitetl, uno the Indi:lns
kiUed one white man. Do you know if the drngoons
are coming or not r

J. P Poujude-The bill did not p"•.
H. H. Spnlding-I am SOITY; the Indians nrc getting

worse every day for two or three yenr~ back. They ure
threatening to turn us out of tbe miRRion. A few UtlJs
ago they tore down my fences. And I do not lrjOW
what the Mi8sionnry Board of' .New York mean", t'J do.
lt is 11 fact, we are doing nO g'ood. When the omigrbliou
pnNRl:'S, the Indians all run oft' to trude, and return worse
than wheo we came ftmongRL them.

And eo I left bim with his blanket epread, full of (lne
thinl{ and anotber, and he had alBo many head of hors~s,

for the purpose of tradin~ with tb.c emigrants. Armud
us 'yere scattered in the pruil'ies several bands of hol'l"c;j,
that the lndinns pointed out to us as belonging to Dr.
Whitman.

(Signed,) JOllN P. POUJADE.

I ccrtify to thc a.bove conversation, being prcscnt at
the time.

(Signed,) ANNE PODJADE.
Saint Lou·is \Villdmet, Sept. 12, 1848.

I leave all comments on that converlntion to the pub.
lic.
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Now, 1 have exposed frankly and candidly what I
.onsider to have been the true cnUSCA of the mafloB!l.Cre of
'\'ailatpu, with the grounds nnd proofs t~ut support my
opinion} together with the conduct of tho Catholic clergy
in regard to that wbole nffllir, on ono part, Rnd the ma­
licious and grievous accusations made br Mr. Spalding
llod otbers against that same Catholic clergy with 1'0­

"'nrd to that Elame affair, togl,ther with whut I consider
;s 0. plain und full refutatiun of them} on the other purt.
I leave now the mallei' before the public} to which it
belongs nttentively to examine anti weigh the te!:ltimony
011 both sides, nnd then illlpfil·ti:l.llr to de<:idc fintl pro­
nOunce whether tbe Catholic dcl'~Y arc guilty of tho
atrocious chnrgC'8 brought :lg-aillst them, 01' whether Mr.
Spalding and others coultl have flpokcll so n~aill"'t the'
Catholic (~lcr~y II \,,'ithout being crazy," as Col. Gilliam
nnd many others have already pronounced. They could
not, without bt:ing mo\"ed by I;lind~ unju8t, nnd too
violent religious prC'judices.
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Extrdcts from Hines' History of Oregon.

Tho following extracts from RDV. Gustavus Himie'
History of Orego,n, will no doubt pro\"c interesting to
every reader who dt::lsirCB to learn tbe truth of history,
forming as they do, a chain of evidence which BhoWI
conclusively the remote causes which led to the mae­
!;ncrc at Wailatpu. It will be borne in mind that the
events detailed in the following extracts, occurred from
18-12 to 1846·7, and among Indian! with whom Catholic
missionaries had never resided. Tho Catholic misaioDII
among the Indians wost of the Rocky Mounto.ioB, were
firot establisbed in 1840, by Fatber Peter de 8met, 8. J.,
among the Flathead and Pen tie OriellcB tribes, who baa
sent deputations to the missionary est.ablishment, at St.
Louis, Missouri, years before, soliciting the prosence of
the "black gowns" amongst them. The camps of tbcee
Indians were located many hundred miles from the Cay­
usc Bnd other tribes of malcontents mentioned herean.er,
and witb wbom the Pen de Oriell.s and Flatheads had DO

communication whatever.
It has been generally remarked by Indian agent! and

other Federal officials, that the Indians amongwbom the
Catholic missionaries were located, havo iov,ariabl,
proved more moral, more susceptible of civilization. an.
more friendly towards the whites than those Indiall8
whose spiri tunl welfare was under the control of nOD·
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Catholic teachers. This is an cstafHisbcd fact, 't'crifictl
b.y .the national records, and is easily explained, itl:l.s.
much as the missioual'ics of the Catholic Church de\'Olo

themselves solely to the great work of tbeir spiritual
calling, whilst it not unfrequently happens that tbA mis­
sionaries of many other. denominations make their re_
Mgioo8 l)fo1otu~ion ~ry to their own nflluencc and
aggrandizement.

'ViLL those remarks we append the extractij above al.
luded tal asking for them ... careful perusal and candkl
oonsideration:

EXTRAOTS.
APRIL 14. This sctLiemcnt bas been. thrown into a

panic by intelligence which has just been received from
the upper country, COD(:C'Tllilig the hostile intentions of
tbe Cayuse, Nez Perce, and Walla Walla Indians. It
appears that they have again threatened the dC8trucLioD
of the whites. Some time in October last,* Indian re­
port said that these tribes were coming down to kill off
t~e B08ton peoplc~ meaning those from the Unitcd States.
This intelligence produced con~iderablc excitement at
.he time, and induced the sub-agent of Indian Affairs to
go directly to the upper countryaod ascertain the truth
of the :report, and if possible settle all matte~'~ of diffi·
cult.y. On arriving amon~ tbe Indians, he ascertained
that the report lvas not 'Without foundation; but entered
into IUcb arrangements with them as ul:rearcd to give
iSutisfaction. Thoma!S McKay contribute much to alia)'
,~he excitement among them, and ill conncxion wiLh the
Gub-ageD t, induced the Nez Perces to adopt a code of
l(i'''fi, and appoint a head chief and inferior chiefs,
.ufficie,nt to carry the laws into execution. It had been
.he polieF of tbe Hudson's Buy Company to destroy tb.
&hiefta.inship, cut the different tribes into smaHer clans,

-lid-Fin y.ara before tb. masucte at Wailatpu.



THE WHITMAN MAISAC&z., 97
-and di\""ide their interests 8S rar as possible BO as to

weaken them, and render them incapable of injuring the
whites, by preventing them from acting in concert. Bot
ibe sub·agent adopted a diffe..eut policy. Tbe individ­
ual appointed to a high chieftainship ovor tho Nez Pel'.
ces, was one Ellis, as be was called bv the English, who,
baving spent several years in the settloment on tho Red
river, ea~t of the mountains, had, with a smattering of
the Enghsh language, acquired a high gense of his own
importance; and cODfoJequently, aftcr he was appointed
cblef, pursued a very haughty anu o\"crlicaring course.
The fulfillment of tbe la\\"1) which the agont recommend.
ed for their adoptioll, WU:i required Ly .Bllis with the
utmost rigor. IndiYiduals were soverely puniRholl. for
crimes, which, from timo immemorial, had beon com·
mitted by the people with impunity. Tbifol oClcasioned
suspicions in the minds of the Indians generally, that
the whites designed the ultimate Flubju~ation of thoir
tribes. They saw ill the laws they had ndopt('d, Q. deep.
laid scheme of the wbites to destroy them, and take
possession of the;r couutry. The arrival of a large
party of emigrants abollt this time, nnd tbc sudden de..
parture of Dr. \Vbitman to the United Statcs, wit'l tho
avowed intention of bringing back with him n~ many as
be could enlist for OI'('gOI.l~ ~cr\cd to baAtcn them to the
above conclusion. That a great excitement existed
amon~ the Indians iu the interior, nud tllat they designed
to make war upon the settlement, was only known to
the whites through the medium of vague report, until 0.

letter was received from II. K. W. Perkins, at the
Dalles, in which he informed UFl that the 'Vascopnm and
Walla Walla Iudians, had communicated to him in Bnb.
8tanco the Jollowing information: that the Iudiuns are
very much exasperated against the whitcs in consequence
of so many of tbe latter coming into the ~ountrYl to de­
Btroy their game, and take away their lands; that the
Nez Perces dispatched om, of their chiefs laBt winter on
snow shoes, to visit the Indians in the buffalo country
....t of Fort Hall, for tbe purpose .f excitin!l tbem to
cut oft' tbe party that it is oxpected Dr. 'Vhltman will
bring back with him to~ Bettle the Nez Perce CouDtry;
that the Indians are endeavoring to form a general coali~

9
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tion for tbe purpose of destroying all tbe Boston people:
tbat it is not good to kill a part of them and leave tbe
rest, but that everyone of them must be destroyed. Thia
information produced a great excitement throughout the
community, and almost everyOman. bad a plan of his oWn
by which to avert the impending stOrm. In the estima.
tion of some tho Indians were to be upon us immediately,
and it was unBaf~ to retire at night for fear. the settle­
ment would be attacked before morning. The plan of
the agent was to induce men to pledge themselvos, under
the forfeiture of one hundred dollare: in case of delin_
quency. to keep constantly au hand, and ready for USC,

either a good musket or a rifle, and one hundred cbarges
of ammunition, and to hold themselves in readiness to
go at the call of the agent to any part of the country,
not to exceed two days traveI,-for the purpose of defend.
ing the settlement, and repelling any savage invaders.
Tbis plan pleased some of tbe people, and tbey put
down tbeir names; but many were much dissatisfied
with it, and as we had no authority, 110 law, no order,
for the time being, in the country. it was impossible, to
tell what would be the result, if the Indians should at­
tempt to carry their threats into execution. * * * *

Report says, furthermol'C, that the Klikitat Indians
are collecting together back of the Tuulity plains, Lut
for what purpose is not known. The people on tho
plains, consisting. of about thirty families, are quito
alarmed.- There is also a move among the Calapooahs.
Shoeron, one of the principal men of the tribe, left. this
place a few days ago, anu crossed the Willamette river
declaring that he would never return until he came with
a band of men to drive off the Boston people. He ,vaS
vcry much offended because Borne of his people were
seized and flogged, thl'ouO'!l the influence of Dr. 'Vhito1

for having stolen horsc8 from IioOle.of the missionaries,
and flour from the mission mill. His influence is not
very extensive among tbe Iudians, or we might hl1ve
much to fear. The colony is indeed in a most defence·
less condition; two hundred Indians, divided into foUl'
bands, might destroy the settlement if} one night. * * *

On the ~Oth of April. 1843, a letter was received tu the
settlement, written by H, B. Brcwe.', at the Dalles, which
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brings tho latest intelligence from tho infected region.
This letter states that tbe IndilHJ8 in the interior Uilk
much of war, and Mr. Brewer urges Dr. White to como
up without delay, and clldca"or to allay the cxcitemf.lIlt.
He does not inform us that the Indians design any evil
toward the whites, but says that the war is to be
between themselves, but that the Boston people have
mucb to tear. As the Doctol', in his visit to tho interior
last October, left au 8).pointmcllt to meet the 'Valla
Walla Indianp; and the Cayuse!!., in their own country,
on tho 10th of May, and bclie"ing that n. gr'cnt share of
the excitement originated in a misuudeJ'standinO' of the
Indians, he came to the conc·lusion at all hazal'd~ to go
among them. At the solic'italion of the ageut, I dcter~

mined to accompany him on the expedition.
The great complaint of the I ndhLl1B was that the Bos­

ton people designed to take awu)' their lallds, and
reduce them to Blavery. This they had infer'J'cd from
what Dr. White had toki them ill l1il'l previoul3 \'il3it j tUld
thia misunderstallding of the Iuuian1'l hud. not ollly pro­
duced a groat eXl·itcmcnt alllong them, but had ocen­
sioned considerable tl'ouule betwixt them and the mitr
siolulriea and other whitotl ill tIle upper tOUllU'y, a~ wl'lI
as influencing them to threaten the destruClioll of all tllO
American people. IlIui\'illu:lls had como dow II from
Fort Walla Walla to VallCOUHl', brillgiug ilifilTlnntioli of
the cXl;itcd state of tIJir'gs UI110llg the IlIJialJl'I, am] giv­
~ out that it would be extremely dungcroufl fur Dr.

hite to go up to meet his cligagl'n1l'lIt~. * * * *
Next mornillg. at th~ ril'llllg" of the ~UIJ, we lef\. our

nttelldallttl wit II the pa('l< uuimal!4, and pr'occcdcd on
aLend. determilH'd, it' Jlol'l~ihle. 10 I'l'ueh the mit'loioll t'ta­
tinn at WaialulpL1, on till' Walla Wllilu river, the ~I\me

day. Pal'1"ed FOI'L \VuJlu Walla ut twl'lve. uno' arrived
at Dr. 'Vhitlnt\u'!'.l at tiVt·! huvillg trll"c!fld fifty mileR
since we. mounted ill tlie morllill;';, We were rcel'ived
witb great cordiality by bIr:'!. 'Vhitmull anll MI'. Giger,
Dr. 'Vbitman bcillg ah!'icnt on a tuur to the United
8tat08. They had heard ..... e were coming. and were
looking for us with W'eaL anxiety. 'Vo !'loon learned
that tbe reports in the lower country about wur, thKt
had produced such nn exciLement, were not wilbout. , .
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foundation: the Cayuse Indians, amon~ whom this
mi~8ion is established, bad freel)' communicated to Mr.
Giger, whom they esteemed as theil' friend, all they
knew concerning it. . .

When the Indians were first told that the Americans
were dCfoIigning to subjuga.te them, and take aWRy their
lands, the y ..... ung chieft:J of the Cayu8c tribe wgre·in
fllvor of proceeding immediately to hO:oltilitics. They
were for raising a hU'ge war pal'ty, and, ru~hing directly
down to the Willamctte settlement, cut off tho inhabit­
ants at a. blow. The old chiefl:i were of a different
opioion; they Fluggested more cautious measures. Tak.
iog into consider'aLien the difficulty. at that season of
the year, of mal'Chillg a large party thc distance of three
or four hundred miles through a wide range of moun.
tains, covered with snow, they ath..-jlicd all tue Indians
to wait. until tbC\T 8hould obtu.in mOl'c information COil·

cerning' 'the de~igns of the AmCl'ieans. They also
thought that it would not bo \vt~t1om in them, in any
<:ase, to CtJlllmenCe u.n off~nRi\'e WIll', but to prep:l!'o
them~clves fbI' a -rigOI'OliS defellco ug-uinRt any. attu'(·k.
Thuy h'equontly rerntuked to Mr. Giger, that they did
not wish to go to war, bnt if the Amel'ieans ('urne to
tn.ke away their lands, and brin~ them into a stille of
vus,.;aht.gc, tLey would fight ~o long as they bad a d"op
of blood to shed. They ~aid they hud reech'ed thl'ir
illful'mlltioll cU'H:erning the tle8h!n~ of tLe Amel·ictlll:-l
frnm Hupli~te DOI'io, rrhis individual, who is a hulf­
bl'ocd, son of Madame DOI'io, the hel'oillo of W:l~hingtlln

hving's A~LOriu, 111l(.Ic":'5talllJ~ the Nt..·z Perce lallguu!.!c
well, und hlld ""ivcn the Cayust':-j the illf<)l'matioll that.
had alal'mod tllom. Mr. Gi;.rlJl' er\(..Iel~\·on~d to induco
them to p"Cpt\l'{I, enl'ly in the F:P!'ill;.!, to cultivlltc the
ground ali tlley did the yen.' before. !Jut. tlll!,r ,.oflls~d to
do auytlling, saying that Baptiste DOl'io had told them
that it would be of no cOlllicquence; that the while::J
would come in tho BUtnmer, and kill them all off, and
destroy their plantations.

After Dorio had told them this story, they sent a
'Valla Wnlla chief, called Yellow Serpen t, to Vaneou vcr,
to learn f.'om Dot,tor McLaughlin the facts in the case.
Yellow Serpent returned and told the C:.lJ·lIsea that Dr,,. ,
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McLaughliusaid he had nothing to do in 0. wllr with the
Indians i that be did not belic\"e the Americans de~igncd
to attack tbem, and tbat l if the Allltwicuns did go to war
with tho Indians, the Hud~on'8 Bll)' Company would
not assirlt thp.m. After lhey got this infurmUlioll from
the hias ( great) Doctor, the] Iltliuns lJecame more cal III ;

many of tllom wonL to cult.ivuting the ground IIR IUI'­

morly, and a lal'goo number of little put(.'hes had been
planted nnd 80\,.n, beforo we al'rivod at the Rtation.

'!:he Cayu~es werp pt'incipully ene:ullped along- the
bMe of the Blue Mounb,ins, a few miles ('U!!It of Dr'.
Whitmnll's ~hou!:'e; and nfter we hud obtained nil the
information we could ft'om Mr~. 'Yhitmall and Mr. Gi­
ger, concerning the Slate of tbing~ among them, we ~ellt

them word that we had come, and del'lil'ed to Ree them.
We allolo ~ent the chicf.-; word tlmt wc dCNired them to
make arrangements to have aliI their peoplc mc(!t liS at
the mission on the followin~ Fl'irlay, to ha\'c 11 talk.

'rhe chiefs came to sec U8 at D,'. Whitman's, and told
the 8tory of their griev:lIlccs, 'nnd Baill that they dc~il'cd

to have the difficulty Rcttled, They !:laid it would not Lo
convenient for thc peoplc to come tngctllel' ~o soon as
we desired, as many of them were off among the mOUII­
tains, hunting elk, As tbey must be lTlfornlcd of tho

,mecting, it would be tic\"cr!d days before tbe peopla
could get together, * * * *

Tucsday, 23d, The chiefti nnd principal mCIl of both
tribes came to~ctber at Dr. Whitman's to I)('ar what wo
bad to say. l'bey w~re cullcd to ordcl· by TUlIitau,
who by this time had got o\"er his excitement, Dnd thon
was pltlced hofore tbem the object af our vigit, Amollg
othor things thny wcrc told that much bad been Fluid
about war, and we hud come to assurc them that Ihey
bad notbin,l! to fenr from that quartor; that the Pre8i­
deot of the Uuited Statcs hud not 8ent tbe Doctor to
their country, to rnake war upon them, but to ellter Into
arrangemcllH~ with them to regulate their intcrcour9C
with tbe white peoplc, 'Vo were Dot there to catch
them in a trap as a man would catch a beavcr, but to do
them good; and if they would Inyaside theIr former
prnctites and pl'C'judice8, etop their qml.rrelli, cultinlto
tbeil'luuds, aod rccci\'o good IUW8; they might become ..



102 THE WIJITMAN MASSACRE.

great aDd. happy people; that in order to do this, they
must be united, for they were but few in compnriBOn to
the wbites; and if they were not all of onc heart, they
would be able to accompliMh nothing; that the chiefs
should set the exumple and love each other, aod Dot get
proud nDd hnu~htYl but consider th~ people 88 their
brotberli Rod their children, and labor to do them ~ood;

thnt tbe people should be obedient. and in their mOrninl.,
and evening prayers they should romember their chief:'

Liberty wus then given for tbe chieflJ to fl.peak, and
Ellis remarked that it would not be proper for tbe Nez
Perce chiefs to speak until tho Cayu8u people fl;hnnld
receive the laws. rrhe Cayuse chl~ft:l replied, II If JOu
want U8 to recolve tho 13W8, bring them forward and let
us see them, as we cannot take them unle68 we know
wbat they are." .

A speecb WIlS then delivered to the you,ng men to im.
pross them favorably with regard to the Jaws. tIhey
were told lhat they would soon take tho plRccs of t.ho
old moo, Rnd they should be willing to acl for the good
of the pt"ople; tbat they ebould Dot go here and there
and spread false report~ about war i nnd that thiA had
been the C:lURe of all the difficulty and excilement wbich
hud prevailed among them durin~ the pa~t winter.

The laws wero then read, first 10 EugliHh t Bnd then in
the Nez Perce. . .

Yellow Serpent thon 'rose and said: u 1 have ames·
sage to you. Wbere are these laws from r Are they
from God or from tbe eartb? I would that you might
say, tbey were from God. But I tbink tbey are fr~Jm

the eurth, because, from wha~ I know of white"men,
tbey do not honor these laws. •

In answer to this, tho people were informed that tbo
lawe were recognized by God. and imposed on men in
all civilized countrieA. Yellow Serpent was plcnscd
with the explanation, nnd said lhut it was according to
the instructions he had received from others, nnd he wns
very glad to learn that it WDS so, be<:Duso mnny of his
people bad b~CD anglo,)' with him when be had whipped
them for crime, and had told him that God would send
him to bell for it, and he was glad to know that it wAS
pleasing to God."
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Telaukaiktl a Cayuse chief, ro~e aud 8aid: U What do
yOU read the law8 for before we t.ake them! We do
DOt ta~e the 18\\'s because Tauitau says 80. He is •
Ctlthohc, and 8S a people we do not follow his worship."
Dr. White replied that this did not make any difference
about Il'w; that 'he people in the Stute-fJ had different
roodes of worElhip, yet nil had one law.

Then 3. cbief, called the Prince, arOlloe and said: U I
under~tand you gave us Jibert)' to oxamino every law­
all tbe worde and lines-nnd 8S que~tions nrc tHlked
about it, we should get a belter understnndinJ.: of it.
The people of this country have but on~ mind about it..
I have s.omething to say, but perha.ps tho people will
dh_pute me. As a body, we ha\'e not hnd an opportunity
to consult, therefore you come to U8 8S in a wind, and
speak to us as to the air, as we have no point, Bnd wo
cannot IIpeak because we have no point before us. The
business before us is whole, like a body we have not
dissected it. And perhaps YOll will flay thnt it i8 out of
place for me to speak, bel~auso I am not. 0. grcat chief:
Once I had influcnce, but now I have but little."

He was about to sit down. hut WnB told to go on.
Be then said-" When. the whites first eame among U8 1

we bad no cattle, they ha~e gi\"cn us none; what we
have now got we have obtained by an exchange of
property. A long time ago Lewis aod Clark came to
this country, and I want to know what they said about
UB. Did they BUy thnt they found fricnd8 or enemics
here?" Being told that they Elpokc wcll of the Indians,
the Prince said, "tbat is n reason why the whites should
unite with us, and all become onc people. Those who
Lave been here before YOll, havo left U8 no memorial ot
their kinducss, oy gi\·ing us pr~sents. Wo speak by
way of favor. If you have uny beDetit to be~tow, we
will thee speak more freely. One tbing that we can
speak nbout is cattle, . nnd the reasoll ",'hy we cannot
speak .out now is because we have not the thing- before
U8. My people aro poor and blind, nnd we must have
something tangible. Other chiefs have bewildered llle
since they came; yet I am from an honorable Est.ock.
Promises which have been mnde to me and rov fathel's,
have Dot been fulfilled, and 1 am made miserabie; hut j,
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will not answer for me to l'lpeak out, for my people do
Dot conf'idcr me as their chief. One thing more; you
have reminded me of what was promh~ed me sometime
ago, and I am inclined to follow un and see j though I
have been giving my beaver to tbe whites, and have
received many promises, and have 81 ways been disap_
pointed. I want to know what you arc going to do."

Illutin, or Big Belly, then arose and said, that the
old men were wearied with the wickedness of the young
men. That if he was alone, he could say yes at once to
the laws, and that the reaRon why the young men did
not .feel ns he felt ·was because they had stolcn property
in their hands, and the laws condemned stealing. But
he assured them that the laws were calculated to do
them good, and not evil.

But this did not EatiRfy the Prince. He dcsired that
the goood which it \Vas proposed to do them by adopting­
the laws, might be put in a tangible form befOre tbem.
He said that it had been n long Lime since the country
bad been discovered by whites, nnd that ever ~ince that
time, people had been coming along, and promit:iing to
do them good; hut they had all pussed hy and left no
ble5Aing behind them. That tho Hudson's Bay Company
ha·d persuaded them t.o continue with them, llnd not go
atter tho Americans; that if the Ameri-cans designed to
do tbcTll: good wby did they llot bring goods with them
to leave with the Indians? that they were fools to listen
to what the Yankees bad to say; that they wo~ld only
tallY, but the company would both talk and give them
presents. * * * *
..lhout this time (1843) the Indians hecame quite.trouhle­

80111~, in varionA parts oftLe country. At Wailat.pu, on the
Walla Walla river, wbflre a misl'Iion station bad be,m
established by Dr. Marcus Whitman, they took ud"an­
tage of the Doctor's absence .and broke into the house,
in the dead of the uight, and even in the bed-chamber
of Mrs. Whitman, who, ·with mnch difficulty, escaped
out of their hand:01. At Lapwai, on Clear Water river,
where the Rev. Mr. Spalding wus conducting a mission
.tation, they committed some outrages; also, at the
Falls of the Willamette river. A number of individuals
of Dr. Wbite's pa,rLy, who had separated themselves
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from the maio company, were robbed of their effecta
while passiDp: down the Columbia river.

Th? ~e~ Perces and Cu.'yu~es, two of the most power­
fol tribes In the (;onntry, had talked much of making
wur upon th.c Ameril'an settlement 00 the 'Villumette
river. These things. with muoyothers of mure or IC88

importance, produced a high degree of excitement, and
servtlp to arouse the people aguin to the subject of CD~

toring into some measures by .whi<:h their mutual pro·
tection might be sccured. * * * *

Letter of Sir James Douglas.
'l'he following letter f1'om Sil' Jnmes Douglns, chief

Factol' of the Hudson's Bay Company, to S. N. CI\fl,tle,
E~q., WaR first pnblished ill the Fdend, at Honlnlu, S. I.,
where the gentlman resided to whom it was nddl'eFl8ed.
It relates the mMS(\(!re of Dr. Whitman and other lOis­
siouaries in a truthful manllcr, und ~i\"Cs, as one of the
('au~es for their murdor, the fl\<:t alrt'ady vatent to the
reader who has peruRcd the foreg-oing pn~e~, viz: The
pl'ejudices existing in tho mind8 of the Cuyuso Indian8
again~t Doctor 'Vhitrhan, "for not exerting his ~llpposed

supernatural powers iu su,-ing their li\·c~." No man
then reRiding on this coast bad better opportunities for
judging the character of the Cnyuse Indiuml, than Mr.
DIIUglu8, and no mall pos:;jes~ed ~I'cater facilitic!:l for »1'0­
cul'illg correct infol'mution relative to thc causc8-both
remole and immcdiale-wlJich led to the maSlSucre at
'Vailutpu. Hcnl'e the letter of Mr. Dougln.s is entitled
to more than ol'din~ry considerntion, and hi~ conclusions

will be found to coincide exactly with those ofother dis­

interested witnesses, clearly exonerating the Catbolio
mis~ionarie~from any shadow of culpability nnd placing
tho rcsponsibilit,Y of the calamity where it properly be­
longs:
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FORT VANCOUVER, 9th Dec., 1847.
S. W. CASTLE, ESQ.-Sir: It ilS with feelings indescrib.

ably painful, that I hal"l6D to communicate to you, for
the information of the Board of Missions, intelligence of
a disastrous event which lately occurred at the mi8!<ion.
-ary stations of Wailatpu. Our estimable friend, Dr.
Whitman, his amiable and accpmplished lady, and nine
other mell and youths in the misMioD employ, were mur.
dered on tbe ,29th nit., by tbe CllYllse Indians, with cir­
cumstuncl':-' of tbe most revolting cruelty. The lives of
the WOf)Jvn and children with the exception of tbe lao
mented !:luy -already named, were spared. The mis.
sion be-ill.!:! .:Jituated in the Cayuse country. they had s"
peculiar iuterest in protecting it fl'om harm, in gratitude
tur VaHt favol's anq for tbe blessings of religiollti iostrul:­
'tions tloO a~siduou8ly dispensed to them and to their fam.
i1ies, yet tlJose very people the objects of so much solici.
tude, were alone concerned in effecting the destruction of
an establh;hment founded solely tor theil' benefit. The
Cayuse are the most treacberous and l:ntractable of all
the Indian tribes i.n thi~ country, nnd had on many for.
mer occasions alarmed the inmutcH of the misI'ion by
their tumultuou~ pl'oceedin~s and ferocious threats; but
unfcJrtunately these e\'idences of a brutal dispof.\ition
were di~regurrled by t'beir admirnble paF.tor, and son·cd
only to urm bim witb a firmt'r reflolution to do them
good. He hoped thut time and inFitl"u('tion would pro­
duce a chullge of mind-a better state of feAling towards
the mil>lsion; and he might have lived to iiec his hope8 reo
ulized had .not the measles nnd dy@'cntery. following in
the train of immigrants from the United States, mude
frightful ravages tbis year in the uppel' country, many
1ndiu.uB hU\'e been cll.lTied off through the violence of the
dist"ll~e and others through their own inpruden~e. The
·Cayul>le Indians of '\V;(ilatpu bein~ l'IUffel'Cl's in this gen­
-eral ('alamity. were incensed againl'lt Dr. Whittnan for
not exerting his suppol:1cd supernatural powers in saving
their li\"'cs. They carried this absurdity beyond that
point of folly. Their super8titou8 minds became POgo

set:l~ed with the horrible sUEIpicion that he wa~ gh'ing
poi80n to Lhe Flick instead of wholesome medicines with
the view of working the destruction of the tribe, their
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(ormer cruelty probably adding strength to this 8uspio~

ion. Still BOlne of tbe more reflecting bad confidence in
Dr. Whitman's integrity, aud it was agreed to test the
effects of the medicine be had furnished on three of their
people, one of whom waR said to be in perfect health.

They .unfortunately died, and from that moment it was
resolved to dest.roy the Mission. It was immediately af­
ter burying the remains of these three persous tha.t thoy
repaired to the mission and murdered every mun fouod
ther,c.

Tbis bappened about 2 o'cloek in the afternoon; the
lndians 8ITi\"cd at the mission onc aftcl" another with
tbeir arms hid under their blankets. 'l'be doctor was at
school witb the children, the others were cutting up aD
ox they boo ju.t killed.

When the Indians saw they were numerous enougb to
effect theil' objc(:t, they fell upon the poor victims, some
with guns aUlI. others with hatchcts, and their blood was
soon streaming ou all sides. Some of the Indians turned
their atten~ion towards the doctor; ho rC('eived a pistol
shot in the breast from one, nud a Llow on the hend with
a hatchet from another. He had sUi! strengt.h enough
remaining to reach a sofu, wherc he threw hinH~elfdown
and expired. .Mrs. 'Vhitman was draggod from the gar­
ret, anti mer~ilc3sl'y butcbel"ed at ttw duoI'. Mr. Rogere
was shot after his lifu had huen grautcd to him; thc wo­
men and children were also goiug to be murdered, when
a voice was raised to fisk fur morel in fu.\"or of those
whom tbey tbonght innocent, und t!Jeir H\"cs were
spared. ' It is reported that n. kind of deposition made
by a Mr. Rogers iucreased the fury of tLis tiuvage mob.
Mr. Rogers was seized, was made to sit dOWll, and then
told thut his lifo would be spared if be made a full dis­
c:overy of Dr. Wbitman's supposed treachery. That
person then told the Ind.ians that the Do~tori~tended to
poison them, that one nIgbt, wbcn .Mr. Sp~ld1Dg was at
Wailatpu, be beard them say tbat ~bc Illd~ans ought to
be poisoned, in order that the Amerl(:aus ~lgbt take pos­
session of their lands-that the Doetor Wished to pOIson
them all at once, but tbat Mr. Spalding advised him to
dp it gradually. Mr. nogcl"S, after this deposition, was
spared, but u.u Indian, wbo was not prct:lent, having BeeD
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him, fired at and killed bim. An American made"a simi_
lar deposition, adding that Mrs. 'V. was an accomplice,
BDd sbe deserved death 88 well as bel' busband. It ap­
pears that he concluded by saying that he would take
the side of the India.ns, and that he detested the Ameri.
cans. An Indian theu put a pistol into bis hand. and said
to him, jf you tell the truth, you must prove it by sLoot.
iog that young American; and this wretched apostate
from bis country fired npon the young man shown to
him, and laid bim dead at his feet. It was upon the evi.
dence of that A mel'ican that Mrs. Whitman was murder.
ed, or she might have shared in the mercy ext.ended to
the otber fonudes and children.

Sucb are the details as far as known of that dis:tfltrou5
event and the causes wbich led to it. Mr. -Roger's reo
ported deposition, if correet is unworthy of belief, hav.
109 been drnwn from him by the fear of instant death.
The otber American who shed the blood of his friend,
must be a villain of tbe darkcet dye, and ought to suffer
for his aggravated crime.

On the 7th inst" Mr. Ogden proceeded towards 'Valla
Walla "'ith a strong party of' the Hudson's Bay Com·
pany's gervante to endeavor to prevent further evil.

Accompanying you will rcceivo a copy of 8 letter
wbich I addressed to Gqvernor Abernethy immediately
aftcr the arriV"al of the melancholy intelligence nt this
place. All that can be collected will be considered im­
portant by the friends of Doctor and Mrs. 'Vhitman in
the Unitetl States; whe will be anxious to learn every
particular concerning their tragic fhte.

It will be a satisfaction fo,l' them to know that these
eminent servants of God were faithful in their lives,
tbongL we ba~e to deplore the melancholy circumstances
which accompanied their departure from this world of
trial.

J remain, sir,
Your very ob't. servant,

JAMES DOUGLAS.
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